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1 -  C H A I R M A N ’ S  L E T T E R

In 2016, Lebanon witnessed a significant political 
development with the election of a new president 
and the formation of a new cabinet that concluded a 
two-and-a half-year political stalemate. This reflected 
positively on the economy, which improved during 
the last quarter to record an estimated 1% growth 
for the year despite the ongoing regional turmoil. 
Furthermore, the Coincident Indicator of the Central 
Bank of Lebanon showed a 5.8% growth during the 
fourth quarter of 2016, compared to the previous 
quarter of the same year, highlighting progress in 
economic activities in the country. Growth is expected 
to remain positive throughout 2017 to stand at 2%. 

As a major pillar of the country’s economy, the 
Lebanese banking sector continued to play a pivotal 
role in sustaining Lebanon’s economic growth. With 
assets exceeding 390% of the country’s GDP coupled 
with its strong asset quality and considerable funding 
capacity, the Lebanese banking sector remains the 
anchor of stability in the country. Total assets of the 
banking sector grew by 10% to reach USD 204.3 billion, 
while total loans to the private sector were recorded 
at USD 57.1 billion as at end of 2016, registering 
a robust annual increase of 5.3%. In parallel, total 
private sector deposits witnessed a solid yearly growth 
of 7.2%, reaching USD 162.5 billion over the same 
period. Loans-to-deposits ratio exceeded 30% at end 
of 2016, reflecting an ample funding source.

The challenging operational environment of 2016 
did not dissuade Bankmed from sustaining healthy 
results. Total Assets stood at USD 16.0 billion; Loans 
to Customers reached USD 5.1 billion, whereas 
Customers’ Deposits were recorded at USD 12.1 billion. 
The Bank’s Equity stood at USD 1.6 billion at the end 
of the year with a high capitalization ratio of 15.4%. 
With respect to the Bank’s Net Profit for the year, it 
reached USD 130 million. 

In 2016, Bankmed continued to strengthen its local, 
regional, and international business operations through its 
widespread network of branches, investment arms, and 
financial subsidiaries in the DIFC, Turkey, Saudi Arabia, 
Iraq, Switzerland, and Cyprus in addition to a 
solid presence in Lebanon. Most recently, Bankmed 
completed the license process to establish a subsidiary 

of our GroupMed Reinsurance Brokers in the United 
Kingdom to expand our operations to London’s 
market. Moving forward, Bankmed will continue to 
bolster and expand its presence, capitalizing on the 
synergy created between its domestic, regional and 
international entities. 

We remain committed to placing the interests of our 
clients, shareholders, and employees at the heart of 
our operations. We will continue to develop strategies 
utilizing efficiently all our resources to enhance our 
financial performance. 

Finally, I would like to extend my sincere appreciation 
to our shareholders for their ongoing support, our 
clients for their enduring trust, and our employees for 
their continued dedication. 

MOHAMMED HARIRI
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2 -  E X E C U T I V E  G E N E R A L    
  M A N A G E R ’ S  L E T T E R

In 2016, Bankmed revised its strategy to meet new 
challenges while consistently adhering to sound 
risk and corporate governance which remain the 
fundamental pillars for the Bank’s operations.

Bankmed managed to further diversify its revenues 
between Interest and Non-Interest Fee Income through 
mainly strengthened commercial and investment 
initiatives and expanding retail business. Fee & 
Commission Income registered a record growth of 
63%, while Net Interest Income slightly decreased 
due to the drop in the Bank’s interest rate spread. Net 
Income for the year stood at USD 130 million. 

In line with its prudent approach, Bankmed kept several 
conservative and precautionary measures, the most 
important of which was to maintain a high level 
of Collective Provisions in excess of regulatory 
requirement totaling USD 195 million, and an NPL 
coverage ratio of 101%. This was carried out to 

strengthen the Bank’s position especially when facing 
the ongoing economic challenges. 

High liquidity coupled with strong capitalization remain 
the backbone that supports the Bank’s operations 
and maintain its overall steady growth. The Bank’s 
Foreign Currency Liquidity ratio stood at 31.2%, far 
exceeding the 10% regulatory requirement. Similarly, 
the Bank’s Capital Adequacy Ratio reached 15.44%, 
well above the regulatory requirement of 14%.

Bankmed continues to develop strong and enduring 
relationships with prime corporations, private firms, 
and leading investors in both Lebanon and in the 
greater MENA region. The Bank’s well-diversified 
Corporate lending portfolio, which covers a wide range of 
industries, continues to tactfully service a large segment 
of corporates as well as Small and Medium Enterprises 
(SMEs), contributing actively to their growth. 

In terms of Retail Banking, Bankmed introduced several 
innovative campaigns aimed at diversifying  its customer 
base and strengthening its funding. The main one in 
2016 was the Bankmed Youth Program, which was 
launched to establish a solid client base among the young 
generation. Moreover, Bankmed’s Retail loan portfolio 
grew by more than 22%. The overall growth within Retail 
Banking was further enhanced by a widening branch 
network that is comprised of 66 branches in Lebanon. 
Retail Banking also witnessed a significant increase in its 
credit cards portfolio.

On the Investment front, Bankmed continued to realize 
tangible success capitalizing on its Treasury and 
its investment banking arms, SaudiMed Investment 
Company (SaudiMed) and MedSecurities Investment 
(MedSecurities), as well as on its Private Bank in 
Switzerland. Bankmed’s Treasury has been steadily growing 
its hedging and investment solutions, where total volume 
of FX Transactions exceeded USD 8.0 billion by the 
end of 2016, and the trading volume of its investment 
portfolio surpassed USD 4.7 billion.

Microfinance solutions remain at the core of Bankmed’s 
Corporate Social Responsibility operations. Since its 
inception, Bankmed’s fully owned subsidiary, Emkan 
Finance, has grown its lending portfolio by extending 
more than USD 160 million through more than 63,000 
loans. Currently, Emkan has around 15,000 active 
clients among the low-income segment of the population. 

With respect to Insurance, the Bank continued to grow 
its insurance services in 2016, expanding to new 
geographical regions by opening new locations for its 

insurance companies in Saudi Arabia and in the U.K.

Investing in the latest technology is also among the 
main factors that have been contributing to the Bank’s 
success. Over the past five years, Bankmed has been 
investing heavily in technology and is presently at an 
advanced stage of implementing a full core banking 
system, provided by a leading international firm. 
The Bank’s commitment to state-of-the-art technology 
and software applications is also evident in its recent 
investments in small companies that are geared 
towards banking IT and solutions. 

Bankmed continued to strengthen its existing presence 
in Saudi Arabia, U.A.E (DIFC), Turkey, Cyprus, 
Switzerland, and Iraq. In light of the adversities that 
loomed over the region in 2016, Bankmed exercised 
further vigilance with regard to expansion. 

Moving forward, Bankmed will continue to 
strategically capitalize on its know-how in its aim to 
be more proactive and adaptive to changes in the 
market and the operational environment. The Bank 
will also continue to leverage its financial solutions 
and expertise to better service our clients and their 
business needs.  

On behalf of Bankmed’s Management, I would like 
to thank our Board of Directors and shareholders 
for their continued guidance, and our staff for their 
ongoing dedication. Last but by no means least, our 
clients remain our most valuable asset, and I would 
like to thank them sincerely for their continued trust. 

MOHAMED ALI BEYHUM

EXECUTIVE GENERAL MANAGER’S LETTER
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 OUR PRESENCE, AWARDS & RECOGNITIONS
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Awards and Recognitions

Most Sustainable Bank

Best Trade Finance Bank

Best Investment Bank

Best Banking Group

Best Broker 
(MedSecurities Investment)

Financial Inclusion Program

 OUR PRESENCE, AWARDS & RECOGNITIONS
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Bankmed has always been committed to exercising 
and promoting a responsible and sound Corporate 
Governance Policy. The Board of Directors - the 
governing body of the Bank - is actively involved 
in setting the highest standards of Corporate 
Governance and practicing a strong oversight of 
an independent management team. In addition, the 
Board and the management are committed to fully 
comply with established best practices in Corporate 
Governance, including the regulations set by the 
Central Bank of Lebanon, Banque du Liban (BDL) - 
namely those stipulated in Circular No. 106 - and 
Corporate Governance Guidelines adopted by the 
Association of Banks in Lebanon (ABL) based on 
Basel recommendations concerning the Principles for 
enhancing Corporate Governance.

Bankmed’s Corporate Governance standards are 
founded on the core principles of transparency 
and accountability at all levels of the organization. 
They are ultimately safeguarded by a long-standing 
commitment to a high moral standard of honesty and 
integrity. In addition, Bankmed’s Code of “Ethics and 
Professional Conduct” (The Code) is regularly updated 
and is available on the Bank’s Website and Intranet, 
making it accessible to all stakeholders including the 
Bank’s entire staff as a guideline while conducting 
the Bank’s daily business. The Code requires all staff 
members to avoid activities that may result in conflict 
of interest between customers or employees and 
maintain full transparency when dealing with clients 
as per BDL Circular No. 134. 

In addition, the Bank’s annual reports disclose 
correct/audited and fair accounting information 
prepared in accordance with applicable standards. 
The published financial statements along with the notes 
include complete and detailed financial information 
and data, and not just summaries. 

Sound Corporate Governance principles at the Bank 
emphasize the protection of shareholders’ rights, as 
well as respecting, preserving and treating equitably 
the interests of all stakeholders. These principles 
also clearly define the responsibilities of the Board 
of Directors and the Executive Management. In 
addition, these principles ensure pursuing a policy 
of full disclosures, transparency and sound practice 
and enforce the functions of internal and external 
auditors, as well as those of other banking inspectors 
and supervisors. Moreover, the Bank encourages      
“whistle-blowing” by employees when witnessing any 
form of wrongdoing or unethical behavior, even when 
a senior manager or colleague is involved. 

Bankmed established a Remuneration Committee in line 
with the Central Bank of Lebanon’s Circular No. 133. 
The Committee laid out the remuneration guidelines 
under a well-defined policy known as  “Remuneration 
and Performance Evaluation Policy”. Designed to 
safeguard the principles of sound and equitable 
compensation practices, the Remuneration and 
Performance Evaluation Policy encourages performance-
based remuneration and balanced Risk Management. 
It also provides a competitive compensation package; 
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achieves internal and external equity; supports the 
core principles of Bankmed’s compensation scheme for 
performance; aligns staff interests with those of the Bank 
and its stakeholders by emphasizing incentives, while 
considering the fact that different circumstances may 
warrant different target pay mixes.

The compensation package combines fixed and 
variable elements, namely: basic salary, after 
performance-based merit, performance-based bonus, 
additional benefits, and severance pay. Disclosed in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), the compensation amounts are paid 
on annual basis. Presently, there are no claw backs or 
deferred remuneration payments, and the application 
of such schemes depends on the Bank’s long-term 
business strategies. 

GOVERNANCE 
FRAMEWORK

The Board of Directors is composed of nine real 
members. The majority, represented by seven members, 
are as follows: four are independent members, three 
are non-executive members. This composition helps in 
strengthening the objectivity of the Board’s monitoring 
and revision of activities. It also enables the members 
to allocate the necessary time and effort to fulfill their 
responsibilities. 

The Board of Directors’ and Senior Management’s 
assessment of Corporate Governance Framework is 
based on the review results of critical activities at the 

Bank completed by all control units (Risk, Financial 
Control, Internal Audit, Compliance and Information 
Security) and by the Bank’s external auditors. This 
includes (but not limited to) appropriate segregation 
of duties, duality in completing and reviewing 
operations, safeguarding of Information and proper 
delegation of responsibilities and accountability.

Role of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors oversees the development of 
the Bank’s overall business strategy and the decisions 
made by the Senior Management in the pursuit of 
strategic objectives. The Board also assesses the 
appropriateness of the strategy and the extent of its 
success. 

The Bank’s By-Laws and the Board of Directors’ 
approved Charter clearly define the Board’s rights, 
duties and responsibilities in managing the Bank 
and monitoring the work of its Senior Management. 
The By-Laws also define the powers of the Chairman 
of the Board and require that any amendment 
to such powers be subject to the Shareholders’  
Assembly approval. 

For more information on Bankmed’s Corporate Governance 
framework, please visit: www.bankmed.com.lb.
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Board Committees and Their Roles

The following committees support the Board of Directors in executing its duties: 

Audit Committee

Bankmed’s Audit Committee is composed of non-executive and independent Board members in compliance 
with BDL Circular No. 118. The Committee helps the Board in the proper discharge of its duties, especially 
those related to selecting and enhancing the qualifications and independence of external and internal 
auditors, fairness of the financial statements and related disclosures. The Committee also ensures compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations. 

Board of Directors

Audit CommitteeRisk Committee

Group Coordinator
Governance, Audit 

& Compliance

Internal Audit Compliance

Special Credit
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Special Credit Committee

The Special Credit Committee consists of four Board members and the Executive General Manager (EGM). 
The Special Credit Committee is responsible for evaluating and refusing (when deemed necessary) any new or 
increase in credit limits granted by the Bank’s Executive Credit Committee (ECC) to a client, or several clients 
forming a single economic group, or an interconnected group that leads to a total exposure of USD 100 million 
or more, net of limits secured by cash collateral. 

Remuneration Committee

As per BDL Circular No. 133, the Remuneration Committee sets the Remuneration Principles and standards 
for Bankmed’s Staff of all levels. In addition, the Committee reviews the Remuneration Principles and the 
Remuneration framework prepared by Management and submit them to the Board of Directors for approval.

The Bank is also in the process of forming a new Board Compliance and AML/CFT Committee as per the 
requirements of BDL Intermediary Circular No. 421 and Basic Circular No. 83. 

Risk Committee

Bankmed formed the Risk Committee to assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its tasks and supervisory 
role in compliance with BDL Circular No. 118. This is achieved by properly applying the Bank’s 
Risk Management framework as stipulated in the regulations issued by BDL and the Banking Control 
Commission of Lebanon (BCCL).

As at December 31, 2016
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Mr. Hariri is the Chairman of GroupMed (Holding), 

Bankmed and its subsidiaries: Saudi Lebanese Bank, 

MedInvestment Bank, Al Mal Investment (Holding) in 

Lebanon, BankMed Suisse in Switzerland,  and the 

Chairman of GroupMed International Holding Limited 

in Dubai. He is the Chairman of Oger Telecom in 

Dubai, Ojer Telekmunikasyon,  Türk Telekom, TTNET, 

BOARD MEMBERS PROFILES

Mohammed Hariri

Chairman of the Board of Directors and General Manager

As at December 31, 2016

and Avea Illetisim Hizmetleri  in Turkey, and CELLC in 

South Africa. He is a board member of Arab Bank Plc- 

Jordan and serves on the board of directors of  various 

companies, including 3C Telecommunications (PTY) in 

South Africa. Mr. Hariri is a member of the board of 

directors of the Association of Banks in Lebanon.

Nazek Hariri
Member

 Mrs. Hariri, the wife of H.E. late Prime Minister Rafik 

Hariri, is a Board Member of GroupMed (Holding), 

Bankmed and Arab Bank. She is also the President 

of the Rafik Hariri Foundation and several other 

humanitarian, cultural, and educational institutions 

in Lebanon as well as in the Gulf region. She is the 

First Ambassador of the International Osteoporosis 

Foundation, as well as President of this Foundation’s 

206-A Bone Fund, and President of Nazek Hariri 

Welfare Center for Special Education. In addition, she 

is the President of the Beirut Festivals Association, Vice-

President of the Chronic Care Center- Lebanon, Member 

of the Board of Trustees of the Children’s Cancer Center- 

Lebanon, Member of the “Nahda Philanthropic Society 

for Women”- Saudi Arabia, Member of the Board of 

Trustees of the “Welfare Association”, Member of the 

Board of Trustees of Jordan Education Association as 

well as the Co-Chairperson of the Rafik Hariri UN-

Habitat Memorial Award.
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Basile Yared (ESQ)

Hani Fadayel 

Ghazi Youssef 

Maroun Asmar 

Member

Member

Member

Member

Me. Yared is an attorney at law, with law offices in Beirut. He is the 
Chairman of Bankmed’s Audit Committee. He, inter alia, is a Board Member 
of GroupMed (Holding), MedInvestment Bank, BankMed Suisse, Turkland 
Bank (T-Bank) in Turkey, and GroupMed International Holding Limited in 
Dubai. He also serves as a Board member at The Lebanese Company for 
the Development and Reconstruction of the Beirut Central District (Solidere) 
and Solidere International, Fradim (France), as well as Interaudi Bank (US), 
Holcat sal (Lebanon) and 3C Telecommunications (PTY). Me. Yared is also a 
Board member of the Ecole Supérieure des Affaires (ESA).

Mr. Fadayel is the Chairman of Bankmed’s Risk Committee and a member 
of the Special Credit Committee. He also serves as a Board Member of 
MedInvestment Bank, Saudi Lebanese Bank, and GroupMed International 
Management Holding. Mr. Fadayel also serves as a Board member of 
INVESTBANK Jordan and GroupMed Reinsurance and Brokers. Mr. Fadayel 
is former Assistant CEO of Arab Bank in Jordan and was previously Gulf 
Regional Manager of Arab Bank. He had also worked at Citibank/SAMBA. 
Mr. Fadayel has extensive experience in Corporate and Project Finance, 
Credit Risk Management, Retail, Treasury, and General Management.

Dr. Youssef is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member 
of the Risk Committee. Dr. Youssef is also a Board Member of MedInvestment 
Bank, Saudi Lebanese Bank, and MedSecurities Investment. He served as an 
Economic Advisor to the late Prime Minister H.E. Rafik Hariri and acted as 
the Secretary General for the Higher Council for Privatization. Dr. Youssef 
is currently the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Middle East Airport 
Services, and he also serves as Board Member at Cedrus Invest Bank. Dr. 
Youssef has been a member of the Lebanese Parliament since 2005.

Mr. Asmar is a member of Bankmed’s Audit, Risk, and Remuneration 
Committees. He is also the Chairman-General Manager of MIB Investment 
(Holding), and GroupMed Insurance Brokers. He also serves as a Board 
Member of Saudi Lebanese Bank, MedInvestment Bank, and GroupMed 
International Management Holding Limited. He is the former Dean of the 
Faculty of Engineering at Saint Joseph University in Beirut and had previously 
served as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Electricité du Liban.

Member

Member

Member

Member

Mr. De Hauss Boncza is a member of Bankmed’s Special Credit Committee. 
Mr. De Hauss Boncza served as the CEO-General Manager of BankMed 
Suisse from March 2009 until December 2016. Prior to that, he had spent the 
last 25 years with Indosuez, Crédit Agricole, and Calyon assuming various 
senior management positions, most of which are directly related to the Middle 
East region.

Mrs. El-Hassan is a member of Bankmed’s Audit Committee and a Board 
Member of MedInvestment Bank and Saudi Lebanese Bank. From November 
2009 until June 2011, Mrs. El-Hassan served as the Minister of Finance in 
Lebanon. Mrs. El-Hassan is the Chairman-General Manager of Tripoli’s Special 
Economic Zone. Earlier in her career, she was an Advisor to the Minister of 
Economy and Trade. In the mid 90’s, she supervised the implementation of 
expenditure management reforms at the Ministry of Finance. She also served 
as Project Director at the Prime Minister’s Office, working on the elaboration 
of the Government’s Economic and Social Reform Agenda.

Me. Rahme is an attorney at law (member of the Beirut Bar Association) and 
a member of Bankmed’s Remuneration and Special Credit Committees. He 
is a Board Member of BankMed Suisse, MedInvestment Bank, and Saudi 
Lebanese Bank. He is also a Board Member of Continental Trust Insurance 
and Reinsurance Co., GroupMed Reinsurance Brokers Limited, GroupMed 
International Management Holding Limited, and Turkland Sigorta (T-Sigorta). 
He serves as General Counsel of the Saudi Oger Limited Group. Prior to 
joining Saudi Oger Limited Group, Me. Rahme worked for five years at Gide 
Loyrette Nouel as a senior associate in the Department of Structured Financing 
mainly leverage buy outs (LBO), securitizations and derivatives.

GroupMed is the principal shareholder of Bankmed and one of the largest 
banking and financial groups in Lebanon, with a growing regional presence. 

Stanislas De Hauss Boncza

Raya Haffar El-Hassan 

Ricardo Rahme (ESQ)

GROUPMED S.A.L (Holding)
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Mr. MOHAMMED HARIRI (Chairman)  Executive   Chairman                       

Mrs. NAZEK HARIRI  Non-Executive     

Me. BASILE YARED (ESQ) x  Chairman    

Mr. HANI FADAYEL  x   Chairman Member  

H.E. Dr. GHAZI YOUSSEF x   Member  Chairman  

Mr. MAROUN ASMAR   Non-Executive Member Member  Member   

Mr. STANISLAS DE HAUSS BONCZA  Executive   Member  

H.E.  Mrs. RAYA HAFFAR EL-HASSAN x  Member     

Me. RICARDO RAHME (ESQ)  Non-Executive   Member Member 

GROUPMED S.A.L. (HOLDING)       

 Independent
Executive/

Non-Executive
Audit

Committee
Risk

Committee
Special Credit

Committee
Remuneration

Committee

A
s 

at
 D

ec
em

be
r 3

1,
 2

01
6

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

Bankmed’s organizational structure depicts and segregates functions and responsibilities, reflecting a division 
of roles and duties between the Board of Directors, the Executive Management and Operating Management. 
Although it is not required by the local regulations to separate the roles of the Chairman and the General 
Manager (CEO), an Executive General Manager (EGM) was nominated as a separate senior officer to carry out 
many of the executive roles vested in the Chairman in order to enhance our governance.

During 2017, Bankmed has undergone several changes in its Board of Directors and Board Committees. For 
further information on these changes, please visit Bankmed’s website: www.bankmed.com.lb
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Omar Bilani

Mayada Baydas

Dinçer Alpman

Executive and Senior Management 

Marwan Abiad

Maha Baalbaki

Financial Control, IT and Operations

Customers’ Support

Sami Akkaoui – Capital Management 
and Financial Modeling
Fouad Baalbaki – Information Technology

Nadim Barrage Special Projects

Rola Ejjeh Talent Management and Training

Diala Choucair Marketing and Communication

Iman Baba InfoSec and Business Continuity

Antoine Boustany – Operations
Abdellatif Sidani – Financial Control

Ziad Ghosn

Lina Jebeile

Dania Kaakani

Adel Jabre

Financial Institutions and Trade Finance

Chairman’s Executive Office Manager

Human Resources

As at December 31, 2016

Treasury

Muhieddine Fathallah Business Development

Fadi Flaihan Retail Banking

Najib Abou Merhi – Consumer Relationship-
Corporate and Syndicates
Hatem Chaarani – Electronic Delivery 
Channels and Card Products
Joseph Chidiac – Non-Resident Banking
Nuha Halawani– Retail Support

Ahmad Alwan – Foreign Exchange and 
Treasury Sales

Mohammed A.G. Itani – Consumer Credit Products
Raed Jalloul – Branch Network and Retail 
Liability Products
Antoine Zeidan – Collection

Nicole Melhem – Money and Capital Markets

Ahmad Kanaan Remedial Management

Mahmoud Kibbi

Faten Matar

Aref Mneimneh

Joy Saba

Mazen Soueid

Samir Mouawad

Mohamad Loutfi

Administration

Advisor to Executive Management

Legal Consultancy 

Legal Management Banking and Finance

Market and Economic Research 

Risk Management 

Institutional Banking

Najib Assaad – International Commercial Banking
Saad El Zein – Corporate Banking

Nabil Zakka – Commercial Credit Risk Management

Corporate Governance, Internal Audit, and Compliance 

Subsidiaries 

Ameen Bissat

Stanislas De Hauss Boncza

Afeef Makkawi 

Samer Salam & Osama Qirreh 

Omar Sultani

Khaled Zeidan

Governance, Audit and Compliance

Turkland Bank (T-Bank)

Emkan Finance

Continental Trust Insurance and Reinsurance 
/GroupMed Insurance Brokers-Lebanon/
Turkland Sigorta (T-Sigorta)

BankMed Suisse

MedProperties Management

SaudiMed Investment Company

Saudi Lebanese Bank

MedSecurities Investment

Samar Baasiri – Compliance Samer Jumaa – Internal Audit

As at December 31, 2016

Nabil Rafei – SME Banking
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Management Committees

Business Lines

Support and Other Functions

Credit Committees
Executive Credit Committee
Senior Credit Committee
Senior Credit Committee International
Retail Credit Committee

Information Security Committee (ISC) 

Anti-Money Laundry and Countering Terrorism 
Financing Management Committee 

Purchasing and Disbursing Committee 

Authorized Signature Granting Committee 

International Committee 

Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) 

Information Technology Steering Committee 

Real Estate Committee

Investment Committee

Retail Banking

Private Banking

E-Banking

Financial Institutions

Consumer Lending

Real Estate

Corporate Banking

Wealth Management and Brokerage

SME Banking

Financial Control

Legal Management Banking and Finance

Capital Management and Financial Modeling

InfoSec and Business Continuity

Administration

Remedial Management

Customers’ Support

Compliance

Market and Economic Research 

Asset Management

International Commercial Banking

Treasury and Investment Services

Business Development

Investment Banking 

Trade Finance

Insurance

Microfinance

IT

Risk Management

Operations

Human Resources

Internal Audit

Talent Management and Training

Corporate Governance

Marketing and Communication

Internal Audit
Bankmed’s Internal Audit (IA) Division is independent 
of the Bank’s Management. The Division is managed 
by the Head of the Internal Audit Division who reports 
to the Audit Committee and to the Chairman of the 
Board. The IA Division operates in accordance with 
an approved Internal Audit Charter which clearly 
specifies the Division’s reporting level, mission, and 
scope of work. 

The Division helps Bankmed accomplish its objectives 
by bringing a systematic and disciplined approach 
to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk 
management, control, and governance processes. In 
addition, the Division has unrestricted access to all 
functions, records, property, and personnel allowing it 
to allocate resources, set frequencies, select subjects, 
determine scopes of work, and apply the techniques 
required to accomplish the audit objectives. 

Although the IA coverage at the Bank is guided primarily 
by the regulations of the Central Bank, the Banking 
Control Commission of Lebanon and the Capital 
Market Authority (CMA) of Lebanon, this coverage 
continuously exceeds regulators’ requirements. The 
Division also complies with International Auditing 
Standards (IAS) as well as standards of other related 
supervisory authorities.

The “risk-based” audit approach methodology is 
used to link internal auditing coverage to the Bank’s 
overall risk management framework. This methodology 
relies heavily on the efficient and effective use of 
technology in the conduct of its business. In addition, 
the Division has extensive experience and the know-
how concerning auditing tools and techniques and is 
composed of dynamic, flexible, and experienced Audit 
staff. The Division also requires Bankmed’s Internal 
Auditors to qualify for the Certified Internal Auditor 
(CIA) certification and the Certified Information Systems 
Auditor (CISA) certification creating a knowledgeable 
and well-trained pool of professional Internal Auditors. 

Given the Bank’s steady and gradual expansion 
and diversity of operations, the Division will continue 
to maintain sufficient and adequate Audit coverage 
and techniques maintaining a cost-effective approach 
through developing the IA electronic Audit methodology, 
namely the “continuous auditing” methodology. In 

addition, the Division will continue using the Audit 
Command Language (ACL) -one of the widely used 
Computer Aided Audit Techniques (CAATs).

Compliance Function 
The Compliance Function is independent from any 
business and other control activities of the Bank. The 
Compliance function assists management in verifying 
that Bankmed meets relevant regulatory requirements 
in protecting and enhancing the Bank’s reputation with 
its stakeholders to avoid/minimize financial losses.

The Compliance Function ensures compliance with 
local and international directives in fighting money 
laundering and countering terrorist financing. The 
Legal Compliance Unit also identifies and prevents 
legal risks and takes the required measures to mitigate 
these risks. In addition, the Compliance Function 
follows the highest standards and best practices in 
implementing the proper due diligence on customers’ 
accounts and transactions and verifying compliance 
with relevant laws and regulations.

The Compliance Function has open communication 
channels with the branches, front liners, monitoring 
units and the Legal Division at Bankmed, as well 
as other subsidiaries in the Group. In addition and 
in order to ensure proper understanding and full 
abidance with the Anti-Money Laundering (AML) and 
Countering Terrorism Financing (CTF) regulations, the 
Compliance Function is in continuous contact and 
coordination with the Bank’s correspondent banks as 
well as the BDL’s Special Investigation Commission 
(SIC) in Lebanon. The Function periodically provides 
all the concerned parties in the Bank with training 
sessions regarding compliance with newly enacted 
laws and regulations and best AML/CTF practices.

The compliance program is subject to regular 
independent reviews by Bankmed’s internal and 
external Auditors and the SIC who assess the efficiency 
of the program and assess its compliance with the 
AML directives. Compliance Function collectively has 
a thorough understanding of the banking and financial 
laws and regulations and Compliance Function Staff 
are requested to become AML certified by obtaining 
the Certified Anti-Money Laundering Specialists 
(CAMS) certification. 
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The domestic political development that concluded the 
two-and a half-year presidential stalemate reflected 
positively on Lebanon’s economy towards the end of 
2016. Lebanon’s real GDP growth remained positive 

Lebanon’s real sector indicators witnessed positive 
growth in 2016 indicating resilience in the Lebanese 
economy. The coincident indicator, the composite 
indicator of economic activity in Lebanon as monitored 
and published by the Central Bank of Lebanon, 
(Banque du Liban-BDL) rose by a yearly 4.0% in 
2016. Moreover, the total number of tourist arrivals 
stood at 1.6 million, recording a yearly growth of 
11.2%. In addition, the total flow of passengers at 
Beirut-Rafik Hariri International Airport increased 
by 3.9% to reach 7.5 million in 2016. As for Real 
Estate demand, the value and volume of real estate 
transactions witnessed a yearly increase of 5.0% and 
1.4% respectively. This upturn was accompanied by 
a 4% increase in cement deliveries, despite the slight 
drop in construction permits in 2016 by a yearly 
0.9%. As for the cleared checks activity, it stood at 
USD 68.1 billion in 2016, thereby dropping by a 
yearly 2.2%. 

In 2016, Lebanon’s Foreign Trade Deficit 
widened by 4% yearly when compared to 2015 
reaching USD15.7 billion. This was attributed to 
a corresponding increase in imports by 4% which 
reached USD 18,705 million by the end of 2016. 
Moreover, the year 2016 witnessed a higher import 
bill for mineral products than in 2015 amounting 
to USD 3,768 million and increasing by a yearly 
10.8%. As for exports, they slightly increased by 
a yearly 1% to reach USD 2,977 million in 2016. 
Moreover, Lebanon’s balance of payments registered 
an aggregate surplus of  USD 1.2 billion for the year 
2016 reversing the deficit of USD 3.4 billion recorded 
in the previous year. As for capital flows, Net Capital 
Inflows reached USD 16.9 billion in 2016 compared 
to USD 11.8 billion in 2015.

LEBANON’S ECONOMIC UPDATE

Real Sector

Foreign Sector

at 1% despite the difficult operational environment 
prior to the presidential elections and cabinet 
formation. 

GDP-Current Prices (USD billions) 52.0 50.8

Real GDP Growth Rate 1.0% 1.0%

GDP per Capita (USD) 11,309 11,156

Inflation Rate-Average Consumer Prices (0.8%) (3.8%)

Imports 18.7 18.1

Exports 3.0 3.0

Foreign Trade Balance (15.7) (15.1)

Balance of Payments 1.2 (3.4)

Net Capital Inflows 16.9 11.8

    o/w* Remittances 7.3 7.2

  

Exports/Imports 16.0% 16.3%

Net Capital Inflows/Trade Deficit (107.6%) (77.8%)

Trade Deficit/GDP (30.2%) (29.8%)

BDL Coincident Indicator (yearly average) 290 279 4.0%

Construction Permits Issues (in sqm)    12,234,000 12,339,000 (0.9%)

Cement Deliveries (in tons) 5,247,000 5,043,000 4.0%

Volume of Property Transactions  64,248 63,386 1.4%

Value of Property Transactions (USD billions) 8.4 8.0 5.0%

Airport Passengers  7,519,377 7,240,388 3.9%

Tourist Arrivals 1,688,357 1,517,927 11.2%

Total Value of Cleared Checks (USD billions) 68.1 69.6 (2.2%)

 2016

 2016(USD billions)

 2016

Source: IMF, Central Administration of Statistics

(*) of which 
Source: Banque du Liban (BDL), Association of Banks in Lebanon (ABL)

Source: Banque du Liban (BDL), Association of Banks in Lebanon (ABL)

 2015

 2015

 2015 Y-O-Y
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In 2016, Total Government Revenues increased by 
a year-on-year 3.4% to reach USD 9.9 billion, while 
Total Government Expenditures increased by a yearly 
10.1% reaching USD 14.9 billion. Lebanon’s Fiscal deficit 
narrowed by 7.5% in 2016 to reach USD 3.7 billion. As 
for Lebanon’s Debt service, it stood at USD 4.7 billion, 
thereby increasing by a yearly 4.4% when compared to 

During 2016, BDL administered a financial 
engineering in an aim to bolster its foreign exchange 
reserves and commercial banks’ capital buffers. As 
such, Lebanon benefited from a favorable monetary 
environment. The  Central Bank’s Foreign Reserves 
reached USD 40.7 billion by the end of 2016, 
covering 26 months of imports underlining BDL’s 
rigorous ability to meet foreign currency demand. In 
addition, gold reserves at the Central Bank stood at 
USD 10.7 billion by year-end 2016. As such, Total 
Foreign Assets held by the Central Bank, including 
gold, cover more than 95% of the local currency money 
supply (M2) indicating that the exchange rate peg is 
underpinned by high reserves and strong gold holdings. 

In 2016, the Lebanese Banking Sector Total Assets 
reached USD 204.3 billion thereby recording a yearly 
growth of 9.8%. This increase was mainly driven by a 
9.2% yearly growth in the Capital Accounts which stood 
at USD 18.2  billion by year-end 2016 and a 5.3% 
yearly growth in Total Loans to Customers (Residents 
and Non-Residents) which reached USD 57.1 billion. 
Loans to Customers accounted for 28% of Total Assets 
and 35% of Total Deposits. Moreover, Total Banking 
Sector Assets accounted for 393% of Lebanon’s GDP.
 
Banking Sector Deposits grew by a yearly 7.3% in 2016 
when compared to 2015 reaching USD 166.3 billion. 
Private Sector Deposits in Lebanese currency grew by 
4.3% by year-end 2016 when compared to year-end 
2015 and stood at a counter-value of USD 55.5 billion, 
while deposits in Foreign currency grew by a yearly 8.7% 
in 2016 when compared to 2015 and reached USD 
106.9 billion. As such, Customers’ Deposits constitute the 
major source of funding of Lebanese Banks.

At the end of 2016, Net Public Debt reached 
USD 65.4 billion compared to USD 61.5 billion 
reported in 2015. The 6.3% year-on-year increase 
is mainly due to a rise in Local and Foreign Currency 
Debt by a yearly 8.3% and 3.7%, respectively. Gross 

Public Finance Monetary Conditions Banking Sector Conditions

2015. In addition, Budget Deficit-to-GDP dropped from 
7.6% in 2015 to 7.1% in 2016. It is worth noting that 
the drop in transfers to Electricité du Liban (EdL) from 
USD 1.1 billion in 2015 to USD 0.9 billion in 2016  
due to lower fuel prices has helped achieve a primary 
balance surplus by year-end 2016 of USD 0.02 billion.

Total Government Revenues 9.9 9.6

Total Government Expenditures 14.9 13.5

Total Government Deficit (3.7)  (4.0)

Primary Government  Balance 0.02  0.7

 2016(USD billions)

(USD billions)

(USD billions)

Source: Ministry of Finance

Source: Ministry of Finance, IMF

(*) of which
(**) Excluding loans to non-residents
Source: Banque du Liban (BDL), Association of Banks in Lebanon (ABL)

 2015

Public Debt stood at USD 74.9 billion at year-end 
2016 compared to USD 70.3 billion at year-end 
2015. This led to an increase in Net Public Debt-to-
GDP ratio from 121.1% in 2015 to 125.8% in 2016. 

Gross Local Currency Debt 46.8 43.2

Gross Foreign Currency Debt 28.1 27.1

Gross Public Debt 74.9 70.3

Public Sector Deposits 9.5 8.8

Net Public Debt 65.4 61.5

  

Gross Public Debt/GDP 144.0% 138.4%

Net Public Debt/GDP 125.8% 121.1%

 2016  2015

Total Assets 204.3 186.0 9.8%

Deposits 166.3 155.0 7.3%

Resident Private Sector 128.5 119.7 7.3%

  o/w* in LBP 51.0 48.8 4.5%

  o/w in FCY 77.5 70.9 9.3%

Non-Resident Private Sector 33.9 31.9 6.4%

  o/w in LBP 4.5 4.4 1.6%

  o/w in FCY 29.4 27.4 7.2%

Public Sector Deposits 3.9 3.4 15.9%

Loans to Customers 57.1 54.2 5.3%

  o/w to Residents in LBP 15.7 13.6 15.0%

  o/w to Residents in FCY 35.3 34.4 2.6%

  o/w to Non-Residents in FCY 6.1 6.2 (1.3%)

Capital Accounts 18.2 16.7 9.2%

  o/w Tier I 17.0 15.5 10.0%

  o/w Tier II 1.2 1.2 -

Exposures to Treasury 34.6 37.8 (8.5%)

  o/w Treasury Bills in LBP 19.2 20.1 (4.5%)

  o/w Treasury Bills in FCY 15.4 17.7 (12.7%)

Deposits with the Central Bank 89.3 70.5 26.6%

Foreign Assets** 17.0 17.6 (3.5%)

 2016  2015

December 31,

Y-O-Y
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MANAGEMENT REPORT 

BALANCE SHEET REVIEW 

Performance Summary 
in 2016

Bankmed’s Management Report has been prepared 
based on the audited consolidated financial statements 
of Bankmed and the companies in which the Bank 
has a controlling financial interest (subsidiaries and 
associates, as applicable) as at December 31, 2016 
and December 31, 2015. The discussion and analysis 
report should be read in conjunction with the audited 
consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 
2016, which have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

The Bank recorded  a Net Profit of USD 130.1 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2016, as compared 
to USD 139.1 million for the year ended December 31, 
2015. In 2016, the Bank achieved a Return on Average 
Assets (ROAA) of 0.82% and a Return on Average 
Equity (ROAE) of 8.49%. The Bank’s performance over 
the past years maintained sustainable profit levels, 
despite the adverse political and economic conditions 
prevailing in the region.

1 IMF: 2016 Article IV Consultation –January 2017

In 2016, the Central Bank of Lebanon conducted 
USD 2 billion Financial Engineering transactions with 
local banks with the aim of increasing its foreign 
currency reserves. As a result of this initiative, the 
participating Lebanese banks were able to consolidate 
their capital base, increase their deposits and realize 
non-recurring revenues. Subsequently, the Central Bank 
of Lebanon entered into additional similar type of 
transactions. The total amount of operations conducted 
by the Central Bank in 2016 under the Financial 
Engineering scheme revolved around an aggregate 
value of USD 13 billion1.

In December 2016, the Central Bank issued 
Intermediary Circular No. 446, which sets out that 
the surplus resulting from the Financial Engineering 
transactions recorded as “deferred liabilities” should 
be allocated to (i) additional collective provisions, 
corresponding to 2% of risk weighted loans; (ii) any 
additional provisions required for the implementation 
of IFRS 9; (iii) impairment of investments in entities 
abroad; and (iv) goodwill impairment. 

The Bank recorded approximately USD 84 million as 
non-recurring revenues as a result of its participation in 
the exchange transactions offered by the Central Bank.

As at December 31, 2016, Bankmed’s consolidated 
Total Assets stood at USD 16,022 million compared 
to USD 15,551 million as at December 31, 2015 

Central Bank Exchange Transactions

Recent Developments

ASSETS

recording a year-on-year growth of 3.03% and 
reflecting the Bank’s commitment to maintain consistent 
steady growth despite challenging economic and 
regional conditions. 

 2013 2015  2014 2016Main Indicators  (USD millions) CAGR 2012

Total Assets 16,022 15,551 15,420 13,790 12,507 6.30%

Cash and Deposits with Central Banks  2,086 2,886 2,817 2,809 2,441 2.10%

Total Loans 5,061 5,140 4,746 4,488 4,334 4.00%

Total Liabilities 14,477 14,031 13,919 12,442 11,218 6.00%

Total Customers’ Deposits 12,078 12,075 12,123 11,051 9,862 5.00%

Total Equity 1,545 1,520 1,501 1,348 1,289 9.40%

Net Interest Income 279 299 264 220 210 5.10%

Net Income for the Year 130 139 133 128 127 2.10%

Number of Staff (Count) 2,658 2,624 2,408 2,207 2,115 6.30%

Number of Branches (Count) 122 114 108 93 92 7.20%

Total Assets
(USD millions)

2012

12,507

2013

13,790

2014

15,420

2015

15,551

2016

16,022
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Loan Portfolio

Breakdown of Asset Classes
 2016

Breakdown of Net Loans and Advances by Type of Customers 
2016

The Loan Portfolio stood at USD 5,061 million as at 
December 31, 2016, recording a year-on-year decrease 
of 1.54% when compared to USD 5,140 million reported 
on December 31, 2015. The decrease in the loan 
portfolio is attributed to the booking of provisions 
against the deterioration of some clients’ credit 
exposures in the region. This was also exacerbated 
by a 21.2% devaluation of the Turkish Lira against the 
US dollar between 2015 and 2016.  

Bankmed maintains strong relationships with its 
Corporate customers and continues to develop new 
relations with clients having leading positions in their 
sectors. This comes in line with Bankmed’s objective 
to implement a well-diversified strategy ensuring 
reasonable credit exposure to any one particular 
industry, thus reducing  concentration  in specific 
economic sectors.  The Bank’s Corporate clients are 
active in various economic sectors including, among 
others, Retail and Wholesale Trade, Manufacturing, 
Real Estate, Contracting, Transportation, and 
Telecommunication. 

Corporate Customers 
60.0%

Retail Customers 
24.0%

SME Customers 
16.0%

Total Loans
(USD millions)

2012

4,334

2013

4,488

2014

4,746

2015

5,140

2016

5,061
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The below pie illustrates the diversification of Bankmed’s Loan Portfolio ranging across various economic sectors:  

With respect to the maturity of the Loan Portfolio 
as at year-end 2016, the majority of the loans are 
classified as short-term loans, maturing within three 
months (representing 39.1% of the portfolio), followed 

Private Individuals  
19.7%

Manufacturing 
Industries  

9.0%
Wholesale 

Trade  
8.4%

Transport and 
Storage and 

Communication  
3.0%

Retail Trade  
4.4%

Other 
18.3%

Real Estate & General Contractors 
37.2%

Breakdown of Net Loans and Advances by Economic Sector 
2016

Breakdown of Net Loans and Advances in Lebanon 
 2016

Breakdown of Net Loans and Advances by Maturity 
2016

by loans maturing within three months to 1 year 
(representing 18.3% of the portfolio).  The below pie 
illustrates the diversification of the loan portfolio by 
maturity.

The Loan Portfolio originating from Lebanon increased 
by 5.0% to reach USD 3,706 million as at December 
31, 2016 when compared to USD 3,530 million 
reported as at December 31, 2015. Loans issued to 
Retail clients increased by 41.3% as at December 31, 
2016 when compared with December 31, 2015, 

The segregation of the Loan Portfolio by originating 
country is composed of Lebanon (73.2%), Europe 

Up to 
3 months  
39.1%

3 months  to 1 year  
18.3%

1 to 3 years 
13.9%

3 to 5 years  
14.2%

Above 5 years  
14.5%

(23.8%), and the Middle East (3.0 %). 

Corporate  
57.3%

Mortgage  
13.5%

Retail 
12.8%

SME  
16.4%

reflecting Bankmed’s strategy in strengthening its 
position in Retail Banking. In addition, housing loans 
recorded a year-on-year increase of 43.6% as at 
December 31, 2016 to reach USD 501 million up 
from USD 349 million when compared with the same 
period in 2015.

Breakdown of Net Loans and Advances booked in Europe 
 2016

Corporate  
63.1%

Retail  
16.1%

SME 
16.8%

Mortgage  
4.0%
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The portfolio originating in Switzerland grew by 
USD 71 million in the year 2016 to reach USD 240 million 
as at December 31, 2016 mainly due to the increase in 
client overdraft lending activities. 

The Loan Portfolio originating  from Turkey decreased 
by 14% in the year 2016 to reach TRL 3.4 billion 
(USD 962 million) as at December 31, 2016 
compared to TRL 3.9  billion  (USD 1,355.6 million) 
as at December 31, 2015 driven by a prudent 
management decision to reduce the Corporate and 
SME loan portfolio at the Bank’s subsidiary in Turkey. 

Loans denominated in US Dollar accounted for 65.9% 
of the Total Loan Portfolio constituting the largest share 
of the portfolio. These loans reached USD 3,336 million 
as at December 31, 2016 when compared to 
USD 3,118 million as at December 31, 2015. They 
were followed by Loans denominated in Turkish Lira, 
which accounted for 13.6% of the Total Loan Portfolio 
and reached a counter-value of USD 687 million 

The devaluation of the Turkish Lira against the US 
Dollar by around 21.2% in 2016 aggravated the 
decrease in the loan portfolio on  a consolidated 
level in USD.

The Loan Portfolio originating from the Middle East 
stood at USD 151 million as at December 31, 2016, 
registering a year-on-year increase of 85% when 
compared with the same period in 2015 generated 
mainly from Iraq and the DIFC branches. The growth 
was mainly driven by increases in the Bank’s lending 
activities to Corporate Clients, which constitute the 
majority of the Lending Portfolio in our operations in 
the Middle East. 

Loans Domination by Currency

Loans Utilization 

compared to a counter-value of USD 1,177 million as 
at December 31, 2015 despite the decrease of 14% in 
the loan portfolio originating from the Turkish subsidiary 
and the devaluation of the Turkish currency. 

Loans denominated in Lebanese Pounds stood at a 
counter-value of USD 645 million as at December 31, 
2016 as compared to a counter-value of USD 484 million 
as at December 31, 2015.

Bankmed implements a well-diversified strategy whereby 
close to 42.3% of the Bank’s loan portfolio exposure 
is outside Lebanon. This aligns with the Management’s 

The slow economic environment and the challenging 
geopolitical political situation in some regions where 
the Bank operates, notably, Turkey and the GCC had 
adverse implications on some clients performance and 
subsequently the Bank’s Non-Performing Loan portfolio. 
By end of 2016, the total Net Non-Performing 
portfolio stood at USD 199 million against which the 

USD 3,336 65.90% 3,118 60.70%

TRY  687 13.60% 1,177 22.90%

LBP 645 12.70% 484 9.40%

EUR 317 6.30% 213 4.20%

GBP 36 0.70% 41 0.80%

Other 40 0.80% 107 2.00%

Total 5,061 100% 5,140 100%

 2016 Loan Portfolio by Currency Contribution  2015 Contribution
(USD millions)

strategy to reduce concentration in specific countries 
and economic sectors and to ensure reasonable credit 
exposure in any particular industry. 

Loans by Geographical Utilization (%)

2016 2015

Lebanon Europe OthersMiddle East, Gulf, 
and Africa

57.6%

51.7%

15.4% 15.2%

26.4%

32.8%

0.6% 0.3%

Bank had USD 195 million of collective provisions 
and USD 153 million worth of collaterals. The Non-
Performing Loans to Gross Loans ratio increased to 
6.6% as at December 31, 2016 from 3.5% at the end 
of 2015. Nevertheless, the Bank’s Provision Coverage 
ratio at year-end 2016 stood at 101.6% and the Total 
Loans Portfolio remains well-collateralized.
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Investment Securities  

LIABILITIES

Debt Securities at 
Amortized Cost 

91.8%

Equity Securities Strategic  
4.7%

Total Liabilities 
(USD millions)

Breakdown of Portfolio Securities 
2016

Securities at FVTPL 
3.5%

Bankmed’s Investment Securities portfolio increased 
by 16.9% to reach USD 6,640 million as at December 
31, 2016 as compared to USD 5,678 million as 
at December 31, 2015. This increase is mainly 
attributed to the Bank’s participation in the Central 
Bank of Lebanon’s financial engineering transactions, 
which resulted in having the Bank replace its term 
placements with the Central Bank with certificates of 
deposits in order to enhance the return on portfolio. 
As a result, the percentage of the Investment Securities 
portfolio to total assets increased to 41.4% as at 
December 31, 2016 as compared to 36.5% as at 
December 31, 2015. 

Fixed Income Securities (Financial Assets Measured 
at Amortized Cost) stood at USD 6,093 million as 
at December 31, 2016 reporting a 22.3% year-on-
year increase when compared with the same period 
as at December 31, 2015. Bankmed’s portfolio of BDL 
Certificate of Deposits (CDs) stood at USD 4,625 million 
as at December 31, 2016 up from USD 3,453 million as 
at December 31, 2015 recording a year-on-year 
increase of 33.9%. Lebanese Government bonds 
increased from USD 1,128 million as at December 
31, 2015 to USD 1,185 million as at December 31, 
2016, recording a year-on-year increase of 5.0%. 

BDL Certificate of Deposits 4,625 75.90% 3,453 69.40%

Lebanese Government Bonds 1,185 19.40% 1,128 22.60%

Other Government Exposures 242 4.00% 275 5.50%

Debt Securities Issued by Banks 12 0.20% 79 1.60%

Certificates of Deposits Issued by Banks 0 0.00% 15 0.30%

Debt Securities Issued by Foreign Companies 29 0.50% 31 0.60%

Fixed Income Securities 6,093 100% 4,981 100%

Lebanese Government Bonds 60  25.90% 210 49.60%

BDL Certificate of Deposit  117 50.40% 115 27.20%

Structured Notes-CLN 0 0.00% 20 4.70%

Debt Securities Issued by Foreign Companies 30 12.90% 41 9.70%

Debt Securities Issued by Foreign Banks 0 0.00% 21 5.00%

Other Government Exposures 4 1.70% 0 0.00%

Debt Securities at FVTPL 211  90.90% 407 96.20%

Equity Securities at FVTPL 21 9.10% 16 3.80%

Total Securities at FVTPL 232  100% 423 100%

 2016

 2016

Contribution

Contribution

 2015

 2015

Contribution

Contribution

(USD millions)

(USD millions) 

Securities classified as Financial Assets at Fair Value 
Through Profit and Loss (FVTPL) stood at USD 232 million 
as at December 31, 2016 compared to USD 423 million 
as at December 31, 2015, recording a year-on-year 

Strategic Equity Securities recorded an increase of 14.9% 
to reach USD 315 million as at December 31, 2016, 

decline of 45.1%. This was mainly due to the partial 
liquidation in the Lebanese Government Bonds portfolio 
which resulted in a gain of USD 1.4 million during the 
year 2016.

contributing further to the USD 962 million total increase 
witnessed in Bankmed’s Investment Securities portfolio.

2012

11,218

12,442

13,919 14,031
14,477

2013 2014 2015 2016
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Bankmed’s Total Deposit Base stood at USD 13,956 million 
as at December 31, 2016, recording a year-on-year 

Customers’ deposits reached USD 11,712 million 
as at December 31, 2016, recording a year-on-year 
increase of 0.5%, as compared to year-end 2015, 
and accounting for 83.9% of the Bank’s total deposit 
base, the increase was attained despite the negative 
effect of the 21.2% devaluation of the Turkish Lira. The 
continuous increase in the deposit base over the years 
reflects Bankmed’s capability to attract new clients 
and the growing confidence in the Bank. 

increase of 3.1%, as compared to year-end 2015.

(USD millions)

(USD millions)

(USD millions)

Deposits from Banks and Financial Institutions 513 385

Customers’ Deposits 11,712 11,656

Deposits from Related Parties 366 419

Borrowings from Banks and Financial Institutions 865 573

Certificates of Deposits 500 500

Total Deposit Base 13,956 13,533

Less than 1 year  3,308 9,001 12,309 88.20%

1 to 3 years  31 1,058 1,089 7.80%

3 to 5 years  47 345 392 2.80%

5 to 10 years  37 101 138 1.00%

Over 10 years  12 16 28 0.20%

Total 3,435 10,521 13,956 100%

Less than 1 year  3,326 8,901 12,227 90.30%

1 to 3 years  22 881 903 6.70%

3 to 5 years  13 105 118 0.90%

5 to 10 years  15 237 252 1.90%

Over 10 years  12 21 33 0.20%

Total 3,388 10,145 13,533 100%

 2016

Total

Total

FCY  Base Accounts

FCY  Base Accounts

LBP Base Accounts

LBP Base Accounts

As at December 31,

December 31, 2016

December 31, 2015

 2015

Contribution

Contribution

Inter-bank deposits and borrowing from banks and 
financial institutions increased by USD 420 million 
reaching USD 1,378 million as at December 31, 2016 
as compared to USD 958 million as at  December 31, 
2015. 

The following tables set forth a breakdown of the total 
deposit base by tenor and by currency as at December 
31, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

2012

1,289

1,348

1,501

Total Equity 
(USD millions)

1,520

1,545

2013 2014 2015 2016

Bankmed continues to maintain an adequate capital 
base covering risks inherent in its business operations. 
Bankmed’s capital adequacy is actively managed and 
monitored in line with the Basel framework and BDL’s 
requirements. The primary objective remains to ensure 
that the Bank maintains a sufficient level of capital 
exceeding regulatory requirements and to achieve a 
strong credit rating, while optimizing shareholders’ 
value and managing the planned business expansions.

Bankmed’s Total Equity stood at USD 1,545 million as at 
December 31, 2016, compared to USD 1,520 million 
as at December 31, 2015, recording a yearly increase 
of 1.6%. The slight increase in the Bank’s total equity is 
driven by the growth in reserves and retained earnings. 
However, this growth was partially offset by currency 
translation adjustments resulting from translating the 
Bank’s investments in subsidiaries and other non-
controlling interests.
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Regulatory Requirements

The Bank monitors the adequacy of its capital 
using the methodology and ratios established by 
the Central Bank of Lebanon. These ratios measure 
Capital Adequacy by comparing the Bank’s eligible 

 Bankmed’s Capital Adequacy Ratio stood at 15.44% 
as at December 31, 2016 compared to 15.28% as 
at December 31, 2015, exceeding the 14% minimum 
requirement set by the Central Bank of Lebanon.  

capital with its balance sheet assets, commitments 
and contingencies, as well as the notional amount 
of derivatives at a weighted amount to reflect their 
relative risk.

(LBP millions)

(LBP millions)

Capital Adequacy Ratio 

Credit Risk  12,409,561 12,411,808

Market Risk  255,449 613,648

Operational Risk  1,018,244 994,034

Risk-Weighted Assets 13,683,254 14,019,490

Tier I Capital  1,972,148 1,956,921

Tier II Capital  140,475 184,753

Total Eligible Capital  2,112,623 2,141,674

Capital Adequacy Ratio-Tier I 14.41% 13.96%

Capital Adequacy Ratio-Tier II 1.03% 1.32%

Capital Adequacy Ratio-Tier I and II 15.44% 15.28%

 2016

 2016

 2016

December 31,

December 31,

December 31,

 2015

 2015

 2015

This strong capitalization reflects the Management’s 
focus on sustaining an adequate position to cover 
inherent risks in various business activities, while 
attending to the Bank’s future growth strategies.

Bankmed’s Net Income for the year-ending 2016 stood 
at USD 130.1 million compared to USD 139.1 million 
reported during the same period in 2015. The decrease 

INCOME STATEMENT REVIEW

2012

127 128
133

Net Profit
(USD millions)

139

130

2013 2014 2015 2016

in Net Income is attributable to the Bank’s prudent 
provisioning policy and to changes to the composition 
of the balance sheet. 

(USD millions)

Share Capital 418 418

Preferred Shares 375 375

Legal Reserves 103 91

Property Revaluation Reserves 2 2

Reserve for General Banking Risks 175 147

Reserves for Assets Acquired in Satisfaction of Loans 60 47

Retained Earnings 267 239

Cumulative Change in Fair Value of Financial Assets Through Other Comprehensive Income 11 15

Currency Translation Adjustment (111) (89)

Profit for the Year 128 139

Equity Attributable to the Group  1,428 1,384

Non-Controlling Interest 117 136

Total Equity 1,545 1,520

 2016

As at December 31,

 2015

Bankmed’s capital structure is outlined in the below table
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Bankmed’s Net Interest Income reported a year-on-
year decrease of 6.7% as at December 31, 2016 
compared to December 31, 2015. This decrease 
came as a result of changes in the composition of the 
Bank’s balance sheet and its corresponding yields. 
During 2016, interest income increased by 2.9% 
from USD 883 million as at December 31, 2015 
to USD 909 million as at December 31, 2016. 
The increase is mainly attributed to a shift from 

deposits with the central banks to financial assets 
at amortized cost and to an increase in loans and 
advances to customers. On the other hand, interest 
expense  increased to USD 630 million as compared 
to USD 584 million as at December 31, 2015. 
The increase is due to an increase in deposits from 
banks, financial institutions and from customers’ 
deposits at amortized cost as well as the interest expense 
of perpetual subordinated convertible note which 
commenced in November 2015.

Segmental Analysis of Net Interest Income by Geography  

Non-Interest Income

Provisions for Credit Losses

The geographical contribution of Bankmed’s entities 
to the Net Interest Income for the year-ending 2016 
is as follows: Lebanon (70.9%); Europe (26.8%); and 
the Middle East (2.3%). 

Net Interest Income generated by the Bank’s entities 
in Europe recorded a slight decrease reaching 

USD 74.6 million as at December 31, 2016, as 
compared to USD 77.3 million with the same period 
in 2015. 

Net Interest Income generated by the Bank’s entities in 
the Middle East stood at USD 6.5 million as at December 
31, 2016 recording a year-on-year growth of 20.0% 
when compared with the same period in 2015. 

(USD millions)

Net Fee and Commission Income 100.9 61.9

Net Results on Financial Instruments at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 18.9 30.7

Gain from Financial Assets Measured at Amortized Cost  168.2 163.9

Other Operating Income 35.5 50.1

Total 323.5 306.6

 2016

December 31,

 2015

Net fee and commission income for the year ended 
31 December 2016 increased by USD 39 million, or 
63.0%, to USD 100.9 million from USD 61.9 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2015, primarily as 
a result of an increase in the brokerage fees related 
to customers’ transactions in connection with the 
execution of trades of financial instruments with the 
Central Bank of Lebanon on behalf of customers.  

With its active involvement in capital markets, 
Bankmed registered a slight increase in Gain from 
Financial Assets Measured at Amortized Cost which 

reached USD 168.2 million as at December 31, 2016 
compared to USD 163.9 million as at December 31, 
2015. 

Other operating income for the year ended 31 
December 2016 decreased by USD 14.6 million, or 
29.1%, to USD 35.5 million, from USD 50.1 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2015. This drop 
was mainly due to exceptional gains from sales of 
associates  in 2015, and due to a decrease in foreign 
exchange gains offset by an increase in gain on sale 
of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans.

For the year ending December 31, 2016, net 
provisions and allowances for credit losses increased 
by 33.1%, to reach USD 126.2 million as 

compared to USD 94.8 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2015, as a result of increased 
provisioning on newly classified non-performing loans.

Net Interest Income 

2012

210
220

264

299

279

Net Interest Income 
(USD millions)

2013 2014 2015 2016
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Bankmed is active in attracting and managing Fiduciary 
Deposits, Assets Under Management (AUM) and Assets 
Under Custody (AUC).

The Bank’s Fiduciary Deposits stood at USD 269 million 
as at December 31, 2016 where the majority of this 
business originated from the Bank’s Private Banking 
activity in Switzerland. AUM reached USD 784 million 
as at December 31, 2016, of which 59% is managed 

FIDUCIARY DEPOSITS & ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT 
AND CUSTODY BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

by BankMed Suisse  and 41% by SaudiMed Investment 
Company, the Bank’s investment banking arm in Saudi 
Arabia.

The Bank also holds Assets Under Custody equal to 
USD 2,527 million as at December 31, 2016, of 
which 59% originates from Bankmed and around 36% 
originated from MedSecurities Investment, the Bank’s 
brokerage arm.

USD millions

20132012

1,010

3,346

893

3,090

1,111

2,688

991

2,567

1,053

2,527 

2014 2015 2016

Total Operating Expenses 

Total Operating Expenses recorded a slight year-on-
year increase of 2.3% to reach USD 314 million as at 
December 31, 2016. This rise was mainly driven by a 
USD 5.6 million or 3% increase in staff expenses and 
by a USD 1.5 million or 1% increase in administrative 

expenses. The Bank took some major initiatives in 2016 
to control expenses overall and to reduce them in certain 
areas of the Bank. These initiatives included the Bank 
itself as well as all its major local and international 
subsidiaries.

2012

250

275
288

307
314

Operational Expenses 
(USD millions)

2013 2014 2015 2016

Fiduciary Deposits & Assets under Management Assets under Custody
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6 -  R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T 

The Risk Management Report addresses Basel Pillar III 
disclosures on capital and risk management for Bankmed, 
its affiliates and subsidiaries. Pillar III disclosures aim 
to increase transparency of a bank’s risk exposure 
and the adequacy of its regulatory capital. Pillar III  
disclosures are published annually with the release of 
the Bank’s Annual Report.

The Bank’s capital adequacy is calculated at a 
consolidated level using Basel requirements of the 
Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) and 

Total Capital Adequacy Ratio  15.44%
Tier I Capital Adequacy Ratio    14.41%
Common Equity Capital Ratio   10.10%

the local regulators’ requirements set by the Banking 
Control Commission of Lebanon (BCCL). The Bank’s 
individual foreign subsidiaries are directly regulated 
by the respective local banking supervisors who set 
and monitor their capital adequacy requirements. The 
stand-alone capital adequacy ratio of  Bankmed’s 
subsidiaries is also reported to the BCCL.

The following summarizes the Bank’s Pillar I capital 
ratios as of December 31, 2016 according to the 
Standardized Approach:

Risk Management Function is responsible for 
overseeing risk-taking activities across the Bank. The 
Bank’s key risks include: Credit Risk, Market Risk, 
Operational Risk, Liquidity Risk, Interest Rate Risk, 
Concentration Risk, Strategic and Business Risk, 
Reputation Risk, and Compliance Risk.

Risk Management’s main focus is to:

- Identify, measure and manage the risks effectively  
  across all business lines 

- Set appropriate limits in line with defined risk appetite 

- Ensure control and monitor adherence to the limits 
- Allocate capital among these businesses properly 

- Recommend appropriate ways to mitigate these risks  

- Maintain the Bank’s risk profile in line with its risk 
  strategy, and business objectives.

Risk Management process is embedded in the Bank’s 
strategy development, business planning, capital 
allocation, investment decisions, internal control, and 
day-to-day operations.

Risk Appetite represents the amount of risk the Bank 
is willing to undertake in pursuit of its strategic and 
business objectives. The Bank has established its Risk 
Appetite matrix in the Internal Capital Adequacy 
Assessment Process (ICAAP) document to help assess 
and prioritize risks at the Group level.

Risk Appetite is formally reviewed and updated on 
an annual basis to ensure alignment with the Bank’s 
strategy and business plan.

The principal objectives of Bankmed’s Risk 
Management are to maintain, across the Bank, a strong 
Risk Culture and a robust risk policy and procedures 
framework. Risk Culture and Risk Awareness of all 
types of risks are key issues in the strategic decisions 
of the Board of Directors, Senior Management, and in 
every employee’s daily business.

Risk Management, in coordination with the Board 
Risk Committee and Senior Management, initiated, in 
conjunction with an independent consultancy firm, a 
Risk Culture Program. The purpose of the program is to 
enhance the Risk Culture at Bankmed. The Risk Culture 
Program includes four phases which were successfully 
completed as per Bankmed’s expectations. In addition, 
Risk Management launched several training programs 
on Risk Awareness in order to strengthen Risk Culture 
among all employees. 

Bankmed nurtures a positive learning culture by 
conducting internal and external Risk education 
training seminars in addition to constant communication 
through day-to-day on the job interaction, monthly 
Risk Newsletter, periodic Business/Risk Management 
meetings, and various other means.

QUALITATIVE 
DISCLOSURES

Risk Management

Risk Appetite

Risk Culture

Bankmed’s Risk Appetite is defined across five 
categories:  

- Group level risk appetite metrics
- Specific risk-type limit setting
- Stakeholders’ targets (e.g. target debt rating, dividend 
  policy, minimum acceptable capital ratio,  etc.)
- Policies, procedures, and controls for all types of risks 
- Zero-tolerance statements for Reputation Risk
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The Board Risk Committee (BRC) considers the Group’s 
current and future risk profile relative to the Group’s 
Risk Appetite. It reviews the Group’s exposure to 
country, single name obligor and sector concentration 
risk on an ongoing basis, taking into consideration the 
impact of the macroeconomic environment in different 
geographies. It also considers the Bank’s capital 
adequacy under normal and stressed scenarios 
including the impact of specific economic events on 
the Bank’s subsidiaries and portfolios, the related 
impact on non-performing loans, as well as the impact 
of potential sovereign rating downgrades.

The BRC reviews material risks and ensures the 
appropriate controls and mitigation measures are in 
place or in progress. This is done through periodic 
review meetings. A total of four meetings were held 
by the BRC during 2016.

Board Risk Committee 
The Central Bank of Lebanon (BDL) issued Intermediate 
Circular No. 436 on September 30, 2016 which 
amends older Circulars with regard to the  minimum 
capital requirements for banks operating in Lebanon. 
The latest Circular No. 436 increased the minimum 
regulatory Total Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) to 15% 
by end-2018 compared to 12% by end-2015, and 
raised the regulatory required Capital Conservation 
buffer from 2.5% to 4.5%.  

The capital increase will be phased-in as banks will 
have to meet a minimum CAR of 14% by end-2016, 
14.5% by end-2017 and 15% by end-2018. 

The following table shows the previous BDL Intermediate 
Circular No. 282 and the latest BDL Intermediate Circular 
No. 436 for the capital requirements in Lebanon:

Risk Measurement and Reporting are prepared at the 
Group level to ensure that risks are comprehensively 
captured and accurately assessed. Risk measurement 
and reporting cover all types of risks including 
mainly Credit, Market and Operational Risks, the 
measurement and analysis of regulatory and internal 
capital, internal and external reporting and the 
implementation of new regulatory requirements.

Periodic updates are provided to the BRC highlighting 
key risks, their impact and mitigation actions. 

Risk measurement and reporting are implemented 
as well in major operating foreign subsidiaries 
through a common reporting model for integrated risk 
management and control. Each operating subsidiary 
is responsible for the quality and performance of its 
assets’ portfolio as well as reporting and monitoring 
all risks in those portfolios in accordance with the 
Group standards.

Basel Implementation in Lebanon

Risk Measurement and Reporting 

QUANTITATIVE 
DISCLOSURES

Common Equity Ratio 8% 10% 8.50% 9% 10%

Tier I Ratio 10% 13% 11% 12% 13%

Total Capital Ratio 12% 15% 14% 14.50% 15%

BDL Intermediate Circular No. 282
Required Capital Ratios

(including 2.5% conservation buffer)

BDL Intermediate Circular No. 436
Required Capital Ratios

(including 4.5% conservation buffer)

BDL Intermediate Circular No. 436
Implementation Schedule

December 31,

2016  2017  2018 By End-2018By End-2015

The Bank manages its capital levels to support business 
growth, maintain depositor and creditor confidence, 
create value for shareholders, and ensure regulatory 

Regulatory Capital

December 31,

Composition of Regulatory Capital (LBP millions) 2016 2015 2014

Eligible Paid-up Share Capital 630,000 630,000 630,000

Eligible Reserves, Retained Earnings and Net Income 911,872 818,366 721,535

Subordinated Loan Eligible for Inclusion under Common Equity Tier I Capital 150,750 150,750  -

Deductions from Common Equity (Including FX Currency Translation Adjustment, Goodwill and Intangible Assets) (375,580) (339,226) (297,095)

Acceptable Minority Interests under Common Equity Tier I Capital  101,202 116,597 107,533

Unrealized Losses on Debt Securities Classified at Fair Value Through OCI  (27,943) (14,027) (8,303)

Deductions from Common Equity of  Unconsolidated Banking and Financial Entities’ Investments (8,438) -  -

Net Common Equity after Deductions 1,381,863 1,362,460 1,153,670

Non-Cumulative Preferred Shares 565,313 565,313 565,313

Acceptable Minority Interests under Tier I Capital 29,765 29,149 38,405

Deductions from Tier I Equity of Unconsolidated Banking and Financial Entities’ Investments (4,793) - -

Net Tier I Capital 1,972,148 1,956,921 1,757,387

Asset Revaluation Reserves 3,213 3,213 3,213

Unrealized Gross Gains on Debt Securities Classified at Fair Value through OCI (only 50% to be Reported) 21,938 18,639 13,268

General Provisions Eligible under Tier II 80,506 133,752 129,078

Acceptable Minority Interests under Tier II 34,818 29,149 30,724

Total Tier II 140,476 184,753 176,283

Total Regulatory Capital (Tier I + Tier II) 2,112,623 2,141,674 1,933,670

compliance. The following table summarizes the 
Bank’s Regulatory Capital as at December 31, 2016:

Regulatory capital is allocated to the following tiers: 
Common Equity Tier I (CETI), Tier I, Tier II and Total 
Capital. Tier I Capital is principally comprised of the 
more permanent components of capital and consists 
primarily of common shares, reserves and retained 
earnings less certain deductions as prescribed by 
Basel rules. Tier II Capital  includes the eligible general 
provisions held against unidentified losses and 50% 

of unrealized gains on listed securities classified at 
fair value through OCI. Total Capital is defined as the 
total of Tier I and Tier II capital.

By continuously increasing its capital base, Bankmed 
has always exceeded the regulatory capital minimum 
requirements as shown  in the following section.

Risk Governance

The above Risk Culture and vision requires the adoption 
and implementation of an Enterprise Risk Management 
Framework (ERMF) covering Bankmed, its affiliates 
and subsidiaries. Bankmed Group considers that the 
foundation for successful Risk Management is the 
pragmatic and consistent implementation of strong 
Risk Governance which reflects the importance 
placed by the Board of Directors and the Board Risk 
Committee on shaping the Group’s risk strategy and 
managing risks effectively. 

Bankmed’s Risk Governance is based on a “three 
lines of defense” concept, which is the platform of the 
Group’s ERMF. 

The  Bank’s “three lines of defense” are as follows:

- Businesses who own their risk exposures 
- Risk Management which provides an independent  
  oversight of risks 
- Internal Audit which evaluates the overall effectiveness 
  of the control environment.

The Bank’s ERMF includes a strong emphasis on 
accountability, responsibility, independence, reporting, 
communications and transparency, both internally and 
with all the key external stakeholders as indicated in the 
Bank’s various existing policies and procedures.
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Risk Weighted Assets 13,683,254  14,019,490   13,513,730  

Credit Risk 12,409,561  12,411,808   11,969,979  

Market Risk 255,449  613,648   592,899  

Operational Risk  1,018,244  994,034   950,852  

Common Equity Tier I Capital 1,381,863 1,362,460 1,153,670 

Tier I Capital  1,972,148 1,956,921 1,757,387 

Tier II Capital 140,476 184,753 176,283 

Total Capital 2,112,623 2,141,674 1,933,670 

Common Equity Ratio 10.10% 9.72% 8.54% 8.5%

Tier I Ratio 14.41% 13.96% 13.00% 11%

Total  Capital Ratio 15.44% 15.28% 14.31% 14%

The following summarizes the Bank’s Pillar I RWA and Capital Ratios as at December 31, 2016:  

The calculation of RWA is determined by Basel 
guidelines and BCCL regulatory rules relating to On-
Balance Sheet and Off-Balance Sheet exposures and 
includes amounts for:

- Credit Risk exposure associated with the banking 
  book portfolio

- Market Risk exposure associated with the Bank’s 
  trading portfolio

- Operational Risk exposure associated with the risk 
  of  loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal  
  processes, people and systems, or from external events. 

BCCL minimum required Capital Ratios for year-end 
2016 as per BDL Intermediate Circular No. 436 are 

Pillar I Risk Weighted Assets (RWA) and Capital Ratios

(LBP millions)

Pillar I - Capital Requirements

December 31,

BDL Intermediate 
Circular No. 436

2016 2015 2014 2016

as follows: CETI Capital Ratio of 8.5%, Tier I Capital 
Ratio of 11% and a Total Capital Ratio of 14% 
including  a conservation buffer of  4.5% of  RWA.

Bankmed is well capitalized with a Total Capital 
Ratio of 15.44% exceeding the 14% minimum capital 
requirement set by the BCCL for year-end 2016. 

Bankmed’s primary objective is to exceed regulatory 
capital requirements and to maintain a cost-effective 
capital structure that balances strong capital ratios with 
adequate returns to the Bank’s shareholders. Bankmed 
continues to ensure that capital is well invested in order 
to meet expected future requirements in the context of 
a more demanding regulatory environment.

Total Risk-Weighted Assets (RWA) amounted to 
LBP 13,683 billion in 2016 compared to LBP 14,019 billion 

Movement in Risk Weighted Assets in 2016

December 31,

(LBP millions) 2016 2015 RWAs Change  % 

Risk-Weighted Assets 13,683,254  14,019,490   (336,236) (2%)

Credit Risk  12,409,561 91% 12,411,808 89%  (2,247) 0%

Market Risk  255,449 2% 613,648 4%  (358,199) (58%)

Operational Risk  1,018,244 7% 994,034 7%  24,210  2.44%

in 2015, representing a 2% year-on-year net decrease 
as presented below: 

Pillar I Capital Adequacy Ratios over the past 3 years:

Pillar I - Capital Requirements 

2016 2015

Tier I Ratio Total Capital RatioCommon Equity Ratio

10.10%
9.72%

8.54%

14.41%
13.96%

13.00%

15.44% 15.28%

14.31%

2014
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Credit Risk is one of the most significant risks Bankmed 
faces. It generates the largest regulatory capital 
requirement of risks as it accounts for 91% of the 
Bank’s overall capital requirement. 

The Bank has adopted the Basel Standardized 
Approach for the Credit Risk capital requirements. 
The calculation of regulatory capital is based on a 
risk weighting and the net counterparty exposures 
after recognizing a limited set of qualifying eligible 
collateral. The risk weighting is based on the exposure 
characteristics and on the external agency credit 
rating of the counterparty in case of corporate, bank, 
and sovereign exposures.

Under this approach, exposures are assigned to 
the following portfolio segments based on the type 
of counterparty and/or the nature of the underlying 
asset:

-  Sovereign Risk dominated by the investment in 
 Sovereign portfolio in the banking book and the 
 trading book, which gives rise to both credit and 
 market risks (the latter is calculated under Market 
 Risk Capital charge) 

-  Other Credit Risk Exposure dominated by loans to 
 Corporates and Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises 
 (SMEs), Retail Lending, Home Loans, Commercial  
 Mortgage Loans, Loans to Financial Institutions, and  
 Other Assets such as Equity Investment and Shares’  
 Participation, Fixed Assets, etc.

Other Assets on the regulatory balance sheet, such as 
Intangible Assets and Goodwill, are excluded from 
the calculation of the credit risk exposure value as they 
are deducted from capital. The credit risk exposures 
also exclude the assets that are classified at Fair Value 
Through Profit and Loss. 

Credit Risk Mitigation is used to reduce the Credit 
Risk of a given portfolio. The Bank uses the Basel 
Comprehensive Approach for the treatment of financial 
collaterals. Eligible financial collateral and guarantees 
are used to mitigate Credit Risk. The main types of 
collateral obtained by the Bank for its banking book 
exposures include Cash Collateral, Debt Securities 
Rated Investment Grade, Listed Equities, and Eligible 
Guarantees.

Other types of collateral such as Real Estate Mortgages, 
Personal Guarantees and Unrated Corporate/Bank 
Guarantees, are not recognized for the purposes of 
the calculation of the Credit Risk Capital Requirement 
as per Basel rules.

Capital Requirements for 
Credit Risk

Credit Risk Mitigation under the 
Standardized Approach

The Standardized Approach is adopted when 
generating the Market Risk regulatory capital 
requirement. It is based on three types of Risks: 

- Interest Rate Risk arises from fluctuation in interest 
  rates which affects the Bank’s earnings and market 
  value of equity. It is constituted of two types:

 i. Specific Risk: The related capital charge decreased 
  from LBP 21,973 million in 2015 to LBP 2,314 million 
  in 2016 due to the drop in bonds and CLNs’ portfolio.

 ii.General Risk: The capital charge related to the  
  General Risk decreased from LBP 23,023 million 
  in 2015 to LBP 9,775 million in 2016 due to the 
  drop in bonds and CLNs’ portfolio.

Capital Requirements for 
Market Risk 

Equities Risk: The total capital required to cover 
both Specific and General Market risks for equity 
position increased from LBP 3,800 million in 2015 
to LBP 5,120 million in 2016 due to the growth in 
equities held at BankMed Suisse. 

FX Risk: The related capital charge increased from 
LBP 295 million in 2015 to LBP  3,227 million in 
2016 due to the long position in Jordanian Dinar 
equivalent to USD 25.5 million. 

The capital requirements for Market Risk, calculated 
on assets and positions held in the trading book, are 
presented in the table below:

Interest Rate-General Risk  122,189   9,775  287,782 23,023 (58%) 

Interest Rate-Specific Risk  28,927   2,314  274,667 21,973 (89%) 

Equity-General Risk  32,001   2,560  23,754 1,900 35% 

Equity-Specific Risk  32,001   2,560  23,754 1,900 35% 

Foreign Exchange Risk  40,331   3,227  3,691 295 993% 

Total  255,449   20,436  613,648 49,092 (58%) 

% Change 
 20152016

Market Risk Type 
(LBP millions)

RWA Capital Requirements RWA Capital Requirements

December 31, 

Interest Rate Risk

Market Risk Capital Requirements LBP (000)

Equity Risk FX Risk

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

60,000,000 

50,000,000 

40,000,000 
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Operational Risk 
(Basic Indicator Approach) 1,018,244 81,460 994,034 79,523 2.44% 

% Change 
 20152016

(LBP millions) RWA Capital Requirements RWA Capital Requirements

December 31, 

Bankmed adopts the Basic Indicator Approach (BIA) to 
calculate the regulatory capital charge requirements 
for Operational Risk. 

Basel III framework introduced the Leverage ratio as 
a non-risk-based measure supplementing risk-based 
capital requirements. This ratio captures both the On 
and Off-Balance sheet exposures and aims to restrict 
the build-up of excess Leverage in the banking sector. 
As per Basel III, banks are expected to meet a 3% 
Tier I Leverage ratio, calculated by dividing Net Tier I 
Capital by total On and Off-Balance Sheet exposures.

Banks are required to report the Leverage ratio to their 
national supervisors starting January 2013 including 
a parallel run period. The period, spanning from 
January 2013 and ending in January 2017, will 
assess if the proposed minimum Leverage ratio of 3% 
is appropriate, with a view to migrating to a Pillar I 
requirement on January 1, 2018. In January 2014, 
the Basel Committee published its final Leverage 
ratio framework, along with the public disclosure 
requirements applicable from January 1, 2015.

The BCCL introduced to its Quantitative Impact Study 
(QIS) the calculation of  the Leverage ratio. Lebanese 

Market Risk is defined as the potential loss arising 
from movements in Market Risk factors such as 
Interest Rates, Equity Prices, Credit Spreads, Foreign 
Exchange Rates and Commodity Prices and their 
respective effect on earnings and economic value.

Market Risk at Bankmed is measured, monitored, and 
reported by the Market Risk Department based on Risk 
Management policies and pre-approved limits with a 
strategic oversight by the Asset and Liability Committee 
(ALCO). The Market Risk Department is responsible 
for developing and implementing market risk policy 
and risk measuring/monitoring methodologies and 
for reviewing all new trading and investment products 
and product limits prior to ALCO’s approval.

Capital Requirements for 
Operational Risk

Leverage Ratio

MARKET RISK 

The Bank’s capital requirement for Operational Risk 
for 2016 compared to 2015 is as follows:

Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book is the risk of loss 
arising from fluctuations in market interest rates that 
could result in drops in the fair value of investments or 
in the future cash flows.
 
Under the guidance of ALCO, the interest rate gaps 
methodology is applied to generate and measure 
interest rate risk in the banking book. Gaps are 
generated through Sungard ALM software, an  Asset 
and Liability Management tool.

Bankmed’s exposure to changes in market behavior is 
captured by Stress Testing and detecting unfavorable 
events that could have a plausible effect on the Bank.

Interest Rate Risk in the 
Banking Book

Market Risk - Stress Testing 

LBP EAR

-13%

-29%

-37%

-32%
-31% -31%

-34%

-13%-13%
-11% -12% -12%

LBP EV

Stress Testing is carried out on a regular basis and  the 
results  are directly reported to Senior Management. 
The test is conducted by applying a 200 basis point 
interest rate parallel shock on interest rate sensitive 
Assets and Liabilities in local and foreign currencies.

The potential effect of this shift on LBP Net Interest 
Income remained at (-13%) in 2016 as in 2015. The 
impact of this potential shift on the Economic Value 
of equity increased from (-29%) in 2015 to (-34%) in 
2016 due to the increase in Time Deposits.

The potential effect on USD Net Interest Income 
increased from (-4%) in 2015 to (-7%) in 2016 since 
the maturity of issued CDs moved from the 2Y tenor 
to the 1Y tenor. The impact on the Economic Value 
increased from (-23%) in 2015 to (-25%) in 2016 due 
to the decrease in (Tier I + Tier II Capital) since the 
Basel Capital Method was adopted.

banks are also required to ensure that their Leverage 
ratio exceeds 3%. Bankmed Tier I Leverage ratio 
equaled to 7.5% as of December 31, 2016, well 
exceeding the minimum requirement.
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Liquidity Risk is the risk that the Bank will have 
insufficient funds to meet its obligations under normal 
and stress scenarios.

In order to ensure an adequate liquidity level at all 
times, Market Risk Department monitors the funding 
profile and the diversification level of its funding 
sources as well as regulatory and internal Liquidity 
ratios.  

The Loan-to-Deposit ratio stood at 36% as of 
December 31, 2016. 

Under Contingency Funding Plan (CFP), sources of 
liquidity are primarily derived from assets, repos, 
additional deposit gathering and to a lower extent 
from incremental interbank borrowings. The plan is 
set to cover Event Scenario in a local market. As part 
of the analysis of liability runoff, historical events or 

Bankmed adopted the early implementation of Liquidity 
Coverage Ratio (LCR) and Net Stable Funding Ratio 
(NSFR), the two liquidity measures introduced by 
Basel Committee in 2010.

Liquidity Risk

Funding Profile 

Contingency Funding Plan

The Liquidity Coverage Ratio and 
Net Stable Funding Ratio 

statistical core deposit analysis should be considered 
when projecting liquidity under a CFP. In addition, 
prospects for loan collection and repayments are 
considered.

The LCR ensures that the Bank maintains an adequate 
level of unencumbered high-quality assets in LBP and 
FCY that can be converted into cash to meet the 
1-month Net Cash Outflow in an acute stress scenario. 
LCR calculation includes a minimum requirement of 
60% effective January 1, 2015 and will be gradually 
increased to reach 100% on January 1, 2019. 
Bankmed’s LCR as of December 31, 2016 was 
greater than 100%.

The Liquidity Coverage Ratio 

Under this rule, financial institutions need to maintain 
a ratio above 100% effective 2018. The objective of 
this ratio is to ensure that long term assets are funded 
with at least a minimum amount of stable liabilities in 
relation to their liquidity risk profiles. It aims to limit 
over-reliance on short term wholesale funding during 
times of buoyant market liquidity and encourage better 
assessment of liquidity risk across all On and Off-
Balance Sheet items. Bankmed’s NSFR was greater 
than 100% as of December 31, 2016.

The Interest Rate Risk (Trading and non-Trading) and 
the Liquidity risk measurement and monitoring are 
performed at the subsidiary level and the consolidated 
results are reported to Bankmed’s Headquarters in 
Beirut, Lebanon. The reports include: the Market Risk 
Capital Charges, Interest Rate Risk Gap Analysis, 
Liquidity Gap Analysis, Stress Testing, and Liquidity 
Ratios (where applicable).

Net Stable Funding Ratio 

Market Risk in Bankmed 
Subsidiaries

Bankmed’s Operational Risk Management policy is 
based on the “Principles for the Sound Management of 
Operational Risk” as set by the Basel Committee for the 
“Sound Management of Operational Risk (Basel II)”, 
where Operational Risk is defined as the risk of a loss 
resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, 
or acts related to people (employee mistakes, employee 
fraud, external fraud), or systems failure or external 
factors (war, act of terrorism, natural disasters).  

Bankmed’s Operational Risk Management Policy 
relies on the process of identifying, assessing, and 
monitoring the risks in order to control them, mitigate 
them, or reduce their negative effects to a minimum 
acceptable level, as the failure in properly managing 
Operational Risk might expose the Bank to significant 
losses. 

OPERATIONAL RISK 

Bankmed’s Management makes sure that the overall 
Operational Risk Management Strategy of the Bank, 
approved by the Board of Directors (BOD), is properly 
implemented. This strategy recognizes Operational 
Risks as a distinct category that should be managed. 
It outlines that the Bank’s internal Operational Risk 
Measurement System must be closely integrated into 
the day-to-day Risk Management Process of the Bank 
and that the Bank’s Operational Risk Management 
Policy must be well documented.

In implementing this policy, Bankmed is adopting the 
following measures:
- Risk Identification: identifying the root causes of
 incidents that may cause losses;
- Risk Assessment: identifying the impact of the risks;
- Risk Monitoring and Controlling: identifying the 
 factors that change the impact of the risk to keep 
 them under control;
- Reporting: issuing reports that indicate the current 
 status of the risks and controls and indicates the 
 operational losses and the near misses that occurred, 
 and sending them to the Senior Management.

Once the various Operational Risks are identified, the 
Bank assesses its vulnerability to these risks by using 
several risk assessing techniques, namely:

- Risk Mapping: The Bank maps the risks identified  
 related to various business units, functions, or  
 processes within the Bank;

- Key Risk Indicators (KRIs): A proactive technique,  
 known also as Early Warning Indicators, where  
 the KRIs represent instruments/gauges/pointers  
 that provide information about which direction to  
 follow, and which serve as “signals” to where the 
 Bank might be heading in certain areas. Bank’s 
 KRIs are identified in the following areas: Human  
 Resources, Compliance, Processes and Systems;

- Scenario Analysis: It is performed by considering   
 operational incidents that may have high impact  
 on the Bank’s assets (Goodwill/Image, or Cash/ 
 Profitability).

The BOD is made aware of the Operational Risks that the 
Bank may encounter during its routine business activities, 
in order to pay due attention to the potential risks.

USD EAR

- 4%

- 23%

- 21% - 21% - 21%

- 25%

- 21%

- 7%
- 6%

- 3%

- 6%
- 5%

USD EV
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The BOD is responsible for regularly reviewing the 
Bank’s Operational Risk management policies and 
strategies determined by the Senior Management, in 
order to ensure the efficient and effective operation 
of the internal control and risk management systems. 
The Senior Management is responsible to implement 
the Operational Risk policies and strategies that are 
approved by the BOD. The Senior Management is 
responsible to circulate and inform the responsibilities 
regarding the Operational Risk policies and to 
establish communication channels in vertical and 
horizontal reporting lines across the Bank.
Operational incidents (whether losses or near misses) 
are categorized according to the Basel standards as 
follows:

- Internal fraud
- External fraud
- Employment practices and workplace safety
- Damage to physical assets
- Business disruption and system failures
- Clients, products, and business practices
- Execution, delivery, and process management

Each incident (loss or near miss) is associated to one 
of the following banking activity, identified by the Basel 
Accord:

- Corporate Finance
- Trading and Sales
- Retail Banking
- Commercial Banking
- Agency Services
- Asset Management
- Retail Brokerage
- Payment and Settlement

The Bank ensures to build Bank-wide systems and to 
improve processes that define, measure/evaluate, 
control, track and report Operational Risks and 
operational losses incurred. The Bank ensures that 
it has enough technology, employees and financial 
resources to support products and activities and that 
Senior Management understands that risks might arise 
from new products and services.

The Bank ensures that any proposals regarding 
new products and services, processes, systems/IT 
applications, will cover the following:

- A description of the product or service, or process, or 
  systems/IT applications by the responsible department
- A detailed assessment of the risks that may result from 
 the products, or services, processes, or systems IT 
 applications made by the Risk Management  Division
- An assessment of the Risk Management practices 
 and the establishment of  the necessary resources for  
 implementing an effective Risk Management for new
 products and services
- Implementing procedures to be followed in the  
 measurement, monitoring and controlling the risks 
 that may result from the new product or service.

The Bank adopts the following global Operational 
Risks controls and mitigating measures:

- A robust information security framework
- A comprehensive operations policy & procedures guide
- A strong AML/Compliance regime
- A comprehensive physical and logical access rights 
 restriction plan
- A certified business continuity plan with an adequate 
 disaster recovery site
- A broad insurance coverage for handling major 
 accidents/losses

For the risks that are considered as having high impact 
on the Bank’s operations but with a low probability of 
occurrence, and which cannot be covered by means 
of allocating additional capital, the Bank covers those 
risks by adequate insurance policy (ies) to reduce/
mitigate the losses that might arise from such hits. 

Residual Risk

The current controls and action-plans may not 
completely eliminate existing risks. Consequently, 
after all existing controls and action-plans are applied 
in order to mitigate risk; the remaining risk is called 
the “Residual Risk”.
 
Identifying Residual Risk is of high importance due to 
the fact that the Bank becomes aware of its existing 
risks. For Residual Risks, the Bank adopts one of the 
following techniques referred to as the 4 Ts:  

- Terminate (avoiding/mitigating the risk)
- Tolerate (retaining the risk and acquiring the  appropriate 
  insurance coverage)
- Treat (pre-loss reduction)
- Transfer (transfer the risk to a third party or  outsourcing)

The details regarding the Operational Risk 
processes have been documented in a complete and 
comprehensive Operational Risk Management Policy 
and Procedures Manual.

The Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process 
(ICAAP) is the primary process used by Bankmed for 
the assessment of capital levels in both normal and 
stressed operating conditions. In the ICAAP, the Bank 
sets its internal capital targets consistent with its risk 
profile and business plan.

The Bank’s ICAAP consists of an assessment of all the 
significant risks to which the Group is exposed. Besides 
the Pillar I risk types-Credit, Market and Operational 
Risks- the ICAAP covers Pillar II other risks including: 
Concentration Risk, Interest Rate in the Banking Book, 
Liquidity Risk, Strategic and Business Risks, Reputation 
Risk, and Compliance Risk.    

INTERNAL CAPITAL 
ADEQUACY ASSESSMENT 
PROCESS 

Stress Testing is a key management tool within the 
Bank, used as a core component of the Bank’s ICAAP 
and the Asset and Liability Management (ALM) 
processes. 

Stress Testing supports a number of business processes 
in the Bank including:

- Strategic planning 
- The ICAAP, including capital and liquidity planning 
- The development of the Bank’s recovery plan across 
  a range of stressed conditions.

Stress Tests assess the ability of Bankmed to 
continue its operations under stressed environment. 
Scenario analysis involves discussions between Risk 
Management and Senior Management to review the 
impact of the stress-tests on the Bank’s Capital Ratio 
and liquidity position and to make sure that the Bank 
has adequate capital and liquidity reserves to absorb 
the impact of these stressed scenarios if they were to 
occur in line with the assumed stress tests’ factors. 

Stress Testing 

The ICAAP considers the qualitative capital 
management processes within the bank and includes 
the Corporate Governance, Risk Management, and 
Capital Management. Furthermore, the Quantitative 
Internal Assessments of the Bank’s business model  are 
used to assess capital requirements to be held against 
all risks the Bank is or may become exposed to, in 
order to meet current and future needs, as well as to 
assess the Bank’s resilience under stressed conditions.

On October 6,  2015, BCCL issued Circular No. 283 
requiring banks to submit their ICAAPs on a yearly basis. 
On April 4, 2017, BCCL required banks to present 
their annual ICAAP based on year- end 2016 financial 
results and in compliance with Pillar II requirements of 
Basel framework and BDL Circular. 
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Pillar II Risks include other risks that are generally 
difficult to quantify and cannot be covered by capital. 

The Group’s business activities give rise to various risks, 
which include Concentration Risk, Strategic/Business 
Risk, Reputation Risk, and Compliance Risk. 

PILLAR II RISKS

Concentration Risk is the risk of loss arising from 
an excessive concentration of exposure to a single 
counterparty, an industry, a product, a geography, 
maturity, or collateral.

Concentration Risk is captured through monitoring 
and limits setting of large exposures, sector lending, 
collateral type, geographic spread and product type. 
In order to capture and measure Concentration Risk, 
the Bank is conducting a comprehensive and detailed 
review of the nature and composition of its portfolio 
on quarterly basis, and reporting the results to its 
Senior Management and Board of Directors’ (BOD) 
Risk Committee. 

The Bank’s credit concentration by sector, obligor, 
and country of utilization is subject to internal 
limits approved by the Executive Credit Committee 
and  stated in the Bank’s credit policy manual. Any 
exception over the stated limits is regularized or 
hedged by eligible mitigants. 

To manage actual or potential portfolio risk 
concentrations in areas of higher Credit Risk, the Bank 
implements hedging and other strategies. This is done 
at individual counterparty, sub-portfolio, and portfolio 
levels by:

- Reducing limits on risk concentration
- Adjusting the business strategy to address excessive 
  concentration 
- Diversifying asset allocation
- Liquidating certain assets 
- Hedging through obtaining additional collateral 
  guarantees.

Concentration Risk

The Bank conducted in 2016 a bottom-up (BU) solvency 
test as part of the IMF Financial Sector Assessment 
Program whereby the solvency test in question 
consisted of a baseline scenario and three adverse 
scenarios. For the BU tests, banks were requested to 
use their internal portfolio data and risk management 
infrastructure to run a stress test examining the impact 
of scenarios provided by the BCCL and the IMF. The 
scenarios were motivated by potential macroeconomic 
shocks. Tests were performed on the highest level of 
consolidation (group-level), including domestic as 
well as foreign activities. All risk-sensitive On and 
Off-Balance Sheet exposures, including sovereign 
exposures, in both the banking book and the trading 
book were subject to the BU stress test. The Bank had 
no capital shortfall under any of the assumed IMF 
scenarios throughout the projected stress period.

IMF Stress Test   

The Bank takes into account the results of stress testing 
when assessing its internal capital requirements where 
the stress results are included in the Bank’s ICAAP and 
communicated to the BOD for review and feedback.   

During 2016, the Bank ran several stress tests on a 
Group wide, business unit, regional and risk type 
basis to understand the impact that potential stress 
events could have on various portfolios. 

In order to successfully mitigate these risks, Bankmed has 
adopted robust control procedures backed by strong 
management and human resources and ongoing staff 
training and coaching.  

Strategic/Business Risk is the Risk that the Group’s 
business plan and strategies may be inadequate 
to prevent financial loss or protect the Group’s 
competitive position and shareholder returns.  

Strategic/Business Risk mainly arises from adverse 
business decisions, critical strategic choices, or 
unforeseen changes in the business and regulatory 
environment, or technological changes. 

At Bankmed, a specialized committee assesses the 
risks stemming from adopting new investments, 
credit products, and information systems acquired or 
developed internally. Once these risks are identified, 
preventive control procedures are taken into account, 
and the concerned business units develop the related 
policies and procedures in order to manage these 
products. 

Strategic/Business Risk

Reputation Risk is the risk of potential or actual 
damage to the Group’s image which may impair 
the profitability and/or sustainability of its business. 
Such damage may result from a breakdown of trust, 
confidence or business relationships on the part of 
customers, counterparties, shareholders, investors 
or regulators that can adversely affect the Group’s 
ability to maintain existing business or generate 
new business relationships and continued access to 
sources of funding. 

Compliance Risk is the risk of legal or regulatory 
sanctions that the Group may suffer as a result of 
its failure to comply with laws, regulations, codes of 
conduct and standards of good practice applicable to 
its financial services activities. It exposes the Bank to 
fines, civil money penalties, payment of damages, and 
the voiding of contracts. Breaches or non-compliance 
with Anti-Money Laundering (AML) regulations, 
legislation, or ethical standards contribute to the rise 
of Compliance Risk. 

Bankmed has zero risk tolerance for the aforementioned 
risks. They are mitigated by various policies and 
procedures.Reputation Risk

Compliance  Risk

Safeguarding the Bank’s reputation is of paramount 
importance. The Bank regards the management of 
Reputation Risk in terms of the Bank’s image, services 
and products offered as an extremely serious matter. 
Reputation Risk is mitigated  by a set of policies and 
procedures and in line with the Bank’s Code of Ethics. 
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THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES  1  TO  51  FORM  AN  INTEGRAL  PART  OF  THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BANKMED  S.A.L.
CONSOLIDATED  STATEMENT  OF  FINANCIAL  POSITION

Assets Notes   2016 2015

LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31,

Cash and deposits with central banks 6 3,144,916,838 4,351,222,325

Deposits with banks and financial institutions 7 1,190,466,581 1,114,739,704

Financial assets at fair value through

   profit or loss 8 350,220,933 637,314,405

Reverse repurchase agreements and loans to banks 9 690,110,678 316,789,257

Loans and advances to customers 10 7,160,939,423 7,408,844,872

Loans and advances to related parties 11 469,233,986 339,940,947

Investment securities 12 9,660,281,608 7,922,151,327

Customers’ acceptance liability 13 246,275,294 165,504,540

Investments in associates and other investments 14 65,004,872 68,844,001

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans 15 454,319,909 432,517,290

Goodwill 16 177,936,009 178,846,645

Property and equipment 17 339,521,875 316,266,471

Other assets 18 203,413,438 189,544,455

Total Assets  24,152,641,444 23,442,526,239

FINANCIAL  INSTRUMENTS  WITH

OFF-BALANCE  SHEET  RISKS 41  

Guarantees and standby letters of credit  1,921,222,167 2,079,060,571

Documentary and commercial letters of credit  301,932,122 454,053,131

Forward exchange contracts  903,004,861 1,247,794,209

FIDUCIARY  DEPOSITS  AND  ASSETS

UNDER  MANAGEMENT 42 1,587,304,863 1,493,808,308

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES  1  TO  51  FORM  AN  INTEGRAL  PART  OF  THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BANKMED  S.A.L.
CONSOLIDATED  STATEMENT  OF  FINANCIAL  POSITION
(Continued)

Liabilities Notes   2016 2015

Equity Notes   2016 2015

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

December 31,

December 31,

Deposits from banks and financial institutions 19 772,201,190 581,104,178

Customers’ deposits at fair value

   through profit or loss 20 25,141,568 29,865,037

Customers’ deposits at amortized cost 21 17,631,776,614 17,541,707,971

Related parties’ deposits at amortized cost 22 551,199,355 632,054,261

Acceptances payable 13 246,275,294 165,504,540

Borrowings from banks and financial institutions

and central banks 23 1,303,223,272 862,747,499

Certificates of deposit 24 754,428,162 753,244,239

Provisions 25 117,832,045 109,240,130

Perpetual subordinated convertible loan 26 157,156,875 152,189,353

Other liabilities 27 264,418,602 323,837,017

Total Liabilities  21,823,652,977 21,151,494,225

Share capital 28 630,000,000 630,000,000

Preferred shares 29 565,312,500 565,312,500

Legal reserve 30 155,566,642 136,490,391

Other reserves 30 357,667,017 295,520,084

Retained earnings  403,995,733 360,230,809

Cumulative change in fair value of financial

   assets through other comprehensive income 31 14,027,503 23,230,711

Currency translation adjustment  (168,091,748) (134,915,748)

Profit for the year  193,445,111 210,788,689

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Bank  2,151,922,758 2,086,657,436

Non-controlling interest 32 177,065,709 204,374,578

Total equity  2,328,988,467 2,291,032,014

Total Liabilities and Equity  24,152,641,444 23,442,526,239
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BANKMED  S.A.L.
CONSOLIDATED  STATEMENT  OF  PROFIT  OR  LOSS

 Notes   2016 2015

LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31, December 31,
Year Ended Year Ended

Interest income 33 1,370,598,604 1,331,331,131

Interest expense 34 (950,362,173) (880,946,313)

Net interest income  420,236,431 450,384,818

Fee and commission income 35 166,071,990 109,511,937

Fee and commission expense 36 (13,921,263) (16,207,524)

Net fee and commission income  152,150,727 93,304,413

Net results on financial instruments at

   fair value through profit or loss 37 28,509,289 46,342,114

Gain from financial assets measured at amortized cost 12 253,559,759 246,969,147

Other operating income (net) 38 53,502,355 75,524,015

Net operating revenues  907,958,561 912,524,507

Provision for credit losses (net of write-back) 10,11 (190,182,690) (142,888,473)

(Loss)/gain from write-off of loans  (122,301) 1,023,955

Net operating revenues after credit losses  717,653,570 770,659,989

Staff costs  (259,468,847) (251,079,069)

Administrative expenses 39 (185,572,790) (183,332,482)

Depreciation and amortization 15,17&18 (28,068,497) (28,377,399)

Write-back/(impairment) of assets acquired in

   satisfaction of loans (net) 15 4,478,112 (277,475)

Provision for contingencies (net of write-back) 25 (6,420,734) (17,563,186)

Provision for impairment of other financial assets  12, 18 (5,967,509) (24,266,035)

Profit before taxes  236,633,305 265,764,343

Income tax expense 27 (40,484,223) (56,123,065)

Profit for the year  196,149,082 209,641,278

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Bank  193,445,111 210,788,689

Non-controlling interest  2,703,971 (1,147,411) 

  196,149,082 209,641,278

Earnings per share:

Basic earnings per share 40  2.47 2.75 

Diluted earnings per share 40  2.50 2.57
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BANKMED  S.A.L.
CONSOLIDATED  STATEMENT  OF  PROFIT  OR  LOSS  AND  OTHER  
COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME

Profit for the year  196,149,082 209,641,278

Other comprehensive income (“OCI”)

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to

profit or loss:

Net gain on financial assets at fair

value through other comprehensive income 31 (8,590,498) 5,724,822

Income tax relating to components of OCI 31 1,293,631 (727,577)

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation  (673,137) (227,068)

  (7,970,004) 4,770,177

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to

profit or loss:

Currency translation adjustment  (68,962,250) (97,487,466)

  (68,962,250) (97,487,466)

Other comprehensive loss for the year  (76,932,254) (92,717,289)

Total comprehensive income for the year  119,216,828 116,923,989

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Bank  152,299,107 170,245,606

Non-controlling interest  (31,771,171) (53,321,617) 

  120,527,936 116,923,989

 Notes   2016 2015

LBP’000 LBP’000
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BANKMED S.A.L.
CONSOLIDATED  STATEMENT  OF  CHANGES  IN  EQUITY

Equity Attributable to the Bank Equity Attributable to the Bank

Other Reserves Other Reserves

Share 
Capital

Preferred 
Shares

Legal
Reserve

Property 
Revaluation 

Reserve

Reserve for
General

Banking Risks 
and Other
Reserves
LBP’000LBP’000LBP’000LBP’000LBP’000

Balance at December 31, 2014 630,000,000 565,312,500 116,763,107 3,213,000 187,375,906 50,101,022 334,808,558 18,233,466 (89,602,488) 188,707,712 2,004,912,783 257,696,195 2,262,608,978

Total comprehensive income – 2015 - - - - - - (227,068) 4,997,245 (45,313,260) 210,788,689 170,245,606 (53,321,617) 116,923,989

Difference of exchange - - - - - - (6,142,958) - - - (6,142,958) - (6,142,958)

Allocation of 2014 profit - - 19,727,284 - 31,527,507 23,302,649 114,150,272 - - (188,707,712) - - -

Transfer upon disposal of assets acquired

   in satisfaction of loans – Note 15 - - - - 2,136,392 (2,136,392) - - - - - - -

Dividends distributed – Notes 28 and 29 - - - - - - (82,818,281) - - - (82,818,281) - (82,818,281)

Other - - - - - - 460,286 - - - 460,286 - 460,286

Balance at December 31, 2015 630,000,000 565,312,500 136,490,391 3,213,000 221,039,805 71,267,279 360,230,809 23,230,711 (134,915,748) 210,788,689 2,086,657,436 204,374,578 2,291,032,014

Total comprehensive income - 2016  -  -   -  -   -   -  (673,137) (7,296,867) (33,176,000) 193,445,111 152,299,107 (31,771,171) 120,527,936

Difference of exchange  -  -   -  -   -   -  (3,382,566) -  -   -  (3,382,566)  -  (3,382,566)

Allocation of 2015 profit  -  -  19,076,251  -  35,918,622   26,228,311   129,565,505  -  -  (210,788,689) -  -  -

Transfer upon disposal of assets acquired

   in satisfaction of loans – Note 15  -  -   -  -  7,281,053  (7,281,053)  -  - -   -  -   -  -

Dividends distributed - Notes 28 and 29  -  -   -  -   -   -  (82,818,281) -  -   -  (82,818,281)  -  (82,818,281)

Dividends distributed to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - - (1,311,108) (1,311,108)

Increase in non-controlling interest due to capital increase  -  -   -  -   -   -   -  - -   -  - 5,773,410  5,773,410

Transfers  -  -   -  -   -  -  1,906,341  (1,906,341) -   -  -  -  -

Other  - -  - - -  - (832,938) - -  - (832,938)  - (832,938)

Balance at December 31, 2016  630,000,000   565,312,500   155,566,642   3,213,000   264,239,480   90,214,537   403,995,733   14,027,503  (168,091,748) 193,445,111  2,151,922,758 177,065,709 2,328,988,467
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LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Retained 
Earnings

Cumulative 
Change in Fair 

Value of Financial 
Assets through 

Other
Comprehensive 

Income

Currency 
Translation 
Adjustment

Profit for the 
Year Total

Total 
Equity

Reserve for
Assets Acquired 
in Satisfaction of 

Loans
Non-Control-
ling Interests 
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BANKMED  S.A.L.
CONSOLIDATED  STATEMENT  OF CASH  FLOWS

 Notes   2016 2015

LBP’000 LBP’000

Year Ended December 31,

Cash flows from operating activities:

Profit for the year  196,149,082 209,641,278

Adjustments for:

Write-back/(provision) of impairment of assets

 acquired in satisfaction of loans (Net) 15 (4,478,112) 277,475

Depreciation and amortization 15,17 & 18 28,068,497 28,377,399

Provision for credit losses (net) 10, 11 178,145,681 40,214,010

Provision for collective impairment (net) 10 12,037,009 102,674,463

Loss/(gain) from write-off of loans   122,301 (1,023,955)

Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity (net) 25 8,225,932 5,219,927

Provision for contingencies 25 6,420,734 17,563,186

Insurance technical provision 25 (361,660) 6,441,059

Unearned insurance premiums and claims   (19,087,339) 39,714,518

Provision for impairment of other financial assets   5,967,509 1,538,056

Effect of exchange rate fluctuation on goodwill 16 910,636 88,026

Impairment on deposits with other central banks 6 - 22,727,979

Amortization of commissions and discount on certificates of deposit 24 1,183,923 1,180,689

Amortization of capitalized cost on subordinated convertible loan   211,375  -

Realized gain on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 37 (2,059,896) (2,965,052)

Gain from derecognition of financial assets measured at amortized cost 12 (253,559,759) (246,969,147)

Unrealized loss/(gain) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 37 535,407 (8,648,282)

Income from associates at equity method 38 (6,480,094) (6,313,330)

Accretion of securities premium 38 13,624,691 11,956,513

Gain on disposal of property and equipment 38 (284,157) (702,798)

Gain on sale of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans 38 (9,381,108) (5,077,763)

Gain on sale of associates and other investments 38 - (17,722,027)

Deferred tax liability  - 6,030,000

Currency translation adjustment  (33,176,000) (45,313,260)

Decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   288,617,961 35,125,549

(Increase)/decrease in reverse repurchase agreements and loans to banks  (373,321,421) 537,191,832

Decrease/(increase) in loans and advances to customers 44 12,359,573 (709,254,931)

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES  1  TO  51  FORM  AN  INTEGRAL  PART  OF  THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BANKMED  S.A.L.
CONSOLIDATED  STATEMENT  OF CASH  FLOWS

 Notes   2016 2015

LBP’000 LBP’000

Year Ended December 31,

Increase in loans and advances to related parties  (129,293,039) (47,498,323)

Decrease in deposits with banks and financial institutions and

 compulsory deposits and deposits with central banks   1,167,908,408 101,592,491

Goodwill from acquisition of a subsidiary 16 - (2,019,644)

Increase in other assets  (29,250,437) (10,405,969)

Increase/(decrease) in deposits from banks and financial institutions  166,075,454 (95,209,651)

(Decrease)/increase in other liabilities 44 (42,114,978) 31,169,740

Decrease in customers’ accounts at fair value through profit or loss  (4,723,469) (11,107,896)

Increase in customers’ accounts at amortized cost  90,068,643 332,774,022

Decrease in related parties’ deposits at amortized cost  (80,854,906) (393,342,808)

Decrease in provisions for contingencies  (6,366,228) (10,554,905)

Decrease in non-controlling interest  (30,012,840) (52,174,206)

Exchange difference on retained earnings and legal reserves and other adjustments  (4,215,504) (5,682,678)

Net cash generated by/(used in) operating activities  1,147,611,869 (140,488,413)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Increase in investment securities 44 (1,504,203,548) (242,176,518)

Decrease/(increase) in investments in associates and other investments 44 10,319,223 7,459,750

Decrease in assets acquired in satisfaction of loans   2,629,869 4,131,297

Increase in property and equipment 44 (41,076,611) (38,657,198)

Proceeds from sale of associates  - - 33,128,914

Proceeds from sale of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans   34,156,771 27,298,897

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  457,028 1,474,990

Net cash used in by investing activities  (1,497,717,268) (207,339,868)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Perpetual subordinated convertible loan   4,756,147 152,189,353

Increase in borrowings from banks and financial institutions 23 440,475,773 77,978,844

Dividends paid   (82,818,281) (82,818,281)

Net cash generated by financing activities   362,413,639 147,349,916

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   12,308,240 (200,478,365)

Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning of year 44 1,165,167,281 1,365,645,646

Cash and cash equivalents – End of year 44 1,177,475,521 1,165,167,281

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES  1  TO  51  FORM  AN  INTEGRAL  PART  OF  THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BANKMED S.A.L.
NOTES  TO  THE  CONSOLIDATED  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS
YEAR  ENDED  DECEMBER  31, 2016

1. GENERAL  INFORMATION

Bankmed S.A.L. (the “Bank”) is a Lebanese joint stock company, registered under Number 5261 in the Lebanese 
Commercial Register on August 13, 1955 and under Number 22 in the list of banks published by the Central 
Bank of Lebanon.  The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) consist of 
conventional commercial and private banking through a network of 67 branches in Lebanon in addition to a 
branch in Cyprus and 3 branches in Iraq, a branch in Dubai International Financial Center (DIFC) that was newly 
established during 2015, a subsidiary in Switzerland, a subsidiary in Turkey (with 33 branches), a subsidiary 
financial institution in Lebanon (with 7 branches) and a subsidiary financial institution in Lebanon with a branch 
in the DIFC.  The Bank’s certificates of deposit are listed on the Luxemburg Stock Exchange.  Further information 
on the Group’s structure is provided in Note 3A.  

Bankmed S.A.L. is wholly owned by GroupMed (Holding) S.A.L. and its headquarters are located in Clemenceau, 
Beirut, Lebanon.

2.  APPLICATION  OF  NEW  AND  REVISED  INTERNATIONAL  FINANCIAL  REPORTING  
   STANDARDS (IFRS)

2.1  New and revised IFRSs applied with no material effect on the financial statements

The following new and revised IFRSs, which became effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2016, have been adopted in these financial statements. The application of these revised IFRSs has not 
had any material impact on the amounts reported for the current and prior years but may affect the accounting 
for future transactions or arrangements.

• IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements relating to Disclosure initiative

• Amendments to IFRS 11 Joint arrangements relating to accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint 
operations

• Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets relating to clarification 
of acceptable methods of depreciation and amortization

• Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants

• Amendments to IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements relating to accounting investments in subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates to be optionally accounted for using the equity method in separate financial 
statements

• Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
and IAS 28 Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures relating to applying the consolidation exception for 
investment entities

• Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012 – 2014 Cycle covering amendments to IFRS 5, IFRS 7, IAS 19 and IAS 34

2.2 New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective 

The Group has not yet applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Effective for annual periods
beginning on or afterNew and Revised IFRSs

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle 
amending IFRS 1, IFRS 12 and IAS 28

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes relating to the recognition 
of deferred tax assets for unrealized losses
Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows to provide 
disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities.

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration

The interpretation addresses foreign currency transactions or 
parts of transactions where:

• there is consideration that is denominated or priced in a 
foreign currency; 

• the entity recognizes a prepayment asset or a deferred 
income liability in respect of that consideration, in advance 
of the recognition of the related asset, expense or income; 
and 

• the prepayment asset or deferred income liability is 
      non-monetary.

Amendments to IFRS 2 Share Based Payment regarding 
classification and measurement of share based payment 
transactions

Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts:  Relating to the 
different effective dates of IFRS 9 and the forthcoming new 
insurance contracts standard.

The amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 
28 are effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2018, 
the amendment to IFRS 12 for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2017

January 1, 2017

January 1, 2017

January 1, 2018

January 1, 2018

January 1, 2018
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Effective for annual periods
beginning on or afterNew and Revised IFRSs

Amendments to IAS 40 Investment Property: Amends paragraph 
57 to state that an entity shall transfer a property to, or from, 
investment property when, and only when, there is evidence of 
a change in use. A change of use occurs if property meets, or 
ceases to meet, the definition of investment property. A change 
in management’s intentions for the use of a property by itself 
does not constitute evidence of a change in use. The paragraph 
has been amended to state that the list of examples therein is 
non-exhaustive.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures relating to the additional 
hedge accounting disclosures (and consequential amendments) 
resulting from the introduction of the hedge accounting chapter 
in IFRS 9

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (revised versions in 2013 and 2014)

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements 
for the classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 
9 was subsequently amended in October 2010 to include 
requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities and for derecognition, and in November 2013 to 
include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. 
Another revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 
mainly to include a) impairment requirements for financial 
assets and b) limited amendments to the classification and 
measurement requirements by introducing a ‘fair value through 
other comprehensive income’ (FVTOCI) measurement category 
for certain simple debt instruments.

A finalized version of IFRS 9 which contains accounting 
requirements for financial instruments, replacing IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The standard 
contains requirements in the following areas:

• Classification and measurement: Financial assets are 
classified by reference to the business model within which 
they are held and their contractual cash flow characteristics. 
The 2014 version of IFRS 9 introduces a ‘fair value through 
other comprehensive income’ category for certain debt 
instruments. Financial liabilities are classified in a similar 
manner to under IAS 39, however there are differences in 
the requirements applying to the measurement of an entity’s 
own credit risk.

• Impairment: The 2014 version of IFRS 9 introduces an 
‘expected credit loss’ model for the measurement of the 

January 1, 2018

When IFRS 9 is first applied

January 1, 2018

Effective for annual periods
beginning on or afterNew and Revised IFRSs

impairment of financial assets, so it is no longer necessary for a 
credit event to have occurred before a credit loss is recognised 

• Hedge accounting: Introduces a new hedge accounting model 
that is designed to be more closely aligned with how entities 
undertake risk management activities when hedging financial and 
non-financial risk exposures. 

• Derecognition: The requirements for the derecognition of 
financial assets and liabilities are carried forward from IAS 39.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In May 2014, IFRS 15 was issued which established a single 
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue 
arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the 
current revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 
11 Construction Contracts and the related interpretations when it 
becomes effective.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognize revenue 
to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in 
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to 
be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the 
standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract.

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations 
in the contract.

• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a 
performance obligation.

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises when (or as) a performance 
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the goods or services 
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the 
customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 
to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are 
required by IFRS 15.

Amendments to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
to clarify three aspects of the standard (identifying performance 
obligations, principal versus agent considerations, and licensing) and 

January 1, 2018

January 1, 2018
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to provide some transition relief for modified contracts and completed 
contracts.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 specifies how an IFRS reporter will recognise, measure, 
present and disclose leases. The standard provides a single lessee 
accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and liabilities 
for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying 
asset has a low value. Lessors continue to classify leases as operating 
or finance, with IFRS 16’s approach to lessor accounting substantially 
unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 17.

Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 
28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011) relating to the 
treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from and investor to its 
associate or joint venture.

January 1, 2019

Effective date deferred indefinitely

Effective for annual periods
beginning on or afterNew and Revised IFRSs

Except for IFRS 9, the Directors of the Group do not anticipate that the application of these amendments will have 
a significant effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
 

3. SIGNIFICANT  ACCOUNTING  POLICIES

Statement of Compliance:

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Basis of Preparation and Measurement:

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:

-  Land and buildings acquired prior to 1993 are measured at their revalued amounts based on market prices  
 prevailing during 1996, to compensate for the effect of the hyper-inflationary economy prevailing in the earlier  
 years.
-  Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss are measured at fair value.
-  Equity securities at fair value through other comprehensive income are measured at fair value.
- Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value.

Assets and liabilities are grouped according to their nature and are presented in an approximate order that 
reflects their relative liquidity.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below:

A. Basis of Consolidation:

The consolidated financial statements of Bankmed S.A.L. incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and 
entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Bank and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the 
Group:

• has power over the investee;
• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee 
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee 
unilaterally.  The Bank considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Bank’s voting 
rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

•  the size of the Bank’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;
•  potential voting rights held by the Bank, other vote holders or other parties;
• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
•  any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Bank has, or does not have, the current ability to 
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous 
shareholders’ meetings.

 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Group loses control of the subsidiary.  Income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the 
year are included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group 
gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Non-controlling interest represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets of subsidiaries not owned directly or 
indirectly by the Group. Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed 
to the equity holders of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance. 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

•  Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
• Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;
• Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
• Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received;
•  Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained at the date of loss of control;
• Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; and
•  Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in OCI to profit or loss or retained earnings, 
as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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The consolidated subsidiaries as at December 31, comprise:

Country of
Incorporation

Percentage 
of Owner-

ship2016 2015

Date of
Acquisition or 
Incorporation

Business
Activity

Banks and Financial Institutions:

Real Estate:

Insurance:

Saudi Lebanese Bank S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100  January 1, 1995 Commercial Banking

Med-Investment Bank S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 January 24, 1996 Investment Banking

Bankmed Suisse - S.A. Switzerland 100 100 August 31, 2001 Private Banking

Allied Business Investment

    Corporation S.A.L.  Lebanon 70.9 70.9 November 30, 2001 Financial and Fund Management

Turkland Bank A.S. Turkey 50 50 January 28, 2007 Commercial Banking

Saudi Med Investment Company Saudi Arabia 100 100 May 21, 2007 Corporate Finance Advisory and 
     asset management

MedSecurities Investment

Company S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 November 27, 2007 Financial Institution

Emkan Finance S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 May 19, 2011 Financial Institution

Al Hana Real Estate S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 December 1, 1995 Owns Bank’s Premises

Al Jinan Real Estate S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 December 1, 1995 Owns Bank’s Premises

Al Shams Real Estate S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 December 1, 1995 Owns Bank’s Premises

Centre Méditerranée S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 January 16, 1996 Owns Bank’s Premises

Al Hosn Real Estate II S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 February 27, 2004 Owns Bank’s Premises

146 Saifi S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 January 19, 2010 Owns Bank’s Premises

Al Narjess Real Estate S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 February 23, 2011 Real Estate

Al Anshita Real Estate S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 February 23, 2011 Real Estate

Al Bani S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 April 18, 2011 Real Estate

Al Hosn Real Estate S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 October 11, 2011 Real Estate

Anbar Real Estate S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 October 11, 2011 Real Estate

Sakhret Bahr Real Estate S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 October 11, 2011 Real Estate

Laura Real Estate S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 November 14, 2011 Real Estate

Al Zomorodah Real Estate S.A.L Lebanon 100 100 May 28, 2012 Real Estate

528 Real Estate S.A.L Lebanon 100 100 May 4, 2012 Real Estate

Al Sabah Real Estate S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 July 4, 2012 Real Estate

GroupMed Insurance

Brokers S.A.L. (GMIB) Lebanon 100 100 May 20, 2003 Insurance Brokerage

GroupMed Insurance

Brokers- Saudi Arabia  Saudi Arabia  55 55 June 20, 2014 Insurance Brokerage

Turkland Sigorta A.S. (previously

Demir Sigorta A.S.) Turkey 55 55 April 17, 2013 Insurance Company

Continental Trust Insurance

and Reinsurance S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 December 29, 2014 Insurance Company

Country of
Incorporation

Percentage of 
Ownership

2016 2015

Date of
Acquisition or 
Incorporation

Business
Activity

Other:

     Investment in shares and
MIB Investment S.A.L. (Holding) Lebanon 100 100 December 24, 1996 management of companies

Medfinance Holdings Ltd. BVI 100 100 January 1, 2003 Any activity outside of BVI

Med Properties Management S.A.L. Lebanon 100 100 January 15, 2009 Real estate management services
     Investment in shares and
Med Properties S.A.L. Holding Lebanon 100 100 April 23, 2008  management of companies 

     Investment in shares and
Cynvest S.A.L. Holding Lebanon 100 100 December 23, 2008 management of companies

GroupMed Advisory

     Investment in shares and
     Services Limited Cyprus 100 100 January 26, 2008 management of companies

MedGlobal Investment

     Investment in shares and 
     S.A.L. Holding  Lebanon 100 100 January 24, 2015 management of companies

Hawthorn Issuer Limited Cayman Island 100 100 November 13, 2015 Financial and Fund Management

B. Business Combinations:

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 
business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values 
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree 
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs 
other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities are generally recognized in profit or loss 
as incurred.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. 
Such amounts are generally recognized in profit or loss.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if 
any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. 
When the excess is negative, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired 
and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at 
the acquisition date.  If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the 
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in profit or loss.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets (excluding goodwill) of consolidated subsidiaries and associates are 
identified separately from the Group’s equity therein.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share 
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling 
interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS. 

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting 
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from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair 
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value 
of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, 
with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise 
from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the 
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. 

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify 
as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent 
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is 
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IFRS 9, or IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. 
 

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 
remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in profit or loss. 
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognized 
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if 
that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or 
liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the 
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognized at that date. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction.

C. Foreign Currencies:

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Lebanese pounds (“LBP”), which is the Group’s reporting 
currency.  However, the primary currency of the economic environment in which the Group operates (functional 
currency) is the U.S. Dollar (“USD”).  The exchange rate of the USD against the LBP has been constant for several 
years.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise 
except for exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks, 
and except for exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for 
which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future, which are recognized in other 
comprehensive income, and presented in the translation reserve in equity. These are recognized in profit or loss 
on disposal of the net investment.   

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations are translated into Lebanese Pound using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting 
period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange 
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions 
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in equity (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate). Such exchange differences are recognized in 
profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.
 

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over 
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling 
interests and are not recognized in profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets and liabilities acquired arising on the acquisition of 
a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of 
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognized in other 
comprehensive income.

D. Financial Assets and Liabilities:

Recognition and Derecognition:

The Group initially recognizes loans and advances, deposits debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities 
on the date that they are originated.  All other financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized on the trade 
date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition 
of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit 
or loss.

A financial asset (or a part of a financial asset, or a part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognized, 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire.

In instances where the Group is assessed to have transferred a financial asset, the asset is derecognized if 
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.  Where the Group has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, the financial asset is derecognized 
only if the Group has not retained control of the financial asset.  The Group recognizes separately as assets or 
liabilities any rights and obligations created or retained in the process.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortized cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognized in profit or loss.

Upon derecognition of a financial asset that is classified as fair value through other comprehensive income, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit 
or loss, but is reclassified to retained earnings. 

Debt securities exchanged against securities with longer maturities with similar risks, and issued by the same 
issuer, are not derecognized because they do not meet the conditions for derecognition.  Premiums and discounts 
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derived from the exchange of said securities are deferred to be amortized as a yield enhancement on a time 
proportionate basis, over the period of the extended maturities.
 
A financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) can only be derecognized when it is extinguished, that is 
when the obligation specified in the contract is either discharged, cancelled or expires.

The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid 
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognized in profit or loss.

Day 1 gain or loss

When the transaction price differs from the fair value of other observable current market transactions in the same 
instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable markets, the 
Group immediately recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair value as a “Day 1 gain or 
loss” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  In cases where fair value is determined using data which is not 
observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss when the inputs become observable, or when the instrument is derecognized.

Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase Agreements:

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a specified future date (“repos”) are not derecognized from 
the consolidated statement of financial position.  The corresponding cash received, including accrued interest, 
is recognized on the consolidated statement of financial position reflecting its economic substances as a loan to 
the Group.  The difference between the sale and repurchase prices is treated as interest expense and is accrued 
over the life of the agreement using the effective interest rate method.

Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell at a specified date are not recognized in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.  The consideration paid, including accrued interest is recorded in 
the consolidated statement of financial position reflecting the transaction’s economic substance as a loan by the 
Group.  The difference between the purchase and resale prices is treated as interest income in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the effective interest rate method.

Offsetting:

Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the net amount is presented in the statement of financial position 
when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to set off the amounts or intends either to settle on a net basis 
or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Fair Value Measurement:

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption 
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

• In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
•  In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a 
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 

economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
measurement as a whole:

•  Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

•  Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement  
   is directly or indirectly observable.

•  Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement  
  is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines 
whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of 
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained 
above.

Impairment of Financial Assets:

Financial assets that are measured at amortized cost are assessed for impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one 
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial assets, the estimated future cash flows of 
the asset have been affected. 

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

•  breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

•  it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organization; or 

•  the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
 
•  significant or prolonged decline in fair value beyond one business cycle that occurred after the initial 
  recognition of the financial asset or group of financial assets which impacted the estimated future cash flows 
  of the investment.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as loans and advances, assets that are assessed not to be impaired 
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. This provision is estimated based 
on various factors including credit ratings allocated to a borrower or group of borrowers, the current economic 
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conditions, the experience the Group has had in dealing with a borrower or group of borrowers and available 
historical default information, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that 
correlate with default on loans and advances.

The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows reflecting the amount of collateral and guarantee, discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the 
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been 
recognised. 

Collateral Valuation:

The Group seeks to use collateral, where possible, to mitigate its risks on financial assets. The collateral comes 
in various forms, such as cash, securities, letters of credit/guarantees, real estate, other non-financial assets and 
credit enhancements such as netting agreements. The fair value of collateral is generally assessed, at a minimum, 
at inception and periodically updated based on the Group’s policies and type of collateral. 

To the extent possible, the Group uses active market data for valuing financial assets held as collateral. Other 
financial assets which do not have readily determinable market value are valued using models. Non-financial 
collateral, such as real estate, is valued based on data provided by third parties, such as independent accredited 
experts and other independent sources. 

E. Classification of Financial Assets:

All recognized financial assets are measured in their entirety at either amortized cost or fair value, depending 
on their classification.

Debt Instruments:

 Non-derivative debt instruments that meet the following two conditions are subsequently measured at amortized 
cost, less impairment loss (except for debt investments that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss 
on initial recognition):

•  They are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets in order to collect the 
  contractual cash flows, rather than to sell the instrument prior to its contractual maturity to realize its fair    
  value changes, and

•  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely   
   payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Debt instruments which do not meet both of these conditions are measured at fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”). In addition, debt instruments that meet the amortized cost criteria but are designated as at FVTPL are 
measured at FVTPL.

Even if a debt instrument meets the two amortized cost criteria above, it may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency 
that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses on them on 
different bases.

Equity Instruments:

Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an investment that is 
not held for trading as at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) on initial recognition (see 
below).
 Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any gains or losses 
arising on re-measurement recognized in profit or loss. 

On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to 
designate investments in equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”). 
Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are measured at fair value. Gains and losses on such equity 
instruments are recognized in other comprehensive income, accumulated in equity and are never reclassified 
to profit or loss. Only dividend income is recognized in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a 
recovery of part of the cost of the investment, in which case it is recognized in other comprehensive income. 
Cumulative gains and losses recognized in other comprehensive income are transferred to retained earnings on 
disposal of an investment.

Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading.

A financial asset is held for trading if:
 

•  it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

•  on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 
   together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•  it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument or a financial guarantee.

Reclassification:

 Financial assets are reclassified between FVTPL and amortized cost or vice versa, if and only if, the Group’s 
business model objective for its financial assets changes so its previous model assessment would no longer apply. 
When reclassification is appropriate, it is done prospectively from the reclassification date.  

Reclassification is not allowed where: 

•  the other comprehensive income option has been exercised for a financial asset, or 

•  the fair value option has been exercised in any circumstance for a financial instrument.

Designation at Fair Value through Profit and Loss:

The Group designates financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss when either:

• The assets or liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis; or

• The designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would otherwise arise; or

• The asset or liability contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows that would 
  otherwise be required under the contract.
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F. Loans and Advances:

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market.  Loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost, less any impairment.  Interest 
income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate.  Non-performing loans and advances to customers 
are stated net of unrealized interest and provision for credit losses because of doubts and the probability of non-
collection of principal and/or interest.

G. Financial Liabilities and Equity Instruments Issued by the Group:

Classification as Debt or Equity:

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an 
equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss:

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is either held for trading or it is designated 
as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

•  it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

•  on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages 
   together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 

•  it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective  
   hedging instrument. 

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if:

•  such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 
  otherwise arise; or 

•  the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is 
   managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented 
  risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that 
  basis; or

•  it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and the entire combined contract 
   is designated as at FVTPL in accordance with IFRS 9.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value. Any gains or losses arising on remeasurement of held-for-
trading financial liabilities are recognised in profit or loss. Such gains or losses that are recognised in profit or 
loss incorporate any interest paid on the financial liabilities and are included in the “Net interest and gain and 

loss on liabilities at FVTPL” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

However, for non-held-for-trading financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in 
the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised 
in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in 
other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. The remaining 
amount of change in the fair value of liability is recognised in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a 
financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in other comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified 
to profit or loss. 

Financial Liabilities Subsequently Measured at Amortised Cost:

Financial liabilities that are not held-for-trading and are not designated as at FVTPL are measured at amortised cost 
at the end of subsequent accounting periods. The carrying amounts of financial liabilities that are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost are determined based on the effective interest method. 

Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities:

Financial guarantees contracts are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the 
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the 
terms of a debt instrument.  These contracts can have various judicial forms (guarantees, letters of credit, credit-
insurance contracts).

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and, if not designated at FVTPL, 
are subsequently measured at the higher of:

• the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and
• the amount initially recognized less, where appropriate, cumulative amortization recognized in accordance 
with the revenue recognition policies set out above.

H. Derivative Financial Instruments:

Derivative financial instruments including foreign exchange contracts, currency and interest rate swaps, (both 
written and purchased) are initially measured at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered into and 
are subsequently re-measured to their fair value at each statement of financial position date.  All derivatives 
are carried at their fair value as assets where the fair value is positive and as liabilities where the fair value is 
negative.  The resulting gain or loss is recognized in the income statement immediately unless the derivative is 
designated and effective as a hedge instrument in which event the timing of the recognition in the statement of 
profit or loss depends on the hedge relationship.  The Group designates certain derivatives as either hedges of 
the fair value recognized assets or liabilities or firm commitments (fair value hedges), hedges of highly probable 
forecast transactions or hedges of foreign currency risk of firm commitments (cash flow hedges), or hedges of net 
investments in foreign operations.

Fair values are generally obtained by reference to quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models or pricing 
models as appropriate as indicated under Note 3D.

Embedded Derivatives:

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts with embedded derivatives are 
treated as separate derivatives when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host 
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contracts and the host contract:

•  is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.
• is not an asset within the scope of IFRS 9.

Hedge Accounting:

The Group makes use of derivative instruments to manage exposures to interest rate, foreign currency and credit 
risks, including exposures arising from forecast transactions and firm commitments. In order to manage particular 
risks, the Group applies hedge accounting for transactions which meet the specified criteria.

At inception of the hedge relationship, the Group formally documents the relationship between the hedged item 
and the hedging instrument, including the nature of the risk, the objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge 
and the method that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship.

At each hedge effectiveness assessment date, a hedge relationship must be expected to be highly effective on 
a prospective basis and demonstrate that it was effective (retrospective effectiveness) for the designated period 
in order to qualify for hedge accounting. A formal assessment is undertaken to ensure the hedging instrument is 
expected to be highly effective in offsetting the designated risk in the hedged item, both at inception and at each 
quarter end on an ongoing basis. A hedge is expected to be highly effective if the changes in fair value or cash 
flows attributable to the hedged risk during the period for which the hedge is designated are expected to offset 
in a range of 80% to 125% and are expected to achieve such offset in future periods. Hedge ineffectiveness 
is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in “Net results on financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss”. For situations where that hedged item is a forecast transaction, the Group also assesses 
whether the transaction is highly probable and presents an exposure to variations in cash flows that could 
ultimately affect the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Fair Value Hedge:

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in 
profit or loss immediately, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged item that are attributable 
to the hedged risk. The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change in the hedged item 
attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in the line of the statement of profit or loss relating to the hedged 
item.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. The adjustment to the 
carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk is amortized to profit or loss from that date. 
 

Cash Flow Hedge:

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow 
hedges is recognized in other comprehensive income.  The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 
recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to 
profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognized in profit or loss, in the same line of the income 
statement as the recognized hedged item.  However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the 
recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity 
are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or 
loss deferred in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognized when the forecast transaction is ultimately 
recognized in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or 
loss that was deferred in equity is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Hedges of Net Investments in Foreign Operations:

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or 
loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognized in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve.  The gain or loss relating to the ineffective 
portion is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Gains and losses accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on 
disposal of the foreign operation.

I. Investments in Associates:

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over 
those policies.

The considerations made in determining significant influence are similar to those necessary to determine control 
over subsidiaries.
 
The results and assets and liabilities of associates, except where the Group has control over the associates’ 
financial and operating policies, are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted 
for under IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations.   Under the equity method, an 
investment in an associate is initially recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and 
adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the 
associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate, the 
Group discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized only to the extent 
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities of an associate recognized at the date of acquisition is recognized as goodwill.  The 
goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment.  Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, 
is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

The entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with 
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and 
fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount, Any impairment loss recognized forms part of the carrying 
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognized in accordance with IAS 36 to the 
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an associate 
or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate 
or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair 
value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between 
the carrying amount of the associate at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of 
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any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate is included in the 
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts 
previously recognized in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same basis as would 
be required if that associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss 
previously recognized in other comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on 
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss 
(as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued. 

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the Group continues to use the equity method, 
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been recognized 
in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be 
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities. 
 

When a Group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions 
with the associate are recognized in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests 
in the associate that are not related to the Group. 

The financial statements of the associates are prepared for the same reporting period of the Group.

J. Property and Equipment:

Property and equipment except for buildings acquired prior to 1993 are stated at historical cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment loss.  Buildings acquired prior to 1993 are stated at their revalued amounts, 
based on market prices prevailing during 1996 less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any.  
Resulting revaluation surplus is reflected under “Equity”.

“Land held for banking operations” are measured at fair value at the date of the revaluation less impairment 
losses. Valuations are performed with sufficient frequency to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does 
not differ from its carrying amount.

A revaluation surplus is recorded in OCI and credited to the asset revaluation reserve in equity. However, to the 
extent that it reserves a revaluation deficit of the same asset previously recognized in profit or loss, the increase 
is recognized in profit and loss. A revaluation deficit is recognized in the statement of profit or loss, except to the 
extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset recognized in the asset revaluation reserve.

Depreciation of property and equipment, other than land and advance payments on capital expenditures, is 
calculated systematically using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets using 
the following annual rates:

Buildings  2%
Office improvements and installations  12.5 % - 20%
Furniture  8% - 20%
Equipment and machines  7% - 25%
Computer equipment  20% - 33.33%
Vehicles  10% - 20%

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is recognized under “Other 
operating income” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognized.

Properties in the course of construction are carried at cost, less any recognized impairment loss. Cost includes 
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalized in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate categories of property and equipment when 
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, 
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. 
 

Depreciation on revalued buildings is recognized in profit or loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of 
a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the properties revaluation reserve is 
transferred directly to retained earnings. 

On January 1, 2013, the Group elected to change the method of accounting for land held for banking operations 
classified in property and equipment.

After initial recognition, the Group uses the revaluation model, whereby land held for banking operations will 
be measured at fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
subsequent accumulated impairment losses. The Group applied the exemptions in IAS 8, which exempts this 
change in accounting policy from retrospective application and extensive disclosure requirements.

K. Intangible Assets other than Goodwill:

Intangible assets consisting of computer software are amortized over a period of three years and are subject 
to impairment testing. Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalized only when it increases the 
future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as 
incurred.

L. Goodwill:

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of 
the business.   Refer to Note 3B for the measurement of goodwill at initial recognition. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the combination.  Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated 
are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.  
If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment 
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other 
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.  An impairment loss 
recognized for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described under “Investments in 
associates and other investments”.
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M. Assets Acquired in Satisfaction of Loans:

The Lebanese banking entities of the Group account for collateral repossessed in accordance with the Central 
Bank of Lebanon main circular 78 and the Banking Control Commission circulars 173 and 267. Repossessed 
assets should be sold within two years from the date of approval of repossession by the Banking Control 
Commission. These are immediately transferred to “Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans” at their fair value at 
the repossession date, as approved by the Banking Control Commission and subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment, if any.

Upon sale of repossessed assets, any gain or loss realized is recognized in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss under “Other operating income” or “Other operating expenses”. Gains resulting from the sale 
of repossessed assets are transferred to “Reserves for assets acquired in satisfaction of loans” starting in the 
following financial year. 

For assets which were not disposed of within the specified period of two years, an amount computed as 
percentage of their gross carrying value is transferred to “Reserves for assets acquired in satisfaction of loans” 
in the following financial year. 

N. Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets (Other than Goodwill):

At each statement of financial position date, the carrying amounts of tangible and intangible assets are reviewed 
to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated in order to determine the extent of impairment provision 
required, if any.

Recoverable amount is defined as the higher of:

-  Fair value that reflects market conditions at the statement of financial position date, less cost to sell, if any.   
  To determine fair value, the Group adopts the market comparability approach using as indicators the current 
  prices for similar assets in the same location and condition.

-  Value in use: the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of the 
  asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life, only applicable to assets with cash generation units.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the 
asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit 
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment 
loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

In this connection, the recoverable amount of the Group’s owned properties and of properties acquired in 
satisfaction of debts, is the estimated market value, as determined by real estate appraisers on the basis of 
market compatibility by comparing with similar transactions in the same geographical area and on the basis of 
the expected value of a current sale between a willing buyer and a willing seller, that is, other than in a forced 
or liquidation sale after adjustment for illiquidity and market constraints.

The impairment loss is charged to income.

O. Employees’ Benefits:

Obligations for contributions to defined employees’ benefits are recognized as an expense on a current basis.

Employees’ End-of-Service Indemnities:  (Under the Lebanese Jurisdiction)

The provision for staff termination indemnities is based on the liability that would arise if the employment of all 
the staff were terminated at the statement of financial position date.  This provision is calculated in accordance 
with the directives of the Lebanese Social Security Fund and Labor laws based on the number of years of service 
multiplied by the monthly average of the last 12 months’ remunerations and less contributions paid to the 
Lebanese Social Security National Fund.

Defined Benefit Plans:  (Under other jurisdictions)

Obligations in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the 
amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; 
that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and any unrecognized past service costs and the fair 
value of any plan assets are deducted.

P. Provisions:

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is 
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provision is measured at the best estimate of 
the consideration required to settle the obligation at the statement of financial position date.

Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 
amount is the present value of those cash flows determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received 
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
 
Q. Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs:

Commissions and other costs directly related to the acquisition and renewal of insurance contracts are deferred 
and amortized over the terms of the insurance contracts to which they relate, similar to premiums earned. All 
other acquisition costs are recognized as an expense when incurred. Amortization is recorded under “insurance 
expense incurred” in the consolidated other operating income note.

Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied 
in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period and are treated as a change in accounting 
estimate.

An impairment review is performed at each reporting date or more frequently when an indication of impairment 
arises. If the assumptions relating to future profitability of these policies are not realized, the amortization of these 
costs could be accelerated and this may also require additional impairment write-offs in the statement of income. 
Deferred policy acquisition costs are also considered in the liability adequacy test for each reporting period and 
are reflected under consolidated other assets.
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R. Premiums and Insurance Balances Receivable:

Premiums and insurance balances receivable are recognized when due and measured on initial recognition at 
the fair value of the considerations received or receivable. The carrying value of premiums receivable is reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Any 
impairment loss is recorded in the statement of comprehensive income. If in a subsequent period, the amount of 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal is recognized in 
the statement of comprehensive income. Premiums receivable are derecognized when the derecognition criteria 
for financial assets have been met.

Premiums and insurance balances receivable are reflected under consolidated other assets.

S. Claims and Expenses Recognition:

Claims, comprising amounts payable to contract holders and third parties and related loss adjustment expenses, 
net of salvage and other recoveries, are charged to income as incurred and are reflected under “insurance 
expense incurred” in the consolidated other operating income note. Claims comprise the estimated amounts 
payable, in respect of claims reported to the Company and those not reported at the date of the statement of 
financial position.

The Company generally estimates its claims based on previous experience. Independent loss adjusters normally 
estimate property claims. In addition, a provision based on management’s judgment and the Company’s prior 
experience is maintained for the cost of settling claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) at the date of the 
statement of financial position reflected under other liabilities. Any difference between the provisions at the date 
of the statement of financial position and settlements and provisions for the following year is included in the 
underwriting account for that year.

Change in IBNR is reflected under “insurance expense incurred” in the consolidated other operating income 
note.

T. Reinsurance:

The Company cedes insurance risk in the normal course of business for all of its businesses. Reinsurance assets 
represent balances due from reinsurance companies reflected under consolidated other assets. Recoverable 
amounts are estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding claims provision and are in accordance with 
the reinsurance contract.

An impairment review is performed at each reporting date or more frequently when an indication of impairment 
arises during the reporting year. Impairment occurs when objective evidence exists that the Company may 
not recover outstanding amounts under the terms of the contract and when the impact on the amounts that 
the Company will receive from the reinsurer can be measured reliably. The impairment loss is recorded in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

Ceded reinsurance arrangements do not relieve the Company from its obligations to policyholders.

Premiums and claims on assumed reinsurance are recognized as income and expenses in the same manner as 
they would be if the reinsurance were considered direct business, taking into account the product classification 
of the reinsured business.

Reinsurance liabilities represent balances due to reinsurance companies and are reflected under consolidated 
other liabilities. Amounts payable are estimated in a manner consistent with the associated reinsurance contract.

Premiums and claims are presented on a gross basis for both ceded and assumed reinsurance.

Reinsurance assets or liabilities are derecognized when the contractual rights are extinguished or expire or when 
the contract is transferred to another party.

U. Reinsurance Claims:

Reinsurance claims are recognized when the related gross insurance claim is recognized according to the 
terms of the relevant contract. These are reflected against claims under “insurance expense incurred” in the 
consolidated other operating income note.
 
V. Insurance Contract Liabilities:

Non-life insurance contract liabilities are recognized when contracts are entered into and premiums are charged. 
These liabilities are known as the outstanding claims provision reflected under “insurance technical provisions” 
in the consolidated provisions note, which are based on the estimated ultimate cost of all claims incurred but not 
settled at the date of the statement of financial position, whether reported or not, together with related claims 
handling costs and reduction for the expected value of salvage and other recoveries. Delays can be experienced 
in the notification and settlement of certain types of claims, therefore the ultimate cost of these cannot be known 
with certainty at the date of the statement of financial position. The liability is calculated at the reporting date using 
a range of standard actuarial claim projection techniques, based on empirical data and current assumptions 
that may include a margin for adverse deviation. The liability is not discounted for the time value of money. No 
provision for recognized or catastrophe reserves is recognized. The liabilities are recognized when the contract 
expires, is discharged or is cancelled and are reflected under “insurance expense incurred” in the consolidated 
other operating income note.

The provision for unearned premiums represents that portion of premiums received or receivable that relates to 
risks that have not yet expired at the reporting date. The provision is recognized when contracts are entered 
into and premiums are charged, and is brought to account as premium income over the term of the contract in 
accordance with the pattern of insurance service provided under the contract.

W. Deferred Restricted Contributions:

Restricted contributions derived from special and non-conventional deals arrangement concluded with the 
regulator are deferred until designated conditions for recognition are met.  At the time income is received, it is 
deferred under “regulatory deferred liability” and applied to the designated purpose according to the regulator’s 
requirements.
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X. Revenue and Expense Recognition:

Interest income and expense are recognized on an accrual basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and 
the rate applicable, except for non-performing loans and advances for which interest income is only recognized 
upon realization.  Interest income and expense include the amortization discount or premium.

Interest income and expense presented in the statement of profit or loss include:

  - Interest on financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost.
  - Fair value changes in qualifying derivatives, including hedge ineffectiveness, and related hedged items when   
    interest rate risk is the hedged risk.
 

Net trading income presented in the statement of profit or loss includes:

- Interest income and expense on the trading portfolio.
- Dividend income on the trading equities.
- Realized and unrealized gains and losses on the trading portfolio.

Interest income on financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss and interest income on the trading 
portfolio are presented separately in the statement of profit or loss.

Other net income from financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, other than those held for 
trading, includes:

- Dividend income.
- Realized and unrealized fair value changes.
- Foreign exchange differences.

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established. Dividends on equity instruments 
designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income in accordance with IFRS 9, are presented in 
other revenue, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the investment, in which case it is 
presented in other comprehensive income.

Fees and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or 
liability (i.e. commissions and fees earned on the loan book) are included under interest income and expense.

Other fees and commission income are recognized as the related services are performed.

Insurance revenue

Gross premiums 
Gross premiums are recognized at the time when the risk commences under a policy or contract of insurance 
incepted during the accounting period. Premium includes any adjustments arising in the accounting period for 
premiums receivable in respect of business written in prior accounting periods. Gross premiums from life and 
non-life insurance contracts are taken to income over the terms of the policies to which they relate using the 

recognized prorate temporis method. For gross earned single premium business, revenue is recognized on the 
date from which the policy is effective. 

Gross changes in the unearned premiums are recorded against premiums. Unearned premiums reserve 
represents the portion of the gross premiums relating to the unexpired period of coverage. Unearned premiums 
are calculated on a daily pro rata basis. The proportion attributable to subsequent periods is deferred as a 
provision for unearned premiums. 
 
The provision for unearned premiums represents premiums received for risks that have not yet expired and is 
reflected under “insurance technical provisions” in the consolidated provisions note. Generally, the reserve is 
recognized over the term of the contract and is recognized as premium income.

Net premiums earned are reflected under “insurance income earned” in the consolidated other operating 
income note.

If the unearned premiums reserve is not considered adequate to cover future claims arising on these premiums, a 
premium deficiency reserve is created and is reflected under “insurance technical provisions” in the consolidated 
provisions note. The change in premium deficiency reserve is reflected under “insurance expense incurred” in 
the consolidated other operating income note.

Reinsurance premiums 
Gross reinsurance premiums are recognized as expense over the term of the policies to which they relate 
according to reinsurance agreements and are reflected under “insurance expense incurred” in the consolidated 
other operating income note. Premiums include any adjustment arising in the accounting period in respect of 
reinsurance contracts incepting in prior accounting periods. Gross change in unearned reinsurance premiums 
are recorded against reinsurance premiums. Unearned reinsurance premiums reserve represents the portion 
of the gross reinsurance premiums relating to the unexpired period of the coverage and is reflected under 
“insurance technical provisions” in the consolidated provisions note.

Fee and commission income from providing insurance services

Insurance and investment contract policyholders are charged for policy administration services, investment 
management services, surrenders and other contracts fees.  These fees are recognized as revenues over the 
period in which the related services are performed.  If the fees are for services provided in future periods, then 
they are deferred and recognized over those future periods.

Y. Income Tax:

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.  Income tax is recognized 
in the statement of profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive 
income (OCI), in which case it is recognized in OCI.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using rates enacted at the statement 
of financial position date.  Income tax payable is reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position net 
of taxes previously settled in the form of withholding tax.
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Deferred tax is recognized on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit, and are accounted for using 
the balance sheet liability method.  Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary 
differences and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilized.
 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:

- When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss.

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests 
in joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable 
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and any unused tax losses.  Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized, except:

- When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

- In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests 
in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is possible that the temporary 
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to 
be utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when 
the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss.  Deferred tax 
items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 

assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority.
 
Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition 
at that date, are recognized subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances change.  The 
adjustment is either treated as a reduction in goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred 
during the measurement period or recognized in profit or loss.

Z. Fiduciary Deposits:

All fiduciary deposits are held on a non-discretionary basis and related risks and rewards belong to the account 
holders.  Accordingly, they are reflected as off-balance sheet accounts.

AA. Operating Lease Agreements:

Lease agreements which do not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the 
leased items are classified as operating leases.  Operating lease payments are recorded in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss on a straight line basis over the lease term.

AB. Cash and Cash Equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with maturities of a period of three months including: cash and 
balances with the Central Banks, deposits with Banks and financial institutions, and deposits due to banks and 
financial institutions.

AC. Dividends on Ordinary and Preferred Shares:

Dividends on ordinary and preferred shares are recognized as a liability and deducted from equity when they 
are approved by the Bank’s shareholders. Interim dividends are deducted from equity when they are declared 
and no longer at the discretion of the Group.
Dividends for the year that are approved after the reporting date are disclosed as an event after the reporting 
date.

AD. Earnings per Share:

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated 
by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the 
effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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4.  CRITICAL  ACCOUNTING  JUDGMENTS  AND  KEY  SOURCES  OF  ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors are required 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and 
liabilities and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

A.  Critical accounting judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies:

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, 
apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect in the amounts recognized in the 
financial statements.

Going Concern:

The Group’s management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and 
is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future.  Furthermore, 
management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern.  Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on the 
going concern basis.

Classification of Financial Assets:

Business Model:

The business model test requires the Group to assess whether its business objective for financial assets is to 
collect the contractual cash flows of the assets rather than realize their fair value change from sale before their 
contractual maturity. The Group considers at which level of its business activities such assessment should be made. 
Generally, a business model can be evidenced by the way business is managed and the information provided 
to management. However, the Group’s business model can be to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash 
flows even when there are some sales of financial assets. While IFRS 9 provides some situations where such sales 
may or may not be consistent with the objective of holding assets to collect contractual cash flows, the assessment 
requires the use of judgment based on facts and circumstances. 

In determining whether its business model for managing financial assets is to hold assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows the Group considers:

• The frequency and volume of sales;
• The reasons for any sales;

• How management evaluates the performance of the portfolio;
• The objectives for the portfolio. 

Characteristics of the Financial Asset:

Once the Group determines that its business model is to hold the assets to collect the contractual cash flows, 
it exercises judgment to assess the contractual cash flows characteristics of a financial asset. In making this 
judgment, the Group considers the contractual terms of the acquired asset to determine that they give rise on 
specific dates, to cash flows that solely represent principal and principal settlement and accordingly may qualify 
for amortized cost accounting. 

Features considered by the Group that would be consistent with amortized cost measurement include:

• Fixed and / or floating interest rate;
• Caps, floors, collars;
• Prepayment options.

Features considered by the Group that would be inconsistent with amortized cost measurement include:

• Leverage (i.e. options, forwards and swaps);
• Conversion options;  
• Inverse floaters;
• Variable rate coupons that reset periodically;
•  Triggers that result in a significant reduction of principal, interest or both.

Qualifying Hedge Relationships:

In designating financial instruments as qualifying hedge relationships, the Group has determined that it expects 
the hedge to be highly effective over the life of the hedging instrument.

In accounting for derivatives as cash flow hedges, the Group has determined that the hedged cash flow exposure 
relates to highly probable future cash flows.

B. Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty:

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the statement of financial position date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

The Group based their assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial 
statements were prepared.  Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may 
change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group.  Such changes are 
reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
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Allowances for Credit Losses:

Specific impairment for credit losses is determined by assessing each case individually.  This method applies 
to classified loans and advances, balances placed with banks and other accounts receivable and the factors 
taken into consideration when estimating the allowance for credit losses include the counterparty’s credit limit, 
the counterparty’s ability to generate cash flows sufficient to settle the advances and the value of collateral and 
potential repossession.

Loans and advances that have been assessed individually and found not to be impaired and all individually 
insignificant loans and advances are then assessed collectively, in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics, 
to determine whether provision should be made due to incurred loss events for which there is objective evidence 
but whose effects are not yet evident.

The collective assessment takes account of data from the loan portfolio (such as credit quality, levels of arrears, 
credit utilization, loan to collateral ratios, etc…), concentrations of risks, economic data and the performance of 
different individual groups.

Impairment of investment associates:

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an investment may be impaired. If 
any indication exists the Group estimates the investment’s recoverable amount. When the cost of the investment 
exceeds the recoverable amount, the investment is considered impaired and a provision for impairment is setup 
representing the difference between the investment’s recoverable amount and its carrying value. The provision is 
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Impairment of Goodwill:

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units 
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the directors to estimate the future 
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 
present value.

Determining Fair Values:

The determination of fair value for financial assets for which there is no observable market price requires the use 
of valuation techniques as described in Note 3D.  For financial instruments that traded infrequently and have little 
price transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires varying degrees of judgment depending on liquidity, 
concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument.
 

Unobservable inputs are used to measure fair value to the extent that observable inputs are not available, thereby 
allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement 
date. However, the fair value measurement objective should remain the same; that is, an exit price from the 
perspective of market participants. Unobservable inputs are developed based on the best information available 
in the circumstances, which may include the reporting entity›s own data.

Non-life insurance (which comprises general insurance and healthcare) contract liabilities:
For non-life insurance contracts, estimates have to be made for both the expected ultimate cost of claims reported 
at the date of the statement of financial position and for the expected ultimate cost of claims incurred but not yet 
reported (IBNR) at the date of the statement of financial position. It can take a significant period of time before 
the ultimate claims cost can be estimated with certainty.

The main assumption underlying these techniques is that an entity’s past claims development experience can be 
used to project future claims development and hence ultimate claims costs. As such, these methods extrapolate 
the development of paid and incurred losses, average costs per claim and claim numbers based on the observed 
development of earlier years and expected loss ratios. Historical claims development is mainly analysed by 
accident years, but can also be further analysed by significant business lines as well as by claim types. Large 
claims are usually separately addressed, either by being reserved at the face value of loss adjuster estimates 
or separately projected in order to reflect their future development. In most cases, no explicit assumptions are 
made regarding future rates of claims inflation or loss ratios. Instead, the assumptions used are those implicit in 
the historical claims development data on which the projections are based. Additional qualitative judgment is 
used to assess the extent to which past trends may not apply in future (for example to reflect one-off occurrences, 
changes in external or market factors such as public attitudes to claiming, economic conditions, levels of claims 
inflations, judicial decisions and legislation, as well as internal factors such as a portfolio mix, policy features 
and claims handling procedures) in order to arrive at the estimated ultimate cost of claims that present the likely 
outcome from the range of possible outcomes, taking account of all the uncertainties involved.

5. SEGMENT  INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments are organized as follows: Lebanon, Middle East and Europe.

Measurement of segment assets, liabilities, income and expenses is based on the Group’s accounting policies.

Segment income and expenses include transfers between segments and these transfers are conducted on arm’s 
length terms and conditions. Shared costs are included in segments on the basis of the actual recharges made, 
if any.

The Group has three reportable business segments which reflect the basis on which senior management reviews 
operating activities, allocates capital, and assesses performance.
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Year Ended December 31, 2016

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Lebanon Middle East Europe Inter-Segment                     Total 

Total Assets 22,709,695,966 677,138,426 3,307,875,258 (2,542,068,206) 24,152,641,444 21,694,421,375 1,205,940,280 3,882,050,917 (3,339,886,333) 23,442,526,239

Total Liabilities 19,761,730,954 583,287,274 2,836,759,949 (1,358,125,200) 21,823,652,977 18,864,595,852 1,123,918,905 3,360,587,088 (2,197,607,620) 21,151,494,225

Total Equity 2,947,965,012 93,851,152 471,115,309 (1,183,943,006) 2,328,988,467 2,829,825,523 82,021,375 521,463,829 (1,142,278,713) 2,291,032,014

Profit/(loss) for the year 176,824,273 7,675,271 11,959,425 (309,887)       196,149,082 232,783,849 (22,587,753) (554,818) - 209,641,278

ASSETS

Financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss  301,770,808 5,929,214 42,520,911 - 350,220,933 560,167,508 39,300,525 37,846,372 - 637,314,405

Loans and advances to customers 5,137,369,677 226,936,099 1,796,633,647 - 7,160,939,423 4,988,814,097 122,669,714 2,297,361,061 - 7,408,844,872

Loans and advances to related parties 449,496,486 - 19,737,500 - 469,233,986 333,287,097 - 6,653,850 - 339,940,947

Investment securities  9,147,750,461 21,819,694 490,711,453 - 9,660,281,608 7,233,435,166 49,441,311 639,274,850 - 7,922,151,327

LIABILITIES

Customers’ deposits at fair

   value through profit or loss 25,141,568 - - - 25,141,568 29,865,037 - - - 29,865,037

Customers’ deposits at amortized cost 15,183,307,099 295,721,180 2,152,748,335 - 17,631,776,614 14,372,622,077 391,609,163 2,777,476,731 - 17,541,707,971

Related parties’ deposits at amortized cost 638,411,914 - 40,659,828 (127,872,387) 551,199,355 731,993,257 - 16,053,581 (115,992,577) 632,054,261

STATEMENT  OF  PROFIT  OR  LOSS

Interest income 1,085,187,580 19,705,343 294,422,281 (28,716,600) 1,370,598,604 1,042,333,263 13,687,788 301,662,726 (26,352,646) 1,331,331,131

Interest expense (787,175,510) (9,932,389) (181,970,874) 28,716,600 (950,362,173) (716,623,637) (5,503,688) (185,171,634) 26,352,646 (880,946,313)

Net interest income 298,012,070 9,772,954 112,451,407 - 420,236,431 325,709,626 8,184,100 116,491,092 - 450,384,818

Fee and commission income 132,742,053 13,793,708 19,536,229 - 166,071,990 78,577,137 8,725,571 22,377,328 (168,099) 109,511,937

Fee and commission expense (11,839,935) (816,685) (1,398,298) 133,655 (13,921,263) (10,750,397) (3,821,484) (1,635,643) - (16,207,524)

Net fee and commission income 120,902,118 12,977,023 18,137,931 133,655 152,150,727 67,826,740 4,904,087 20,741,685 (168,099) 93,304,413

Net results on financial instruments at

   fair value through profit or loss 30,222,713 1,591,438 (3,304,862) - 28,509,289 46,535,564 (315,068) 121,618 - 46,342,114

Gain from financial assets measured

   at amortized cost 253,552,330 - 7,429 - 253,559,759 246,968,034 - 1,113 - 246,969,147

Other operating income (net) 53,855,338 10,004,678 8,843,381 (19,201,042) 53,502,355 88,994,539 11,129,092 (8,853,884) (15,745,732) 75,524,015

Net operating revenues 756,544,569 34,346,093 136,135,286 (19,067,387) 907,958,561 776,034,503 23,902,211 128,501,624 (15,913,831) 912,524,507

Provision for credit losses (net of write-back) (170,521,444) (983,881) (18,677,365) - (190,182,690) (119,424,604) (154,699) (23,309,170) - (142,888,473)

(Loss)/gain from write-off of loans (122,301) - - - (122,301) 991,022 - 32,933 - 1,023,955

Net operating revenues after credit losses 585,900,824 33,362,212 117,457,921 (19,067,387) 717,653,570 657,600,921 23,747,512 105,225,387 (15,913,831) 770,659,989

Staff costs (206,128,239) (9,644,449) (55,251,397) 11,555,238 (259,468,847) (196,911,750) (8,589,097) (55,571,904) 9,993,682 (251,079,069)

Administrative expenses (147,285,803) (6,331,029) (39,192,993) 7,237,035 (185,572,790) (137,953,033) (10,016,847) (41,282,751) 5,920,149 (183,332,482)

Depreciation and amortization (20,214,821) (2,044,000) (5,809,676) - (28,068,497) (19,097,278) (1,834,110) (7,446,011) - (28,377,399)

Write-back/(impairment) of assets acquired in

   satisfaction of loans (net) 5,009,230 - (531,118) - 4,478,112 34,790 - (312,265) - (277,475)

Provision for contingencies (net of write-back) (4,953,371) (1,044,966) (422,397) - (6,420,734) (17,618,795) (963,793) 1,019,402 - (17,563,186)

Provision for impairment of other financial assets (2,261,095) (3,706,414) - - (5,967,509) (1,538,056) (22,727,979) - - (24,266,035)

Profit before taxes 210,066,725 10,591,354 16,250,340 (275,114) 236,633,305 284,516,799 (20,384,314) 1,631,858 - 265,764,343

Income tax expense (33,242,452) (2,916,083) (4,290,915) (34,773) (40,484,223) (51,732,950) (2,203,439) (2,186,676) - (56,123,065)

Profit/(loss) for the year 176,824,273 7,675,271 11,959,425 (309,887) 196,149,082 232,783,849 (22,587,753) (554,818) - 209,641,278

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Lebanon Middle East Europe                Inter-Segment                                   Total 

Year Ended December 31, 2015
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6. CASH  AND  DEPOSITS  WITH  CENTRAL  BANKS

    2016         2015

LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31,

Cash on hand  185,795,201 183,009,881

Compulsory reserves with the Central Bank of Lebanon  383,348,745 377,380,631

Current accounts with the Central Bank of Lebanon  15,438,729 14,553,969

Current accounts with other central banks  87,689,055 173,600,328

Term placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon  2,246,122,750 3,275,454,035

Term placements and compulsory reserves

 with other central banks  238,618,817 314,549,998

Impairment of term placements held with other central banks  (22,727,979) (22,727,979)

Accrued interest receivable  10,631,520 35,401,462

   3,144,916,838 4,351,222,325

Compulsory deposits with the central banks are not available for use in the Group’s day-to-day operations.

Compulsory reserves with the Central Bank of Lebanon represent non-interest earning deposits in Lebanese 
Pounds computed on the basis of 25% and 15% of the average weekly sight and term customers’ deposits in 
Lebanese Pounds, respectively, after taking into account certain waivers in relation to loans granted in Lebanese 
Pounds, in accordance with the local banking regulations.

Current accounts with other central banks include compulsory reserves with the Central Bank of Iraq amounting 
to the equivalent in Iraqi Dinar of LBP6.9billion as at December 31, 2016 (LBP18.7billion as at December 31, 
2015) representing 15% of customers’ deposits.

Term placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon include the equivalent in foreign currencies of LBP1,823billion 
as at December 31, 2016 (LBP1,773billion as at December 31, 2015) deposited in accordance with local 
banking regulations which require banks to maintain interest earning placements in foreign currency to the extent 
of 15% of customers’ deposits in foreign currencies, certificates of deposits and loans obtained from non-resident 
financial institutions.

Term placements with other central banks include the equivalent in:

- Turkish Lira and other foreign currencies of LBP237.9billion as at December 31, 2016 (LBP288.2billion as at 
December 31, 2015) deposited in accordance with banking laws and regulations in Turkey which require banks 
to maintain at the Central Bank of Turkey mandatory interest earning deposits to the extent of 5% to 11.5% of 
their liabilities in Turkish Lira and 5% to 25% of their liabilities in foreign currencies, depending on the nature of 
their liabilities.

- Euro of LBP646.7million as at December 31, 2016 (LBP667.8million as at December 31, 2015) deposited in 
accordance with banking laws and regulations in Cyprus which require banks to maintain at the Central Bank of 
Cyprus mandatory interest earning deposits in Euro to the extent of 1% (1% as at December 31, 2015) of banks’ 
and customers’ deposits maturing in less than two years, after deducting a fixed amount of Euro100,000.
 

 2016         2015

LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31,

Checks in the course of collection  60,061,227 76,423,821

Current accounts   339,466,004 196,232,309

Current accounts - related parties  815,583 1,324,554

Call placements  52,766,570 12,564,650 

Overnight placements  - 70,955,870

Term placements  523,227,520 563,832,553 

Term placements - related parties  179,842,590 161,483,130 

Pledged deposits – Note 47  31,212,516 27,135,000 

Blocked deposits – Note 47  2,260,664 2,804,155 

Accrued interest receivable  813,907 1,983,662

   1,190,466,581 1,114,739,704

During the year 2015, the Group provided for term placements held with the Central Bank of Iraq – Kurdistan 
in the aggregate amount of LBP22.7billion (USD15million) under “Provision for impairment of other financial 
assets” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

7. DEPOSITS  WITH  BANKS  AND  FINANCIAL  INSTITUTIONS

Term placements and current accounts with banks and financial institutions include term placements in the amount 
of LBP61.78billion as at December 31, 2016 (term placements in the amount of LBP33.86billion and current 
accounts in the amount of LBP226million, as at December 31, 2015) with right of set-off against acceptances 
payable amounting to LBP15.3billion and letters of guarantee amounting to LBP38.8billion (acceptance payable 
amounting to LBP3.66billion, letters of guarantee amounting to LBP27.24billion and letters of credit amounting 
to LBP338million, respectively as at December 31, 2015).
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LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31, 2015

Lebanese Government bonds 90,099,603 223,606,135 313,705,738

Certificates of deposit issued by the Central

 Bank of Lebanon 169,078,944 - 169,078,944

Debt securities issued by banks - 30,909,268 30,909,268

Debt securities issued by companies - 59,795,504 59,795,504

Credit linked notes issued by banks  - 29,116,687 29,116,687

Other foreign government bonds - 12,961 12,961

Quoted equity securities - 783,124 783,124

Unquoted equity securities - 22,970,932 22,970,932

Accrued interest receivable 5,750,301 5,190,946 10,941,247

  264,928,848 372,385,557 637,314,405

The negative change in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the amount of 
LBP535million (positive change in the amount of LBP8.6billion in 2015) is recorded under “Net results on 
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” (Note 37) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Debt securities issued by companies includes an amount of Euro27.57million (LBP44billion) as at December 
31, 2016 (Euro30.42million (LBP50billion) as at December 31, 2015), representing debt securities, of which 
Euro15.75million (Euro17.25million in 2015) are held against linked deposits in the amount of Euro15.75million 
presented under “Customers’ deposits at fair value through profit or loss” in the consolidated statement of financial 
position (Euro 17.25million in 2015).  Subsequent to the date of the financial position, the debt securities against 
linked deposits were transferred to the related customers in settlement of their deposits.

 LBP C/V of F/Cy              Total

 LBP C/V of F/Cy              Total

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31, 2016

Lebanese Government bonds 88,334,862 205,551 88,540,413

Certificates of deposit issued by the Central

 Bank of Lebanon 172,617,717 - 172,617,717

Debt securities issued by companies - 44,436,860 44,436,860

Other foreign government bonds - 5,913,500 5,913,500

Quoted equity securities - 822,083 822,083

Unquoted equity securities - 31,182,167 31,182,167

Accrued interest receivable 5,792,229 915,964 6,708,193

  266,744,808 83,476,125 350,220,933

8.  FINANCIAL  ASSETS  AT  FAIR  VALUE  THROUGH  PROFIT  OR  LOSS

 2016             2015

LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31,

Loans to banks  150,940,520 80,362,654

Loans under reverse repurchase agreements  536,859,530 236,150,223

Accrued interest receivable  2,310,628 276,380

   690,110,678 316,789,257

Loans to banks as at December 31, 2016 include LBP30.2billion (LBP57.9billion as at December 31, 2015) 
representing unsecured loans in foreign currencies purchased from foreign banks, net of related unearned income 
in the amount of LBP19.3million (LBP150.2million as at December 31, 2015).

Loans to banks also include discounted acceptances in foreign currencies with an aggregate nominal value of 
LBP2.78billion as at December 31, 2016 (LBP6.5billion as at December 31, 2015).

Loans to banks include loans granted in LBP to a resident housing bank with aggregate remaining outstanding 
balance of LBP2.95billion as at December 31, 2016 (LBP4.5billion as at December 31, 2015).  As a guarantee 
of these LBP loans, the borrower has pledged in favor of the Group bills related to the housing loans granted to 
its customers.  These loans are for a period of 12 years with a grace period on payments of 2 years.  Interest on 
the loans is reset every three years.

Loans under reverse repurchase agreements represent short term loans granted to a financial institution in 
Lebanon.  These loans mature during the first quarter of 2017 and are secured by USD and LBP certificates of 
deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon in the amount of LBP34.2billion (loans outstanding as at December 
31, 2015 and matured during the first quarter of 2016 were secured by USD certificates of deposit issued by the 
Central Bank of Lebanon in the amount of LBP25.8billion).

9.  REVERSE  REPURCHASE  AGREEMENTS  AND  LOANS  TO  BANKS
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10. LOANS  AND  ADVANCES  TO  CUSTOMERS

Loans and advances to customers are reflected at amortized cost and consist of the following:

December 31, 2016

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Gross
Amount

Unrealized
Interest

Impairment
Allowance

Carrying
Amount

Performing Retail Customers:

- Mortgage loans 803,558,776 - - 803,558,776 770,182,407 - - 770,182,407

- Personal loans 474,068,329 - - 474,068,329 379,207,651 - - 379,207,651

- Credit cards 53,385,300 - - 53,385,300 50,275,296 - - 50,275,296

- Overdrafts 195,530,821 - - 195,530,821 56,361,796 - - 56,361,796

- Other 298,947,756 - - 298,947,756 236,246,219 - - 236,246,219

Non-Performing Retail Customers:

- Substandard loans 4,276,627 (206,580) (56,496) 4,013,551 3,861,264 (386,704) (50,655) 3,423,905

- Rescheduled bad and doubtful  - - - - 4,147 - (4,147) -

- Bad and doubtful loans  16,215,436 ( 5,858,375) ( 10,193,698)  163,363  15,550,119 ( 6,125,440) (9,315,862) 108,817

Performing Corporate Customers:

- Rescheduled loans 36,193,848 - - 36,193,848 35,490,335 - - 35,490,335

- Corporate loans 4,014,853,454 - - 4,014,853,454 4,564,914,129 - - 4,564,914,129

- Small and medium enterprises’ loans 1,221,609,570 - - 1,221,609,570 1,412,890,669 - - 1,412,890,669

Non-Performing Corporate Customers:

- Rescheduled substandard loans 3,315,725 (1,012,766) - 2,302,959 1,105,269 (772,023) - 333,246

- Substandard loans 95,389,722 (6,796,149) (3,138,597) 85,454,976 49,314,352 (2,002,458) (5,230,858) 42,081,036

- Rescheduled bad and doubtful loans 32,674,406 (21,217,573) (6,360,380) 5,096,453 41,331,028 (27,531,860) (8,457,124) 5,342,044

- Bad and doubtful loans 492,771,196 (68,255,368) (221,079,966) 203,435,862 260,266,899 (48,908,266) (117,344,949) 94,013,684

Allowance for collectively assessed:

-Corporate loans - - (272,226,897) (272,226,897) - - (272,094,923) (272,094,923)

- Retail loans - - (21,192,506) (21,192,506) - - (19,018,475) (19,018,475)

Deferred penalties charged on excess over limit (15,268,293) - - (15,268,293)  (15,037,162) - - (15,037,162)

Accrued interest receivable 71,012,101 - - 71,012,101 64,124,198 - - 64,124,198  

 7,798,534,774 (103,346,811) (534,248,540) 7,160,939,423 7,926,088,616 (85,726,751) (431,516,993) 7,408,844,872

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31, 2015

Gross
Amount

Unrealized
Interest

Impairment
Allowance

Carrying
Amount
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The movement of unrealized interest on substandard loans during 2016 and 2015 is summarized as follows:

The movement of allowance for impairment on substandard loans during 2016 and 2015 is summarized as 
follows:

The movement of unrealized interest on bad and doubtful loans during 2016 and 2015 is summarized as 
follows:

 2016           2015

 2016          2015

 2016  2015

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

Balance on January 1  3,161,185 2,854,904

Additions  6,831,302 2,376,377

Write-back to profit or loss – Note 33  (185,134) (619,588)

Write-off  (15,661) (731,172)

Transfer to unrealized interest on bad and doubtful loans  (1,772,787) (719,305)

Effect of exchange rate changes  (3,410) (31)

Balance on December 31  8,015,495 3,161,185

Contractual write-off on rescheduled debts  (690,548) (666,752)

Net balance, end of year  7,324,947 2,494,433

Balance on January 1 5,281,513 -

Additions 17,112,093 19,692,173

Write-back to profit or loss (2,161,548) (1,781,190)

Transfer to allowance for bad and doubtful loans (13,948,707) (11,400,206)

Effect of exchange rate changes (3,088,258) (1,229,264)

Balance on December 31 3,195,093  5,281,513

 

Balance on January 1 82,565,566 68,188,231

Additions 21,456,219 17,694,986

Write-off (3,860,673) (1,235,309)

Write-back to profit or loss – Note 33 (6,601,900) (3,164,513)

Transfer from unrealized interest on substandard loans 1,772,787 719,305

Transfer to off-balance sheet (net) (250,950) - 

Effect of exchange rate changes 250,267 362,866

Balance on December 31 95,331,316 82,565,566

Contractual write-off on rescheduled debts (15,397,745) (16,028,000)

Net balance, end of year 79,933,571 66,537,566

The movement of allowance for impairment on bad and doubtful loans during 2016 and 2015 is summarized 
as follows:

The movement of the allowance for collectively assessed loans during 2016 and 2015 is summarized as follows:

As of December 31, 2016, the Group has unutilized financing commitments (excluding credit cards) amounting 
to LBP100billion (LBP154billion as of December 31, 2015).

Subsequent to the date of the statement of financial position, the Group classified to substandard two credit 
exposures in the aggregate of LBP276billion (USD183.3million) and suspended interest effective January 
2017.  The Group enhanced the collateral held against these exposures for an estimated notional amount of 
USD168million. Net of recoveries and collaterals, provisions will be allocated in 2017 from existing collective 
provision against these exposures in addition to certain other partially provided exposures classified under 
doubtful accounts.

 2016           2015

 2016           2015

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

Balance on January 1  135,122,082 101,225,751

Additions  123,925,719 32,018,111

Write-off  (16,390,040) (943,410)

Write-back to profit or loss  (20,715,516) (9,715,084)

Transfer from escrow funds  - 1,724,029

Transfer from allowance for substandard loans  13,948,707 11,400,206

Transfer to off-balance sheet (net)  (1,096,686) 180,111

Transfer from allowance for collective impairment  5,290,028 2,638,026

Effect of exchange rate changes  (2,450,250) (3,405,658)

Balance on December 31  237,634,044 135,122,082

Contractual write-off on rescheduled debts

 (including regular rescheduled loans)  (1,588,023) (2,923,159)

Balance, end of year (net)  236,046,021 132,198,923

Balance on January 1  291,113,398 196,249,773

Additions net of write-back  12,037,009 102,674,463

Transfer to allowance for impairment

 on doubtful and bad loans  (5,290,028) (2,638,026)

Effect of exchange rate changes  (4,440,976) (5,172,812)

Balance on December 31  293,419,403 291,113,398
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11. LOANS  AND  ADVANCES  TO  RELATED  PARTIES

Loans and advances to related parties are partially secured (Note 43).

Subsequent to the date of the statement of financial position, the Group disposed of its participation in a 
syndicated loan granted to a related party in the amount of USD100million for a consideration of USD65million. 
The Group setup at 2016 year-end, a provision for impairment in the amount of LBP60billion (USD39.79million) 
recorded under “provision for credit losses (net of write-back)” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (LBP 
Nil in 2015).

12. INVESTMENT  SECURITIES

 2016           2015

LBP’000 LBP’000
Retail loans and advances 27,882,604 23,031,699

Corporate loans and advances, net 437,108,335 313,401,810

Accrued interest receivable 4,243,047 3,507,438

 469,233,986 339,940,947

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

December 31,

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000
LBP LBPC/V of F/Cy C/V of F/CyTotal Total

Financial assets at fair value through other

  comprehensive income (A)  38,343,508 436,328,483 474,671,991 34,926,763 378,285,661 413,212,424

 38,343,508 436,328,483 474,671,991 34,926,763 378,285,661 413,212,424

Financial assets at amortized cost (B) 4,213,765,306 4,818,463,931 9,032,229,237 3,403,624,559 3,980,065,981 7,383,690,540

Accrued interest receivable on

  financial assets at amortized cost 87,192,543 66,187,837 153,380,380 64,736,254 60,512,109 125,248,363

 4,300,957,849 4,884,651,768 9,185,609,617 3,468,360,813 4,040,578,090 7,508,938,903

 4,339,301,357 5,320,980,251 9,660,281,608 3,503,287,576 4,418,863,751 7,922,151,327

 

Dividends received during 2016 on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income in the 
amount of LBP12.13billion (LBP13.24billion for the year 2015) are reflected under “Other operating income 
(net)” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 38).

A. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income:

December 31, 2016

December 31, 2015

LBP Base Accounts F/Cy Base Accounts

LBP Base Accounts F/Cy Base Accounts

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

Cost

Cost

Cost

Cost

Fair Value

Fair Value

Fair Value

Fair Value

Cumulative 
Change in
Fair Value

Cumulative 
Change in
Fair Value

Cumulative 
Change in
Fair Value

Cumulative 
Change in
Fair Value

Quoted equity securities  - - - 330,655,491 302,093,797 (28,561,694)
Unquoted equity securities  11,959,866 38,343,508 26,383,642 67,795,442 78,863,144 11,067,702
Cumulative preferred shares 
  issued by a Lebanese bank - - - 7,537,500 7,537,500 -
Non-cumulative preferred shares
  issued by Lebanese banks - - - 47,700,599 47,834,042 133,443
 11,959,866 38,343,508 26,383,642 453,689,032 436,328,483 (17,360,549)
Deferred tax - Note 31   (3,957,546)   3,148,673
   22,426,096   (14,211,876)

Quoted equity securities  - - - 293,481,842 280,954,634 (12,527,208)
Unquoted equity securities 11,959,866 34,693,048 22,733,182 39,831,550 47,289,203 7,457,653
Cumulative preferred shares 
   issued by a Lebanese bank - - - 7,537,500 7,537,500 -
Non-cumulative preferred shares
   issued by Lebanese banks 226,125 233,715 7,590 42,318,823 42,504,324 185,501
 12,185,991 34,926,763 22,740,772 383,169,715 378,285,661 (4,884,054)
Deferred tax – Note 31   (3,409,978)   1,307,474
   19,330,794   (3,576,580)
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Lebanese Government bonds 952,100,702 1,010,882,914 13,907,522 723,197,680 710,124,236 11,246,467

Certificates of deposit issued by the

   Central Bank of Lebanon 2,451,523,857 2,523,001,859 50,828,732 2,655,519,413 2,810,371,413 47,731,848

Certificates of deposit issued by banks - - - 22,580,505 22,580,505 73,002

Debt securities issued by banks - - - 119,019,506 118,690,996 462,348

Debt securities issued by companies - - - 45,380,318 45,184,124 705,890

Other foreign government bonds - - - 414,368,559 397,355,768 292,554

 3,403,624,559 3,533,884,773 64,736,254 3,980,065,981 4,104,307,042 60,512,109

Lebanese Government bonds 815,289,856 840,599,563 12,891,888 949,135,885 916,140,193 9,589,868
Certificates of deposit issued by the
   Central Bank of Lebanon 3,398,475,450 3,555,168,484 74,300,655 3,442,701,041 3,492,265,696 56,077,788
Debt securities issued by banks - - - 18,146,198 18,180,371 123,322
Debt securities issued by companies - - - 43,600,989 43,507,383  117,527
Other foreign government bonds - - - 364,879,818 350,135,670 279,332
 4,213,765,306 4,395,768,047 87,192,543 4,818,463,931 4,820,229,313 66,187,837

B. Financial assets at amortized cost:

December 31, 2016

December 31, 2015

LBP Base Accounts

LBP Base Accounts

Amortized 
Cost

Amortized 
Cost

Amortized 
Cost

Fair Value

Fair Value
Amortized

Cost

Fair Value

Fair Value

Accrued
Interest

Receivable

Accrued
Interest

Receivable

Accrued
Interest

Receivable

Accrued
Interest

Receivable

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

 
F/Cy Base Accounts

 
F/Cy Base Accounts

During 2016, the Group setup provisions in the amount of LBP1.8billion against debt securities issued by companies 
recorded under “provision for impairment of financial assets” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Gain from financial assets at amortized cost resulted from the following:

(a) During 2016, the Group entered into special sale transactions offered to the market by the Central Bank of Lebanon 
in relation to Lebanese Government bonds in LBP having an aggregate nominal value of LBP280billion and certificates 
of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon in LBP having an aggregate nominal value of LBP71billion and 
classified at amortized cost, concluded simultaneously with the acquisition of USD Lebanese Government bonds with an 
aggregate nominal value of LBP204billion and certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon in USD with 
an aggregate nominal value of LBP151billion that were classified at amortized cost funded from the Group’s treasury in 
foreign currencies held with correspondent banks.

The resulting surplus of the inter-related transactions indicated above amounted to LBP127billion and was recorded 
under “Gain from financial assets measured at amortized cost”.

(b) During 2016, “other gain” relates mainly to the disposal to the Central Bank of Lebanon of Lebanese Government 
bonds in LBP of an aggregate carrying value of LBP233billion. The resulting capital gain recognized in respect of these 
transactions amounted to LBP107billion.

The Group entered into several sales of LBP and USD certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon 
and USD Lebanese Government bonds in the aggregate amounts of LBP80.1billion that resulted in a gain amounting 
to LBP738million. The Group also entered into exchange transactions of Lebanese Government bonds and certificates 
of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon with resident banks.  Lebanese Government bonds in LBP of an 
aggregate nominal value of LBP191billion from the acquired securities was sold and gain in the amount of LBP18billion 
was recognized.

During 2015, the gain from the derecognition of Lebanese Government bonds relates mainly to two disposal transactions 
of Lebanese Government bonds with an aggregate carrying value of LBP221.5billion (LBP178billion maturing in June 
2023 and LBP43.5billion maturing in September 2023) and LBP201.9billion (LBP100billion maturing in June 2022, 
LBP51.3billion maturing in January 2025 and LBP50.6billion maturing in May 2025) for a total consideration equivalent 
to the aggregate gross undiscounted future contractual cash flows of principal and interest to maturity.  The total capital 
gain recognized in respect of these transactions, after deducting transaction fees of LBP20billion and LBP55.1billion, 
respectively, amounted to LBP132.5billion and LBP64.1billion respectively.

Surplus from special deal arrangement with BDL

   in relation to financial engineering (a) 127,328,874 -

Other gain (b) 126,230,885 246,969,147

 253,559,759 246,969,147

LBP’000 LBP’000
2016 2015
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Investments in Associates

GroupMed Services S.A.L. Lebanon 25.00 25.00 596,846 380,873

Long-term loan to GroupMed

   Services S.A.L.    2,301,990 2,301,953

PinPay S.A.L. Lebanon 37.11 37.11 2,380,404 3,079,987

Long-term loan to PinPay S.A.L.    703,423 376,000

Ciment de Sibline S.A.L. Lebanon 19.54 19.54 35,409,854 39,248,529

    41,392,517 45,387,342

Other Investments

Al Fanadeq S.A.L. Lebanon 48.00 48.00 4,929,435 5,066,617

Sidem S.A.L. Lebanon 20.00 20.00 18,682,920 18,390,042

      

    23,612,355 23,456,659

    65,004,872 68,844,001

Acceptances represent documentary credits which the Group has committed to settle on behalf of its customers against 
commitments by those customers (acceptances).  The commitments resulting from these acceptances are stated as a 
liability in the consolidated statement of financial position for the same amount.

During 2015, the Group had several other sale and exchange transactions of Lebanese Government bonds and 
certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon that resulted in gains amounting to LBP15.9billion and 
LBP34.4billion, respectively.

13. CUSTOMERS’  ACCEPTANCE  LIABILITY

14. INVESTMENTS  IN  ASSOCIATES  AND  OTHER  INVESTMENTS

% %

Country of
Incorporation

Carrying
Value

Interest
Held

Interest
Held

LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31, December 31,

20152016 2016 2015

Carrying
Value

The following tables illustrate summarized financial information of the Group’s investments in associates:

%

Ciment de Sibline S.A.L Lebanon  238,544,442 57,295,386 181,249,056 19.54 35,416,066

PinPay S.A.L Lebanon  1,124,219 2,827,257 (1,703,038) 37.11 (631,997)

GroupMed Services S.A.L Lebanon  21,156,866 19,493,940 1,662,926 25.00 415,732

  260,825,527 79,616,583 181,208,944  35,199,801

Country of
IncorporationName Net

Assets
Total

Assets
Total

Liabilities
Interests

Held
Group’s
Share of 

Net Assets
LBP’000LBP’000LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31, 2016

%

Ciment de Sibline S.A.L Lebanon  259,856,820 59,002,043 200,854,777 19.54 39,247,023

PinPay S.A.L Lebanon  1,614,306 1,433,080 181,226 37.11 67,253

GroupMed Services S.A.L Lebanon  20,062,107 19,263,220 798,887 25.00 199,722

  281,533,233 79,698,343 201,834,890  39,513,998

Country of
IncorporationName Net

Assets
Total

Assets
Total

Liabilities
Interests

Held
Group’s
Share of 

Net Assets
LBP’000LBP’000LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31, 2015

During 2015, the Group sold its investment in Light Metal Products S.A.L. and the outstanding loan granted to the 
latter with an aggregate carrying value of LBP10.52billion (USD6.98million) for a total consideration of LBP19.27billion 
(USD12.78million) fully collected in 2015.  As a result, the Group realized capital gain in the amount of LBP8.74billion 
recorded under “Gain on sale of associates and other investments” under “Other operating income (net)” in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 38).

During 2015, the Group sold its investment in Beverly Hotel S.A.L. for a total consideration of LBP13.8billion (USD9.2million) 
fully collected during 2015.  This transaction resulted in capital gain of around LBP9billion recorded under “Gain on 
sale of associates and other investments” under “Other operating income (net)” in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss (Note 38).

The investment in Ciment de Sibline S.A.L. is reflected using the equity method whereby the Group accounts for its share 
in the associate’s equity.  In this connection, the Group recorded its share in the associate’s change in equity in the 
negative amount of LBP3.6billion including the dividends distributed during the year in the amount of LBP10.56billion 
(negative of LBP1.8billion including the dividends distributed during the year in the amount of LBP9.2billion in 2015). 
During 2015, the Group increased its share in Ciment de Sibline S.A.L. to 19.54% for an amount of LBP505million fully 
paid in 2015.
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The acquisition of assets in settlement of loans in Lebanon is regulated by the banking regulatory authorities and these 
assets should be liquidated within 2 years. In case of default of liquidation, a regulatory reserve should be appropriated 
from the yearly net profits over a period of 5 years.  This reserve is reduced to 5% annually when certain conditions 
linked to the restructuring of non performing loans’ portfolio are met.  This regulatory reserve is reflected under equity.  
In this connection, an amount of LBP26.2billion was appropriated in 2016 from 2015 income (LBP23.3billion in 2015 
from 2014 income).  An amount of LBP7.3billion was transferred in 2016 to “Reserves from disposal of assets acquired 
in satisfaction of loans” (Note 30) upon the sale of the related foreclosed assets (LBP2.1billion in 2015).

The fair value of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans is disclosed under Note 50.

15. ASSETS  ACQUIRED  IN  SATISFACTION  OF  LOANS

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans have been acquired through enforcement of security over loans and advances.
The movement of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans during 2016 and 2015 was as follows:

Gross Amount:

Balance January 1 445,301,040 451,959,267

Additions due to settlement of loans and receivables 45,240,885 20,229,831

Disposals (24,960,412) (22,221,134) 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuation (2,740,855) (4,666,924)

Balance December 31 462,840,658 445,301,040

Impairment Allowance:

Balance January 1 (10,914,331) (11,172,484)

Additions (715,867) (312,265)

Write-back 5,193,979 34,790

Write-off - 373,781 

Others 195,868 -

Effect of exchange rate fluctuation 99,867 161,847

Balance December 31 (6,140,484) (10,914,331)

Accumulated depreciation:

Balance January 1 (1,869,419) (1,368,677)

Additions (510,846) (500,742)

Balance December 31 (2,380,265) (1,869,419)

Carrying Amount:

December 31 454,319,909 432,517,290

 2016  2015

LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31,

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (CGUs) that 
are expected to benefit from that business combination.  The Group has determined that each subsidiary acquired 
constitutes a single cash generating unit.

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be 
impaired.  Goodwill is considered to be impaired when the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amounts of the 
merged business which are determined based on a market comparability approach and discounted cash flows.

For the goodwill in Turkland Bank A.S. the Group used the discounted cashflows method with a terminal growth rate of 
3.75% and a discount rate of 9.8%.

The goodwill balance outstanding as of the statement of financial position date consists of the following:

16. GOODWILL

Bankmed Suisse – S.A.  16,182,023 16,182,023

Cumulative effect of exchange rate changes

   up to the statement of financial position date  22,398,584 23,309,220

   38,580,607 39,491,243

Saudi Lebanese Bank S.A.L.  31,765,458 31,765,458

Turkland Bank A.S.  80,871,312 80,871,312

Turkland Sigorta A.S. – (Previously Demir Sigorta A.S.) – Note 45  1,013,522 1,013,522

Medfinance Holdings Ltd.  616,568 616,568

Continental Trust Insurance and Reinsurance S.A.L. – Note 45  2,019,644 2,019,644

   154,867,111 155,777,747

Allied Bank S.A.L.  23,068,898 23,068,898

Goodwill (net)  177,936,009 178,846,645

 2016  2015

LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31,



141140 BANKMED'S 2016 ANNUAL REPORT INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Real Estate
Properties

Improvements and
Installations

Furniture and
Equipment

LBP’000

Vehicles

17. PROPERTY  AND  EQUIPMENT

Cost:

Balance, January 1, 2015 258,679,960 137,815,019 77,515,460 2,808,577 11,245,645 8,457,425 1,852,798 (1,400,000) 496,974,884 

Acquisition of a subsidiary - 87,463 101,358 165,223 - - - - 354,044

Additions  2,080,319 10,825,900 7,384,228 321,428 675,501 10,950,889 9,102,235 - 41,340,500

Disposals/retirements (509,875) (2,942,474) (1,759,761) (34,535) (192,334) - (234,169) - (5,673,148)

Transfers  - 1,375,477 2,812,523 - - - (4,188,000) - -

Transfers to intangible assets - - (220,869) - - - (927,669) - (1,148,538)

Effect from exchange rate changes - (2,635,442) (1,401,808) (2,232) (2,104,277) - (54) - (6,143,813)

Balance, December 31, 2015 260,250,404 144,525,943 84,431,131 3,258,461 9,624,535 19,408,314 5,605,141 (1,400,000) 525,703,929

Additions 522,210 5,884,075 5,732,097 125,362 91,092 18,255,972 18,035,897 - 48,646,705

Disposal/retirements - (630,865) (802,751) (47,942) (70,564) - (1,255) - (1,553,377)

Transfers between categories - 3,784,189 2,056,433 - - - (5,840,622) - -

Transfer to Intangible assets - (33,058) (1,393,983) - (720,101) - (1,886,942) - (4,034,084)

Effect from exchange rate changes - (1,955,397) (1,147,534) (6,420) (1,513,649) - (9,089) - (4,632,089)

Balance December 31, 2016 260,772,614 151,574,887 88,875,393 3,329,461 7,411,313 37,664,286 15,903,130 (1,400,000) 564,131,084

Accumulated depreciation:

Balance, January 1, 2015 (26,006,725) (107,970,428) (54,666,940) (1,595,742) (7,792,548) - - - (198,032,383)

Acquisition of a subsidiary - (70,513) (71,727) (59,611) - - - - (201,851)

Additions (1,878,291) (10,156,297) (7,537,081) (291,210) (698,157) - - - (20,561,036)

Write-off on disposal 221,159 2,787,455 1,668,100 7,159 217,083 - - - 4,900,956

Transfers to intangible assets - - 168,262 - - - - - 168,262

Effect from exchange rate changes  - 1,822,399 957,389 830 1,507,976 - - - 4,288,594

Balance, December 31, 2015 (27,663,857) (113,587,384) (59,481,997) (1,938,574) (6,765,646) - - - (209,437,458)

Acquisition of subsidiary - - - - - - - - -

Additions (1,990,866) (10,645,293) (8,304,563) (289,111) (`452,587) - - - (21,682,420)

Transfer to intangible assets - 35,416 1,293,757 - 412,828 - - - 1,742,001

Write-off on disposal - 303,046 748,897 41,729 286,834 - - - 1,380,506

Exchange Rate Difference - 1,481,396 812,532 4,582 1,089,652 - - - 3,388,162

Balance December 31, 2016 (29,654,723) (122,412,819) (64,931,374) (2,181,374) (5,428,919) - - - (224,609,209)

Net Book Value:

Balance, December 31, 2016 231,117,891 29,162,068 23,944,019 1,148,087 1,982,394 37,664,286 15,903,130 (1,400,000) 339,521,875

Balance, December 31, 2015 232,586,547 30,938,559 24,949,134 1,319,887 2,858,889 19,408,314 5,605,141 (1,400,000) 316,266,471

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Advance Payments
on Capital

Expenditures
Other Construction

in progress

Allowance for 
Impairment

Loss on Property
and Equipment

Total
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Additions to “Furniture and Equipment” and “Advance payments on capital expenditures” represent mainly costs incurred 
in connection with the opening and refurbishment of branches in Lebanon.

Additions to “Construction in progress” represents mainly cost incurred in connection with building the new head office.

The Group has as at December 31, 2016 capital expenditure commitments in the amount of LBP 52.7billion (LBP 8.2billion 
as at December 31, 2015).

(a) The movement of receivables on properties sold with deferred payment during 2016 and 2015 is summarized as 
follows:

18. OTHER  ASSETS

 2016

 2016

 2015

 2015

LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31,

Receivables on properties sold with

   deferred payment (a) 22,357,414 27,030,662

Advance on investment (b) 7,537,500 -

Deferred tax asset (c) 2,254,336 2,996,986

Deferred asset under Central Bank of Lebanon – soft loan (d) - 1,207,014

Prepayments, deferred charges and accrued income 28,506,870 34,670,589

Due from personnel  1,437,577 1,159,101

Regulatory blocked deposit (e) 1,581,519 1,581,519

Fair value of derivatives (f) 12,387,397 10,350,551

Intangible assets (g) 29,475,173 26,564,129

Receivables on insurance operations (h) 36,259,732 27,843,128

Other  61,615,920 56,140,776

 203,413,438 189,544,455

LBP’000 LBP’000

Balance on January 1 57,063,987 53,995,995

Additions 19,145,250 3,165,750

Interest – Note 33 - 2,615,742

Collections (23,818,498) (2,713,500)

Balance on December 31 52,390,739 57,063,987

Deferred income (30,033,325) (30,033,325)

Net balance, end of year 22,357,414 27,030,662

“Receivables on properties sold with deferred payment” includes receivables from related parties amounting to 
LBP33.2billion net of deferred income in the amount of LBP30.03billion as at December 31, 2016 (LBP56.5billion and 
LBP30.03billion respectively in 2015).

Fair value of forward contracts 2,054,042 305,697

Fair value of currency option contracts - Note 27 10,333,355 10,044,854

 12,387,397 10,350,551

Deferred tax asset on financial assets at fair value

   through other comprehensive income – Note 31 495,385 -

Other deferred tax assets 1,758,951 2,996,986

 2,254,336 2,996,986

(b) During 2016, the Group acquired 65% of GroupMed Reinsurance Brokers Limited, incorporated under the laws and 
regulations of Dubai International Financial Center (DIFC), for a total consideration of USD6.4million (C/V LBP9.65billion) 
of which the Group has paid up to December 31, 2016 an amount of USD5million (C/V LBP7.5billion).  Subsequent to 
the financial position date, the Group has paid an amount of USD1.1million.  The acquisition is subject to the approval 
of the Dubai Financial Services Authority that was obtained on February 17, 2017.

(c) Deferred tax asset consist of the following:

(d) During the first half of 2009, BDL granted the Group a soft loan in the amount of LBP91billion, maturing on April 
21, 2016, in accordance with Decision number 6116 dated March 7, 1996, recorded under “Borrowings from banks 
and financial institutions and Central banks” (Note 23).  The loan proceeds are invested in Lebanese treasury bills 
pledged in favor of BDL until full repayment of the loan.  The present value of the net investment proceeds amounting to 
LBP19.5billion were used to finance write offs of debtors’ exposures under credit facilities used to refinance construction 
of property and acquisition of equipment damaged during the July 2006 war.  Aggregate financing granted by the 
Group to the eligible debtors amounted to LBP26.4billion as at December 31, 2015 in addition to interest receivable 
in the amount of LBP266.6million.  The interest differential between the investment in treasury bills and the soft loan 
and its related accrued interest in the amount of LBP23.8billion and LBP1.6billion, were deferred and netted against the 
financing granted to debtors.  During 2016, the soft loan was fully settled by the Group.

(e) The regulatory blocked deposit represents a non-interest earning compulsory deposit placed with the Lebanese 
Treasury upon the inception of banks according to Article 132 of the Lebanese Code of Money and Credit, and is 
refundable in case of cease of operations.

(f) Fair value of derivatives consists of the following:

 2016  2015

 2016  2015

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

December 31,

December 31,
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(g) Intangible assets are detailed as follows:

Advance payments on purchase of intangible assets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 represent mainly the costs 
incurred in connection with the acquisition of a new core banking system.

The Group has as at December 31, 2016 intangible assets commitments related to software acquisitions in the amount 
of LBP19.6billion (LBP16.2billion as at December 31, 2015).  

LBP’000LBP’000LBP’000LBP’000

Software Key Money

Advance 
Payments on 

Purchase of In-
tangible Assets Total

Cost:

Balance, January 1, 2015 46,165,271 3,295,329 10,592,880 60,053,480

Transfers from property and equipment 1,148,538 - - 1,148,538

Additions 2,232,153 - 2,264,965 4,497,118

Effect of exchange rate changes (5,204,033) - - (5,204,033)

Balance, December 31, 2015 44,341,929 3,295,329 12,857,845 60,495,103

Transfers from property and equipment 1,829,822 720,101 1,484,161 4,034,084

Additions 3,689,036 234,824 3,316,775 7,240,635

Effect of exchange rate changes (4,097,266) - - (4,097,266)

Balance, December 31, 2016 45,763,521 4,250,254 17,658,781 67,672,556

Amortization:

Balance, January 1, 2015 (28,405,224) (1,071,033) - (29,476,257)

Transfers from property and equipment (168,262) - - (168,262)

Amortization for the year (7,109,413) (206,208) - (7,315,621)

Effect of exchange rate changes 3,029,166 - - 3,029,166

Balance, December 31, 2015 (32,653,733) (1,277,241) - (33,930,974)

Transfers from property and equipment (1,329,173) (412,828) - (1,742,001)

Amortization for the year (5,523,045) (352,186) - (5,875,231)

Effect of exchange rate changes 3,350,823 - - 3,350,823

Balance, December 31, 2016 (36,155,128) (2,042,255) - (38,197,383)

Net Book Value:

Balance, December 31, 2016 9,608,393 2,207,999 17,658,781 29,475,173

Balance, December 31, 2015 11,688,196 2,018,088 12,857,845 26,564,129

Current deposits of banks and financial institutions 17,238,204 31,795,263 49,033,467

Money market deposits 39,500,000 247,435,461 286,935,461

Borrowings under sale and repurchase agreements - 159,559,091 159,559,091

Other short term deposits - 202,678,443 202,678,443

Current deposits – related parties - 3,228,377 3,228,377

Money market deposits – related parties 2,261,250 65,744,370 68,005,620

Accrued interest payable 126,243 2,634,488 2,760,731

 59,125,697 713,075,493 772,201,190

Current deposits of banks and financial institutions 126,734 5,930,662 6,057,396

Money market deposits 14,000,000 264,291,471 278,291,471

Borrowings under sale and repurchase agreements - 103,222,088 103,222,088

Other short term deposits - 127,320,841 127,320,841

Money market deposits - related parties - 64,583,880 64,583,880

Accrued interest payable 50,919 1,577,583 1,628,502

 14,177,653 566,926,525 581,104,178

(h) “Receivables on insurance operations” includes doubtful receivables in the amount of LBP4.1billion as at December 
31, 2016.

The movement of provision for doubtful receivables during 2016 and 2015 is summarized as follows:

The additions to provision for doubtful receivables during 2016 is booked under “Provision for impairment of other 
financial assets” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Doubtful receivables on insurance operations includes an amount of around LBP3.8billion (Nil in 2015) with related 
parties.

LBP’000LBP’000

20152016

Balance on January 1 - -

Additions 4,148,866 -

Balance on December 31 4,148,866 -

19. DEPOSITS  FROM  BANKS  AND  FINANCIAL  INSTITUTIONS

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP

LBP

LBP’000

LBP’000

December 31, 2016

December 31, 2015

C/V of F/Cy

C/V of F/Cy

Total

Total
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“Borrowings under sale and repurchase agreements” mature during the first quarter of 2017.  The borrowings are 
secured by foreign government bonds classified under financial assets at amortized cost in the consolidated statement 
of financial position (Note 47).

“Other short term deposits” include an amount of around LBP40billion representing margins against confirmation of 
export letters of credit as of December 31, 2016 (Nil as of December 31, 2015).

Accrued interest payable is segregated between the different categories as follows:

Customers’ deposits at fair value through profit or loss are denominated in foreign currencies.

Deposits from customers which are matched with an embedded derivative have been designated at fair value through 
profit or loss, where the underlying assets vary from product to product. 

Customers’ deposits at fair value through profit or loss include deposits where the underlying monetary value is invested 
in products yielding variable returns depending on the performance of baskets of commodities, global indices or 
Lebanese Government bonds all hedged through an effective over-the-counter call option. 

LBP’000 LBP’000LBP’000 LBP’000LBP’000 LBP’000

Related
Parties

Related
PartiesTotal TotalNon

Related
Non

Related

December 31, 2015December 31, 2016

Money market deposits 1,635,436 240,876 1,876,312 731,239 103,555 834,794

Borrowings under sale and repurchase

agreements 92,375 - 92,375 99,018 - 99,018

Other short term deposits  792,044 - 792,044 694,690 - 694,690

 2,519,855 240,876 2,760,731 1,524,947 103,555 1,628,502

20.  CUSTOMERS’  DEPOSITS  AT  FAIR  VALUE  THROUGH  PROFIT  OR  LOSS

 2016  2015

LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31,

Customers’ deposits at fair value through profit or loss 25,141,568 29,864,514

Accrued interest payable - 523

 25,141,568 29,865,037

The changes in the fair value recognized on these deposits and the related derivatives acquired for hedging are broken 
down as follows:

21. CUSTOMERS’  DEPOSITS  AT  AMORTIZED  COST

LBP’000LBP’000LBP’000
Fair Value Fair ValueInitial Value Initial Value

LBP’000

December 31, 2015December 31, 2016

Customers’ deposits at fair value

through profit or loss 25,141,568 25,141,568 28,404,540 29,864,514

Related derivative contracts

(held for hedging) - - 9,895 11,115

F/Cy Base Accounts

F/Cy Base Accounts

LBP Base Accounts

LBP Base Accounts

December 31, 2016

December 31, 2015

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

Interest
Bearing

Interest
Bearing

Non-Interest
Bearing

Non-Interest
Bearing

Total Interest
Bearing

Interest
Bearing

Non-Interest
Bearing

Non-Interest
Bearing

Total

Total

Total

Total

Current / demand deposits 288,895,461 18,344,848 307,240,309 827,283,726 626,869,927 1,454,153,653 1,761,393,962

Term deposits 4,523,280,010 - 4,523,280,010 11,048,659,263 - 11,048,659,263 15,571,939,273

Margins for irrevocable import

letters of credit - 8,000 8,000 68,935,825 30,303,800 99,239,625 99,247,625

Margins on letters of guarantee 5,009,997 1,980,414 6,990,411 19,086,755 18,370,071 37,456,826 44,447,237

Other margins 13,594,077 10,175,143 23,769,220 3,774,496 48,471,603 52,246,099 76,015,319

Accrued interest payable 24,542,990 - 24,542,990 54,190,208 - 54,190,208 78,733,198 

 4,855,322,535 30,508,405 4,885,830,940 12,021,930,273 724,015,401 12,745,945,674 17,631,776,614

Current / demand deposits 261,292,945 16,584,804  277,877,749 968,203,262  597,504,081 1,565,707,343 1,843,585,092

Term deposits 4,358,698,492 -  4,358,698,492 11,130,574,257  - 11,130,574,257 15,489,272,749

Margins for irrevocable

import letters of credit - - - 14,295,804  35,864,176 50,159,980 50,159,980

Margins on letters of guarantee 4,261,790 1,613,969  5,875,759 15,833,930  8,848,514 24,682,444 30,558,203

Other margins 12,498,607 9,038,885  21,537,492 4,817,131  31,237,779 36,054,910 57,592,402

Accrued interest payable 23,394,897 - 23,394,897 47,144,648  - 47,144,648 70,539,545

 4,660,146,731  27,237,658 4,687,384,389  12,180,869,032  673,454,550  12,854,323,582 17,541,707,971
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Deposits from customers at amortized cost at December 31, 2016 include coded deposit accounts in the aggregate 
amount of LBP3.46billion (LBP3.46billion in 2015). These accounts are subject to the provisions of Article 3 of the 
Banking Secrecy Law dated September 3, 1956 which provides unconditional privacy over the identity of the account 
holders.

Deposits from customers at amortized cost at December 31, 2016 include deposits linked to Lebanese Government 
bonds in the aggregate of LBP219.6billion (LBP291.08billion in 2015).  These bonds are owned by the Group and are 
classified as financial assets at amortized cost (Note 47).

Deposits from customers at amortized cost at December 31, 2016 include deposits received from non-resident banks and 
financial institutions relating to their fiduciary clients for a total amount of
LBP979.77billion (LBP1.67trillion in 2015) out of which LBP875.03billion are from a related company, a related bank and 
a subsidiary bank (LBP1.44trillion in 2015).

22. RELATED  PARTIES’  DEPOSITS  AT  AMORTIZED  COST

F/Cy Base Accounts

F/Cy Base Accounts

LBP Base Accounts

LBP Base Accounts

December 31, 2016

December 31, 2015

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

Interest
Bearing

Interest
Bearing

Non-Interest
Bearing

Non-Interest
Bearing

Total

Total

Interest
Bearing

Interest
Bearing

Non-Interest
Bearing

Non-Interest
Bearing

Total

Total

Total

Total

Current / demand 

deposits 27,166,093 548,378 27,714,471 19,001,693 8,282,390 27,284,083 54,998,554

Term deposits 37,910,520 - 37,910,520 456,885,534 - 456,885,534 494,796,054

Margins on letters of guarantee - 295,800 295,800 17,760 130,452 148,212 444,012

Other margins - 4,814 4,814 - 166,110 166,110 170,924

Accrued interest payable 256,403 - 256,403 533,408 - 533,408 789,811

 65,333,016 848,992 66,182,008 476,438,395 8,578,952 485,017,347 551,199,355

Current / demand 

deposits 5,434,086 360,183 5,794,269 53,441,447 8,003,495 61,444,942 67,239,211

Term deposits 194,420,421 - 194,420,421 368,400,942 - 368,400,942 562,821,363

Margins for irrevocable

import letters of credit - - - - 335,947 335,947 335,947

Margins on letters of guarantee - 286,085 286,085 5,784 37,831 43,615 329,700

Other margins - 818 818 1,508 236,285 237,793 238,611

Accrued interest payable 508,531 - 508,531 580,898 - 580,898 1,089,429

 200,363,038 647,086 201,010,124 422,430,579 8,613,558 431,044,137 632,054,261

Borrowings from Central Bank of Lebanon in LBP at December 31, 2016 and 2015 represent facilities in accordance with 
Central Bank of Lebanon Basic Decision No. 6116 of March 7, 1996 and its amendments by which the Group benefited 
from credit facilities granted against loans the Group has granted, at its own risk, to its customers, pursuant to certain 
conditions, rules and mechanism.

Borrowings from Central Bank of Lebanon in foreign currency at December 31, 2016 represent facilities granted 
by the Central Bank of Lebanon in the amount of USD250million and USD350million (USD250million at December 
31, 2015) for the purpose of partially funding the purchase of certificates of deposit issued by the Central Bank of 
Lebanon denominated in US Dollars in the aggregate nominal value of USD500million and USD570million respectively 
(USD500million in 2015), of which the amounts of USD250million and USD350million were pledged in favor of the 
Central Bank of Lebanon (Note 47).

23.  BORROWINGS  FROM  BANKS  AND  FINANCIAL  INSTITUTIONS  AND  CENTRAL  BANKS

24. CERTIFICATES  OF  DEPOSIT

December 31,

2016 2015

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

LBP LBPC/V of F/Cy C/V of F/CyTotal Total

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Borrowings from the Central

Bank of Lebanon – Note 47 157,890,210 904,500,000 1,062,390,210 105,292,394 376,875,000 482,167,394

Soft loan from the Central

Bank of Lebanon

 – Note 18 (d) - - - 90,936,000 - 90,936,000

Other long term

borrowings – Note 47 7,500,000 228,655,447 236,155,447 7,500,000 278,474,732 285,974,732

Accrued interest payable 1,973,664 2,703,951 4,677,615 1,608,118 2,061,255 3,669,373

 167,363,874 1,135,859,398 1,303,223,272 205,336,512 657,410,987 862,747,499

 2016  2015

December 31,

C/V of F/Cy C/V of F/Cy

LBP’000 LBP’000
Global certificates of deposit 753,750,000 753,750,000

Discount on issuance of global certificates of deposit (1,122,463) (2,306,386)

Accrued interest payable 1,800,625 1,800,625

 754,428,162 753,244,239
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On October 11, 2016, the Group’s management approved a USD500,000,000 Short-Term Certificates of Deposit 
Programme. The certificates of deposit will be listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and will not be sold or marketed 
in Lebanon.  The approval of the Central Bank of Lebanon was obtained on August 29, 2016.  As at the date of issuance 
of the consolidated financial statements the certificates of deposit were not issued yet. 

On December 14, 2012, the Group issued a USD500million Certificates of Deposits through an international bank 
summarized as follows:

Provisions consist of the following:

The Group has met its obligations in servicing these certificates of deposit.

Nominal amount of certificates USD 500,000,000
Issue price USD 497,300,000
Issue date December 14, 2012
Maturity December 14, 2017
Fixed rate of interest 5.375%
Interest payment date December & June
Outstanding amount (in LBP’000) 753,750,000

25. PROVISIONS

 2016  2015

December 31,

LBP’000 LBP’000

Provision for employees’ end-of-service indemnity 51,010,655 46,413,028 

Provision for contingencies 59,304,050 53,781,584 

Insurance technical provisions 6,768,635 8,297,782

Provision for loss on foreign currency position 748,705 747,736

 117,832,045 109,240,130

The movement of provision for employees’ end-of-service indemnity is as follows:

The movement of the provision for contingencies is as follows:

The movement of the insurance technical provisions is as follows:

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

2015

2015

2015

2016

2016

2016

Balance on January 1 46,413,028 44,701,077 

Acquisition of a new subsidiary - 58,061

Additions 9,705,621 6,540,327

Settlements (2,459,471) (2,059,200)

Write-back (1,479,689) (1,320,400)

Effect of exchange rate changes (1,168,834) (1,506,837) 

Balance on December 31 51,010,655 46,413,028

Balance on January 1 53,781,584 42,281,598 

Additions 7,180,069 18,885,850 

Settlements (20,524) (4,537,668)

Write-back (759,335) (1,322,664)

Transfer from other liabilities - 944,115

Effect of exchange rate changes (1,029,209) (2,533,755)

Other 151,465 64,108

Balance on December 31 59,304,050 53,781,584

Balance on January 1 8,297,782 2,622,993

Acquisition of a subsidiary - 99,738

Additions (net of write-back) – Note 38 (361,660) 6,441,059

Effect of exchange rate changes (1,167,487) (866,008)

Balance on December 31 6,768,635 8,297,782
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On November 20, 2015, the Group entered into a USD100million perpetual subordinated convertible loan agreement.

The Group obtained the Central Bank of Lebanon’s approval to account for this loan as part of its common Tier 1 capital.

The loan is subject to interest at a rate of 8.5% per annum subject to the availability of profits for that specific period and 
provided further, that, in the event that the Bank does not have sufficient available profit for the relevant period to pay all 
the interest due, the amount of interest due and payable shall be limited to the amount of available profit for such period 
and the obligation to pay any additional interest shall, to the extent of the shortfall, be cancelled.

The loan is perpetual and will have no fixed maturity or fixed redemption date, subject to earlier redemption at the 
option of the Bank (a) at any time, in the event that there is a change in the regulatory classification of the loan that results 
in the loan ceasing to be included in common equity Tier 1 and (b) at any time after the fifth anniversary of the loan date.

If a capital adequacy trigger event occurs at any time, the Relevant Portion of the subordinated loan shall automatically 
be converted into ordinary shares of the Bank.  Capital adequacy trigger event, means as of each calculation date, 
the ratio of the Bank’s common equity Tier 1 Capital (excluding the principal amount outstanding of the subordinated 
loan) to its risk weighted assets of such date falling below the minimum required from time to time under Central Bank 
regulations including Central Bank Circular 6939 dated March 26, 1998, as may be amended from time to time. 
Relevant portion means all of the subordinated loan or, if less, such portion as would, upon conversion, remedy the 
shortfall in the ratio which has triggered the capital adequacy trigger event.

The conversion rate is calculated by dividing the aggregate principal amount outstanding of the relevant portion of the 
subordinated loan plus accrued interest by the book value per ordinary share of the borrower rounded to the nearest 
whole number of shares and calculated in US Dollars by reference to the book value of such shares as calculated on the 
basis of the Bank’s most recent audited or reviewed financial statements.

Interest expense on the above perpetual subordinated convertible loan amounted to LBP13.7billion during 2016 
(LBP1.5billion during 2015) (Note 34).

26. PERPETUAL  SUBORDINATED  CONVERTIBLE  LOAN

(a) During 2016, the tax authorities initiated the review of the tax returns of the Bank for the years 2012 until 2014.  Up 
to the date of issuance of these financial statements, the results of this review were not issued yet by the tax authorities.  

During 2016, one of the Group’s subsidiaries was subject to tax examination for the fiscal years 2011 until 2014.  The 
tax assessment resulted in additional taxes in the amount of LBP935million after deductions related to the fiscal year 
2011 which was fully paid during 2017.  

The tax returns of the Bank for the years since 2015 and most of its subsidiaries for the years since 2012 remain subject 
to examination and final tax assessment by the tax authorities.  Any additional tax liability depends on the results of 
these reviews.

27. OTHER LIABILITIES

 2016  2015

December 31,

LBP’000 LBP’000

Accrued income tax and other taxes (a) 19,184,416 48,751,360

Withheld taxes on staff benefits and payments 

to non-residents 7,770,954 8,624,173

Withheld tax on interest 4,553,702 3,670,024

Deferred tax liability (b) 2,083,367 2,102,504

Due to the Social Security National Fund 2,597,548 2,360,704

Checks and incoming payment orders

in course of settlement 25,240,556 38,212,283

Blocked capital subscriptions for companies

under incorporation 930,127 4,721,740

Accrued expenses 53,427,624 61,195,369

Financial guarantee contracts issued 4,599,540 4,190,027

Fair value of derivatives (c) 17,587,456 13,902,346

Unearned revenues 5,946,464 6,206,348

Unearned insurance premiums and outstanding claims (d) 26,961,450 48,474,790

Payables from insurance operations  14,803,440 3,346,052

Sundry accounts payable 78,731,958 78,079,297

 264,418,602 323,837,017
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The following table explains the relationship between taxable income and accounting income:

(b) Deferred tax liability consists of the following:

(c) Fair value of derivatives consists of the following:

 2016  2015

 2016  2015

 2016  2015

December 31,

December 31,

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

Income before income tax 236,633,305 265,764,343

Income from subsidiaries, associates and foreign branches (45,023,059) (30,574,379)

 191,610,246 235,189,964

Add: Non-deductible expenses 21,721,836 149,784,314

Less: Non-taxable revenues or revenues subject

to tax in previous periods (19,972,098) (23,688,130)

Taxable income 193,359,984 361,286,148

Income tax (15%) 29,003,998 54,192,922

Shortage (25,395) -

 28,978,603 54,192,922

Add:  Income tax expense on subsidiaries 

and foreign branches 11,505,620 7,960,143

 40,484,223 62,153,065

Reversal of deferred tax liability - (6,030,000)

 40,484,223 56,123,065

Deferred tax liability on financial assets at fair

value through other comprehensive income - Note 31 1,304,258 2,102,504

Deferred tax liability on income from associate 779,109 -

 2,083,367 2,102,504

Fair value of forward contracts 6,595,450 3,857,492

Fair value of currency option contracts – Note 18 10,992,006 10,044,854

 17,587,456 13,902,346

 2016  2015

 2016  2015

December 31,

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

Balance on January 1 48,474,790 11,931,123

Acquisition of a subsidiary - 132,077

Net change (19,087,339) 39,714,518

Effect of exchange rate changes (2,426,001) (3,302,928)

Balance on December 31 26,961,450 48,474,790

Non-cumulative perpetual redeemable Series 2 Preferred shares 339,187,500 339,187,500

Non-cumulative perpetual redeemable Series 3 Preferred shares 226,125,000 226,125,000

 565,312,500 565,312,500

The negative fair value of currency options is related to call and put options entered into by the Group with its customers 
and back-to-back with a non-resident bank.  The offsetting positive fair value is recorded under “Other assets” (Note 18) 
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(d) The movement of unearned insurance premiums and outstanding claims is as follows:

The capital of the Bank as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 consists of 63,000,000 shares of LBP10,000 par value 
each, issued and fully paid.

On April 15, 2016, the ordinary shareholders’ general assembly approved the distribution of dividends in the amount 
of LBP45.23billion (USD30million) to the holders of common shares.

On April 23, 2015, the ordinary shareholders’ general assembly approved the distribution of dividends in the amount 
of LBP45.23billion (USD30million) to the holders of common shares.

The Group has set up a special foreign currency position to the extent of USD135.15million as of December 31, 
2016 (USD71.15million as of December 31, 2015) as a hedge of capital within the limits authorized by local banking 
regulations.

28. SHARE  CAPITAL

29. PREFERRED  SHARES



157156 BANKMED'S 2016 ANNUAL REPORT INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Group’s issued preferred shares carry the following terms:

Subject to compliance with applicable ratios and regulations, the Group may at its option, at each redemption date, 
redeem and cancel all or any part of the Series 2 and Series 3 preferred shares (but not less than 20%, each time, of 
the original issue size or, if less, 100% of the outstanding balance of Series 2 or Series 3 preferred shares).

Redemption date means any time after the issue date, if a regulatory event occurs or for the first time within a set period 
following the lapse of a 5-years period as of the date of the Ordinary General Assembly held to approve the accounts 
of the Bank for the immediately preceding fiscal year, in its sole discretion, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the 
Issue Price.

The ordinary shareholders’ general assembly approved the distribution of dividends to the holders of the preferred 
shares as follows:

Non-Cumulative Perpetual 
Redeemable Preferred Shares

Series 2 Series 3

Number of shares 2,250,000 1,500,000        

Share’s issue price USD100 USD100         

Share’s nominal value LBP10,000 LBP10,000        

Issue premium LBP316,687,500,000 LBP211,125,000,000       

Benefits USD6.75 payable in arrear USD6.5 payable in arrear

April 15, 2016      April 23, 2015Series

LBP’000 LBP’000

Series 2 preferred shares 22,895,156 22,895,156

Series 3 preferred shares 14,698,125 14,698,125

 37,593,281 37,593,281

30. RESERVES

 2016  2015

December 31,

LBP’000 LBP’000

Legal reserve (a) 155,566,642 136,490,391

Other reserves:

Property revaluation reserve 3,213,000 3,213,000

Reserve for general banking risks (b) 220,692,198 197,298,133

Special reserves available for distribution 10,377,755 10,377,755

General reserve for performing loans (c) 21,685,835 9,161,278 

Reserves for assets acquired in satisfaction of loans – Note 15 90,214,537 71,267,279 

Reserves from disposal of assets

acquired in satisfaction of loans – Note 15 11,483,692 4,202,639

 357,667,017 295,520,084

(a) Legal reserve is constituted in conformity with the requirements of the Lebanese Money and Credit Law on the basis 
of 10% of net profit for the bank and its Lebanese subsidiaries (other percentages apply to the remaining subsidiaries in 
accordance with their local laws).  This reserve is not available for distribution.

(b) The reserve for general banking risks is constituted according to local banking regulations, from net profit, on the 
basis of a minimum of 2 per mil and a maximum of 3 per mil of the total risk weighted assets, off-balance sheet risk 
and global exchange position as defined for the computation of the solvency ratio at year-end.  This reserve should 
reach 1.25% of total risk weighted assets, off-balance sheet risk and global exchange position at year 10 and 2% of 
that amount at year 20.  This reserve is constituted in Lebanese Pounds and in foreign currencies in proportion to the 
composition of the Group’s total risk weighted assets and off-balance sheet items.  This reserve is not available for 
distribution.

(c) In compliance with the basic circular no. 81 issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon, the Bank and its local banking 
subsidiaries are required to transfer from net profit to general reserve for performing loans the equivalent of:
 - 0.5% of retail loans that are less than 30 days past due (subject to deductions of some guarantees received) 
to general reserve for the year 2014 in addition to a percentage of 0.5% yearly over a six-year period starting 2015.
 - 0.25% of performing corporate loans to general reserve as of end of 2014.  This reserve should increase to 
0.5% as of end of 2015, 1% as of end of 2016 and 1.5% as of end of 2017.   The Bank is exempted from this general 
reserve if the balance of collective provision is not less than 0.25% of the performing corporate loans portfolio as of end 
of 2014, 0.5% as of end of 2015, 1% as of end of 2016 and 1.5% as of end of 2017.

 2016  2015

December 31,

LBP’000 LBP’000

Capital 303,345,514 278,688,533 

Reserves and retained earnings 20,823,922 40,568,429

Currency translation adjustment (149,807,698) (113,734,973)

Profit/(loss) for the year 2,703,971 (1,147,411)

 177,065,709 204,374,578

31. CUMULATIVE  CHANGE  IN  FAIR  VALUE  OF  FINANCIAL  ASSETS  THROUGH   
OTHER  COMPREHENSIVE  INCOME

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Cumulative 
Change in 
Fair Value

Deferred Tax Total

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Cumulative 
Change in 
Fair Value

Deferred Tax Total

Unrealized gain

on equity securities (Note 18 & 27) 9,023,093 (808,873) 8,214,220 17,856,718 (2,102,504) 15,754,214

Unrealized gain on fair value

of securities from associates and others 5,813,283 - 5,813,283 7,476,497 - 7,476,497

 14,836,376 (808,873) 14,027,503 25,333,215 (2,102,504) 23,230,711

32. NON-CONTROLLING  INTEREST
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33. INTEREST  INCOME

 2016

 2016

 2015

 2015

Year Ended December 31,

Year Ended December 31,

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

Interest income from:

Deposits with the central banks 73,972,206 151,636,134

Deposits with banks and financial institutions 8,756,406 7,245,193

Deposits with related party banks and financial institutions 1,660,913 834,206 

Financial assets at amortized cost 618,232,184 529,097,235

Reverse repurchase agreements and loans to banks 19,895,315 24,062,713

Loans and advances to customers 613,836,942 589,839,124

Loans and advances to related parties 27,457,604 22,216,683

Receivables on properties sold with

deferred payment – Note 18 - 2,615,742

Interest recognized on impaired loans

and advances to customers – Note 10 6,787,034 3,784,101

 1,370,598,604 1,331,331,131

Interest expense on:

Deposits from banks and financial institutions 10,326,447 6,782,653

Deposits from related party banks and

financial institutions 1,025,794 1,681,972

Securities lent and repurchase agreements 11,438,304 16,613,497

Customers’ deposits at amortized cost 813,489,038 760,738,348

Related parties’ deposits at amortized cost 26,202,326 35,648,166

Borrowings from banks and financial institutions

and central banks 31,589,571 16,244,533

Certificates of deposit 41,760,226 38,984,860

Perpetual subordinated convertible loan – Note 26 13,661,182 1,463,031

Other 869,285 2,789,253

 950,362,173 880,946,313

Interest income realized on impaired loans and advances to customers represent recoveries of interest. Accrued interest 
on impaired loans and advances is not recognized until recovery or a rescheduling agreement is signed with customers. 
 
Interest income on assets held at fair value through profit or loss, and other instruments designated at fair value through 
profit or loss is included under “Net results on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss (Note 37).

Interest expense on customers’ and related parties’ deposits at fair value through profit or loss is included under “Net 
results on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
(Note 37).

34. INTEREST  EXPENSE

 2016

 2016

 2016

 2015

 2015

 2015

Year Ended December 31,

Year Ended December 31,

Year Ended December 31,

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

Commission on documentary credits 5,148,271 5,993,714

Commission on acceptances 3,061,983 2,927,461

Commission on letters of guarantee 20,161,912 18,744,818

Service fees on customers’ transactions 60,929,282 61,141,001

Brokerage fees from customers 62,706,058 1,217,894

Commission on transactions with banks 303,816 1,159,228

Asset management, placement and underwriting fees 8,499,388 11,984,337

Commissions on fiduciary activities 1,504,603 2,196,150

Other 3,756,677 4,147,334

 166,071,990 109,511,937

Commission on transactions with banks and 

financial institutions 3,360,497 3,970,615

Safe custody charges 1,022,764 975,708

Other  9,538,002 11,261,201

 13,921,263 16,207,524

Interest income on assets at fair value through profit or loss 26,640,261 36,661,410

Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Note 8 (535,407) 8,648,282

Interest expense on customers’ deposits at fair value through profit or loss (1,626,522) (2,201,336)

Change in fair value of customer’s deposits at fair value through profit or loss 1,591,662 -

Fee income on customers’ deposits at fair value through profit or loss 10,486 11,997

Dividends received on assets at fair value through profit or loss 368,913 256,709

Gain on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2,059,896 2,965,052

 28,509,289 46,342,114

The increase in brokerage fees from customers resulted mainly from LBP60.6billion in fees net of associated costs, 
which were earned from the execution of trades of financial instruments with the Central bank of Lebanon on behalf of 
customers.

35. FEE  AND  COMMISSION  INCOME

36. FEE  AND  COMMISSION  EXPENSE

37. NET  RESULTS  ON  FINANCIAL  INSTRUMENTS  AT  FAIR  VALUE  THROUGH  PROFIT  OR  LOSS
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38. OTHER  OPERATING  INCOME  (NET)

This caption consists of the following:

Net insurance loss consists of the following:

This caption consists of the following:

 2016

 2016

 2016

 2015

 2015

 2015

Year Ended December 31,

Year Ended December 31,

Year Ended December 31,

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

Gain on sale of associates and other investments – Note 14 - 17,722,027

Dividends from equity investment securities – Note 12 12,129,230 13,242,838

Income from associates at equity method – Note 14 6,480,094 6,313,330

Gain on disposal of property and equipment 284,157 702,798

Foreign exchange gains 18,158,542 23,698,967

Commission from insurance brokerage 5,689,063 14,144,378

Net insurance loss (5,625,205) (11,023,300)

Gain on sale of assets acquired in satisfaction of loans 9,381,108 5,077,763

Other 7,005,366 5,645,214

 53,502,355 75,524,015

Professional fees and outsourcing services 43,754,417 31,808,880

Travel and hotel expenses 3,527,048 4,007,329 

Rent charges 21,591,778 22,276,105

Cleaning and maintenance of office premises 4,830,755 5,008,008

Electricity and fuel charges 4,896,811 5,663,832

Marketing and advertising expenses 24,226,108 26,580,052

Communication fees (telephones, fax, swift, etc.) 5,612,241 5,569,062

Furniture and equipment maintenance 5,395,047 5,906,029 

Hardware and software maintenance 14,191,163 13,273,850 

Insurance expense 1,245,127 930,700

Subscriptions fees 6,655,665 6,134,206

Printing, stationery, and office supplies 4,260,296 4,408,787

Fiscal stamps and other taxes 17,650,005 18,594,919 

Other 27,736,329 33,170,723

 185,572,790 183,332,482

Insurance income earned 37,408,397 38,828,058 

Insurance expense incurred (43,395,262) (43,410,299) 

Insurance technical provisions – Note 25 361,660 (6,441,059)

 (5,625,205) (11,023,300)

39. ADMINISTRATIVE  EXPENSES

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of 
the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Group 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential shares into ordinary shares.

The following table shows the income and share data used in the basic earnings per share calculation:

The guarantees and standby letters of credit and the documentary and commercial letters of credit represent financial 
instruments with contractual amounts representing credit risk.  The guarantees and standby letters of credit represent 
irrevocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third 
parties and are not different from loans and advances on the statement of financial position.  However, documentary and 
commercial letters of credit, which represent written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorizing a 
third party to draw drafts on the Group up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions, are collateralized 
by the underlying shipments documents of goods to which they relate and, therefore, have significantly less risks.
 

 2016

 2016

 2015

 2015

LBP’000 LBP’000

Weighted average number of common

shares outstanding during the year 63,000,000 63,000,000 

Effects of dilution from:

Perpetual subordinated convertible loan 4,893,261 4,945,709

Weighted average number of common shares adjusted

for the effect of dilution 67,893,261 67,945,709

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent  193,445,111 210,788,689

(Less): Proposed dividends to preferred shares (37,593,281) (37,593,281)

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent 155,851,830 173,195,408

Interest on perpetual subordinated convertible loan – Note 34 13,661,182 1,463,031

Net profit attributable to equity holders

of the parent adjusted for the effect of dilution 169,513,012 174,658,439

Basic earnings per share in LBP’000 2.47 2.75

Diluted earnings per share in LBP’000 2.50 2.57

40. EARNINGS  PER  SHARE

41. FINANCIAL  INSTRUMENTS  WITH  OFF-BALANCE  SHEET  RISKS
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Forward exchange contracts outstanding as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 represent positions held for customers’ 
accounts and at their risk.  The Group entered into such instruments to serve the needs of customers, and these contracts 
are fully hedged by the Group.  The forward exchange contracts outstanding as at December 31, 2016 include a 
forward transaction for the purchase of USD85.4million versus CHF87.1million (USD88.74million versus CHF87.1million 
as at December 31, 2015).  This transaction was effected to hedge the investment in the Swiss banking subsidiary.

Subsequent to year end, the Bank paid to the holders of First Priority Senior Secured Notes issued by Cell C Proprietary 
Limited and held in custody at the Bank, the interest which was due to be paid on January 1, 2017 in the amount of 
LBP13.82billion after Cell C failed to make interest payment due on January 1, 2017. Cell C is currently in the process 
of negotiating a restructuring plan with its creditors.

Furthermore, the Bank notified the holders of the notes that, in its capacity as custodian of the notes, it is working on 
a scheme pursuant to which the Bank has potentially elected to offer a scheme pursuant to which eligible holders of 
the notes may be reimbursed by the Bank or by another entity through the Bank (the “Paying Entity”) over a period of 
time to be determined by the Bank for the loss of principal (but not interest) on the notes, calculated as at the date of 
the restructuring. The Bank expects to announce the details of the plan once the terms of the restructuring are agreed. 

On February 27, 2017, Cell C Proprietary Limited announced a debt restructuring plan in progress with its key lenders. 
The expected closing date of the transaction should be no later than June 30, 2017. 

Cell C notes under custody of the Bank and those held against linked deposits (Note 8) amounted to LBP354billion as of 
December 31, 2016. The financial impact of the debt restructuring on the financial statements of the Bank, if any, cannot 
be presently determined, pending clarity on the restructuring progress by Cell C.

This caption consists of the following:

42. FIDUCIARY  DEPOSITS  AND  ASSETS  UNDER  MANAGEMENT

LBP’000LBP’000

Lebanon

LBP’000

December 31, 2016

Other Countries Total

Fiduciary deposits invested in deposits

with non-resident banks 53,869,247 94,818,450 148,687,697

Fiduciary deposits invested in securities portfolio 73,749,146 113,506,422 187,255,568

Fiduciary deposits invested in back-to-back lending 70,058,650 - 70,058,650

 197,677,043 208,324,872 406,001,915

Assets under management invested in

securities portfolio 215,351,816 965,951,132 1,181,302,948

 413,028,859 1,174,276,004 1,587,304,863

Fiduciary accounts and assets under management are segregated as follows:

In the ordinary course of its activities, the Group conducts transactions with related parties including shareholders, 
directors, subsidiaries and associates.

Loans and advances and deposits of related parties other than related banks and financial institutions consist of the 
following (excluding accrued interest receivable/payable).

LBP’000LBP’000

Lebanon

LBP’000

December 31, 2015

Other Countries Total

Fiduciary deposits invested in deposits

with non-resident banks 83,868,927 49,997,409 133,866,336

Fiduciary deposits invested in securities portfolio 52,404,837 112,716,794 165,121,631

Fiduciary deposits invested in back-to-back lending 39,770,389 - 39,770,389

 176,044,153 162,714,203 338,758,356

Assets under management invested in

securities portfolio 186,813,879 968,236,073 1,155,049,952

 362,858,032 1,130,950,276 1,493,808,308

LBP’000LBP’000LBP’000

Other
CountriesLebanon Lebanon

LBP’000

December 31, 2015December 31, 2016

Other 
Countries

Fiduciary deposits:

Non-discretionary 197,677,043 208,324,872 176,044,153 162,714,203

 197,677,043 208,324,872 176,044,153 162,714,203

Assets under management:

Non-discretionary 215,351,816 965,951,132 186,813,879 968,236,073

 215,351,816 965,951,132 186,813,879 968,236,073

 413,028,859 1,174,276,004 362,858,032 1,130,950,276

43. BALANCES / TRANSACTIONS  WITH  RELATED  PARTIES
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Interest rates charged on balances outstanding are the same rates that would be charged in an arm’s length transaction.
 
The financial statements include balances with banks and related parties that are reflected under deposits with banks 
and financial institutions, loans and advances to related parties, deposits from related parties, other assets, other 
liabilities and off balance sheet accounts.  Refer to the statement of financial position and notes thereto for further details.

Related party transactions not disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

- General operating expenses include approximately LBP27.64billion for the year ended December 31, 2016 
(LBP19.94billion for the year ended December 31, 2015) of which LBP2.26billion (LBP1billion in 2015) are accrued for 
under “Other liabilities” and represent charges for services rendered to the Group by related party companies.

- “Other Assets” and “Other Liabilities” include balances with related parties in the amount of LBP15.2billion and 
LBP329million respectively, as at December 31, 2016 (LBP9.4billion and LBP1billion, respectively, as at December 31, 
2015).

- Other operating income includes approximately LBP999million for the year ended December 31, 2016 (LBP155million 
for the year ended December 31, 2015) representing income from related parties for services rendered by the Group.

- Acceptances payable include acceptances payable to a related bank in the amount of LBP35.77million as at December 
31, 2016 (LBP1.14billion as at December 31, 2015).

- Acceptances receivable include acceptances receivable from related parties in the amount of LBP553million as at 
December 31, 2016 (LBP982million as at December 31, 2015).

- Guarantees, and standby letters of credit include guarantees issued on behalf of related parties in favor of third parties 
in the amount of LBP4.8billion as at December 31, 2016 (LBP6.7billion as at December 31, 2015).

- Guarantees, and standby letters of credit include guarantees issued to the benefit of related parties on behalf of third 
parties in the amount of LBP19.3billion as at December 31, 2016 (LBP16.2billion as at December 31, 2015).

2015

Year End Balance

2016

Year End Balance

LBP’000 LBP’000
Shareholders, directors and other key management

personnel and close family members:

Secured loans and advances 25,227,444 18,601,260

Unsecured loans and advances 3,239,170 2,629,580

Deposits 63,939,648 65,749,810

Related party companies:

Secured loans and advances, net 436,524,325 315,202,669

Deposits 486,469,896 565,215,022

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows consist of the following:

44. NOTES  TO  THE  STATEMENT  OF  CASH  FLOWS

 2016  2015

December 31,

LBP’000 LBP’000

Cash 185,795,201 183,009,881

Checks in the course of collection 60,061,227 76,423,821

Current accounts with central banks 96,220,876 169,406,081

Time deposits with central banks 60,054,738 33,165,000

Current accounts with banks and financial institutions 340,281,587 197,556,863

Time deposits with banks and financial institutions 689,723,583 735,245,768

Demand deposits from banks (52,261,844) (6,057,396)

Time deposits from banks (202,399,847) (223,582,737)

 1,177,475,521 1,165,167,281

- Documentary and commercial letters of credit include letters of credit issued on behalf of related parties in favor of third 
parties in the amount of LBP667million as at December 31, 2016 (LBP10.7billion as at December 31, 2015).

- Documentary and commercial letters of credit include letters of credit issued to the benefit of related parties on behalf 
of third parties in the amount of LBP356million as at December 31, 2016 (LBP1.14billion as at December 31, 2015).

- Forward exchange contracts receivable includes balances receivable from related parties in the amount of 
LBP23.46billion as at December 31, 2016 (LBP8.37billion as at December 31, 2015).  

- Forward exchange contracts payable includes balances payable to related parties in the amount of LBP23.36billion as 
at December 31, 2016 (LBP8.15billion as at December 31, 2015).

- Fiduciary deposits from related parties amounted to LBP106.5billion as at December 31, 2016 (LBP98billion as at 
December 31, 2015).

- Fiduciary deposits invested in related parties amounted to LBP113billion as at December 31, 2016 (LBP106billion as at 
December 31, 2015).
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Time deposits with and from Central Banks and banks and financial institutions represent inter-bank placements and 
borrowings with an original term of 90 days or less.

The following operating, investing and financing activities, which represent non-cash items were excluded from the 
consolidated cash flow statement as follows:

(a) Net increase in change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, deferred 
tax asset and deferred tax liability in the amount of LBP6billion, LBP495.4million and LBP1.78billion respectively against 
investment securities for the year ended December 31, 2016 (Net increase in change in fair value of financial assets 
at fair value through other comprehensive income, deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability in the amounts of 
LBP4.65billion, LBP1.1billion and LBP728million, respectively, against investment securities for the year ended December 
31, 2015).

(b) Increase in assets acquired in satisfaction of debts in the amount of LBP45.2billion against loans and advances to 
customers for the year ended December 31, 2016 (increase in assets acquired in satisfaction of debts in the amount of 
LBP20.23billion against loans and advances to customers for the year ended December 31, 2015).

(c) Increase in retained earnings in the amount of LBP673million against decrease in provision for employees’ end-of-
service indemnity as of December 31, 2016 (increase of LBP227million as of December 31, 2015).

During 2016, Turkland Sigorta A.S. (previously Demir Sigorta A.S.) increased its capital by an amount of TRL30million 
in which the Group participated according to its percentage of ownership.  The Group’s share of the capital increase, 
which is equivalent to USD5.6million (TRL16.5million) at the date of the increase was fully paid. As a result of this capital 
increase, non-controlling interests increased by an amount of LBP7.1billion during 2016.

Cynvest S.A.L. Holding, a wholly owned subsidiary, increased its capital in 2016 by an amount of LBP29.1billion fully 
subscribed and paid by the Group in 2016.

During 2016, Continental Trust Insurance and Reinsurance S.A.L. in Lebanon increased its capital by an amount of 
LBP20.1billion in which the Group subscribed into its share of the capital increase.

During 2015, the Group incorporated MedGlobal Investment S.A.L. Holding, a fully owned subsidiary with a capital 
of USD24,000.  The Group increased the capital of the said company to reach USD1million as at December 31, 2015.

During 2015, the Group incorporated a fund, Hawthorn Issuer Limited, with a capital of USD1.

On December 29, 2014, the Group acquired a 100% equity stake in Continental Trust Insurance and Reinsurance 
S.A.L. in Lebanon for a total consideration of LBP7billion fully paid in 2014.  Upon finalization of the acquisition 
price allocation in 2015, the excess of the consideration paid over the fair value of the net assets in the amount of 
LBP2billion was recorded under “Goodwill” (Note 16).  During 2015, the Company increased its capital in the amount 
of LBP2.55billion fully paid in 2015.

45.  BUSINESS  COMBINATIONS

Turkland Bank A.S. is a material partly owned subsidiary with a 50% equity stake held by the Group.

Summarized financial information of the subsidiary is provided below.  This information is based on amounts before 
inter-company eliminations:

Summarized statement of profit or loss:

46. MATERIAL  PARTLY  OWNED  SUBSIDIARIES

Total Assets 2,469,890,458 3,022,890,430

Total Liabilities 2,124,747,882 2,614,314,816

Total Equity 345,142,576 408,575,614

Attributable to non-controlling interest 172,571,288 204,287,807

Profit for the year 9,060,038 8,449,522

Attributable to non-controlling interest 4,530,019 4,224,761

 2016

 2016

 2015

 2015

LBP’000 LBP’000

Interest income 274,537,322 283,885,013

Interest expense (179,015,718) (181,685,317)

Fee and commission income 13,781,029 16,552,825

Fee and commission expense (790,920) (956,277)

Other operating income 4,831,620 4,446,853

Allowance for impairment of loans and advances (net of write-back) (15,005,954) (19,417,758)

Staff costs (43,341,912) (44,821,987)

Administrative expenses (31,828,521) (34,609,086)

Year ended
December 31,

LBP’000 LBP’000
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Summarized statement of financial position:

Turkland Sigorta A.S. (previously Demir Sigorta A.S.) is a partly-owned subsidiary with a 55% equity stake by the Group.

Summarized financial information of the subsidiary is provided below.  This information is based on amounts before 
inter-company eliminations:

Summarized statement of profit or loss:

ASSETS

Cash and deposits with central bank 261,160,843 344,802,179

Deposits with banks and financial institutions 239,629,872 201,335,146

Loans and advances to customers 1,450,056,498 2,043,588,830

Investment Securities 338,813,635 375,393,106

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks and financial institutions 324,460,510 231,836,906

Customers’ deposits at amortized cost 1,709,589,239 2,309,515,479

Related parties’ deposits at amortized cost 34,733,262 9,743,704

Total Assets 22,726,281 22,768,487

Total Liabilities 18,988,105 32,521,523

Total Equity 3,738,176 (9,753,036)

Attributable to non-controlling interest 1,682,179 (4,388,866)

Loss for the year (1,138,825) (15,751,846)

Attributable to non-controlling interest (512,471) (7,088,331)

Interest income 1,677,451 1,293,590

Insurance income earned 14,835,689 13,969,575

Insurance expense incurred (11,986,889) (23,680,404)

Insurance technical provision (103,119) (4,825,912)

Staff costs (2,822,283) (2,339,482)

 2016  2015 

 2016

 2016

 2015

 2015

Year ended
December 31,

Year ended
December 31,

Year ended
December 31,

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

Summarized statement of financial position:

The carrying values of financial assets given as collateral are as follows as at December 31, 2016:

ASSETS

Deposits with banks and financial institutions 14,965,106 10,087,935

Other assets 6,624,026 11,037,162

LIABILITIES

Other liabilities 13,214,267 25,696,006

Technical provisions 5,518,524 6,582,898

 2016  2015 

Year ended
December 31,

LBP’000 LBP’000

47. COLLATERAL  GIVEN

LBP’000

Pledged 
Amount

LBP’000

Corresponding Facilities

Nature of
Facility

Amount of 
Outstanding 

Facilities

Lebanese Government bonds at amortized cost - Note 23 214,668,000 Long term borrowing 104,017,500

Certificates of deposit with the

Central Bank of Lebanon - Note 23 904,500,000 Central Bank Time borrowing  904,500,000

  Borrowings under sale and 

Other foreign government bonds at amortized cost - Note 19 164,982,436 repurchase agreements 159,559,091

Pledged deposits with banks and financial institutions - Note 7 31,212,516 Participation in letter of credit 31,212,516

  Customers’ deposits at 

Lebanese Government bonds at amortized cost - Note 21 219,596,018 amortized cost 219,596,018

Blocked deposits - Note 7 2,260,664 Performance bond 2,260,664
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The carrying values of financial assets given as collateral are as follows as at December 31, 2015:

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Pledged 
Amount

Corresponding Facilities

Nature of
Facility

Amount of 
Outstanding 

Facilities

Lebanese Government bonds at amortized cost - Note 23 291,550,500 Long term borrowing 149,242,500

Lebanese Government bonds at amortized cost - Note 23 90,936,000 Soft loan   90,936,000

Certificates of deposit with the

Central Bank of Lebanon - Note 23 376,875,000 Central Bank Time borrowing  376,875,000

  Borrowings under sale                      

  and repurchase agreements                       

Pledged deposits with banks and financial institutions - Note 7 27,135,000 Participation in letter of credit   27,135,000

Lebanese Government bonds at amortized cost - Note 21 291,081,668 Customers’ deposits at  291,081,668

  amortized cost                    

Blocked deposits - Note 7 2,804,155 Performance bonds     2,804,155

In addition to the above, the Group has pledged “Other government bonds at amortized cost” with an aggregate value 
of LBP61.89billion as at December 31, 2016 (LBP47.43billion as at December 31, 2015) in favor of the Central Bank of 
Turkey and the Turkish Stock Exchange against rights to perform and enter into money market and other open market 
operations.

Over and above, the Group had contractual right of setoff arrangements with correspondent banks, details of which 
are disclosed under Note 7.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to comply with the capital requirements set by the Central Bank of 
Lebanon, the Group’s main regulator, to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain 
a strong capital base.

Risk weighted assets and capital are monitored periodically to assess the quantum of capital available to support growth 
and optimally deploy capital to achieve targeted returns.

The Central Bank of Lebanon requires each bank or banking group to hold a minimum level of regulatory capital of 
LBP10billion for the head office and LBP500million for each local branch and LBP1.5billion for each branch abroad.  In 
addition, the Group is required to observe the minimum capital adequacy ratio set by the main regulator at 14% as at 
December 31, 2016.

The Group monitors the adequacy of its capital using the methodology and ratios established by Central Bank of 
Lebanon. These ratios measure capital adequacy by comparing the Group’s eligible capital with its balance sheet assets, 
commitments and contingencies, and notional amount of derivatives at a weighted amount to reflect their relative risk. 

The Group’s capital is split as follows:

48.  CAPITAL  MANAGEMENT

Common Tier
1 capital ratio 

Tier1capital 
ratio 

Total capital 
ratio 

The Group’s consolidated capital adequacy ratio based on the Central Bank of Lebanon directives applicable as at 
December 31, 2016 and 2015 amounted to 15.44% and 15.28% respectively, and is determined as follows:

Common Equity Tier 1 capital: Comprises core capital and includes common shares, stock surpluses resulting from 
the issue of common shares, retained earnings, non-controlling interests and accumulated other comprehensive income.

Tier I capital: Comprises share capital after deduction of treasury shares, shareholders’ cash contribution to capital, 
non-cumulative perpetual preferred shares, share premium, reserves from appropriation of profits and retained earnings.  
Goodwill and cumulative unfavorable change in fair value of securities at fair value through other comprehensive 
income are deducted from Tier I Capital.

Tier II capital: Comprises qualifying subordinated liabilities, cumulative favorable change in fair value of securities at 
fair value through other comprehensive income and revaluation surplus of owned properties.

Certain investments in financial and non-financial institutions are ineligible and are deducted from Tier I and Tier II.

Furthermore, various limits are applied to the elements of capital base: Qualifying Tier II capital cannot exceed Tier I 
capital and qualifying short term subordinated loan capital may not exceed 50% of Tier I capital.
 

During 2016, the Central Bank of Lebanon issued intermediary circular no. 436 by which it amended Basic Circular 44 
related to the minimum Capital Adequacy Ratios (CAR). These ratios are set to increase gradually between December 
2016 and December 2018 as shown in following table:

Year ended 31 December 2015  8.0% 10.0% 12.0%

Year ended 31 December 2016  8.5% 11.0% 14.0%

Year ended 31 December 2017  9.0% 12.0% 14.5%

Year ended 31 December 2018  10.0% 13.0% 15.0%

Risk-weighted assets 13,683,254 14,019,490

Credit risk  12,409,561 12,411,808

Market risk  255,449 613,648

Operational risk  1,018,244 994,034

Tier I capital (including net income less proposed dividends and

reserves for assets acquired in satisfaction of loans) 1,972,148 1,956,921

Tier II capital  140,475 184,753

Total capital  2,112,623 2,141,674

Capital adequacy ratio - Common Equity Tier I  10.10% 9.72%

Capital adequacy ratio - Tier I 14.41% 13.96%

Capital adequacy ratio - Tier I and Tier II 15.44% 15.28%

 2016  2015

December 31,

LBP million LBP million

103,222,088Other foreign government bonds at amortized cost - Note 19 104,018,769
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The Group’s activities are principally related to the use of financial instruments including derivatives. It accepts deposits 
from customers at both fixed and floating rates and for various periods and seeks to earn interest margins by investing 
these funds in high quality assets. It also seeks to increase these margins by consolidating short-term funds and lending 
for longer periods at higher rates while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet all claims that may fall due. 
 

The Group also seeks to raise interest margins through lending to commercial and retail borrowers with a range of credit 
standing. Such exposures include guarantees and other commitments such as letters of credit and performance and 
other bonds. 

With the exception of specific hedging arrangements, foreign exchange and interest rate exposures associated with 
derivatives are normally offset by entering into counter balancing positions, thereby controlling the variability in the net 
cash amounts required to liquidate market positions.

Risk management is a systematic process of identifying and assessing the Group risks and taking actions to protect the 
Group against these risks.

The use of financial instruments also brings with it associated inherent risks. The Group recognizes the relationship 
between returns and risks associated with the use of financial instruments and the management of risks forms an integral 
part of the Group’s strategic objectives. 

The strategy of the Group is to maintain a strong risk management culture and manage the risk/reward relationship 
within and across each of the Group’s major risk-based lines of business. The Group continuously reviews its risk 
management policies and practices to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice.

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
- Credit risk
- Liquidity risk
- Market risk

A – Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if counterparty to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation. 
Financial assets that are mainly exposed to credit risk are deposits with banks, loans and advances to customers and 
other banks and investment securities. Credit risk also arises from off-balance sheet financial instruments such as letters 
of credit and letters of guarantee. 

Concentration of credit risk arises when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities 
in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual 
obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations of credit risk 
indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance affecting a particular industry or geographical location.

Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments affecting a 
particular industry or geographical location. The Group limits the impact of concentration risk in exposure by setting 
progressively lower limits for longer tenors and taking security, where considered appropriate, to mitigate such risks.
 

49. FINANCIAL  RISK  MANAGEMENT

1- Management of credit risk

The Group attempts to control credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting transactions with specific counterparties, 
and continually assessing the creditworthiness of counterparties. The Group’s risk management policies are designed to 
identify and to set appropriate risk limits and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits. Actual exposures against limits 
are monitored daily. In certain cases, the Group may also close out transactions or assign them to other counterparties 
to mitigate credit risk. The Group’s credit risk for derivatives represents the potential cost to replace the derivative 
contracts if counterparties fail to fulfill their obligation, and to control the level of credit risk taken, the Group assesses 
counterparties using the same techniques as for its lending activities.

The Group seeks to manage its credit risk exposure also through diversification of lending activities to ensure that there 
is no undue concentration of risks with individuals or groups of customers in specific locations or business. It also takes 
security when appropriate and also seeks additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators 
are noticed for the relevant individual loans and advances.

Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying 
agreement and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the adequacy of the allowance for 
impairment losses.

The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets products and 
emerging best practices.

2- Measurement of credit risk

a) Loans and advances

The Group assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties using internal rating tools. The Group’s rating 
scale reflects the range of default probabilities defined for each rating class as explained below:

• Watch List:  Loans and advances rated Watch List are loans that are not impaired but for which the Group 
determines that they require special monitoring. 

• Past due but not impaired: Loans past due but not impaired are loans where contractual interest or principal are 
past due but the Group’s management believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of collateral 
available and the stage of collection of amounts owed to the Group.

• Substandard loans: Substandard loans are loans that are inadequately protected by current sound worth and 
paying capacity of the obligor or by any collateral pledged in favor of the group.  Exposures where an indication of 
the possibility that the Group will sustain a loss if certain irregularities and deficiencies are not addressed exists are 
classified under this category.  The Group does not provide against these loans but it defers the recognition of interest 
income under unrealized interest.
 
• Doubtful loans:  Doubtful loans have, in addition to the weaknesses existing in substandard loans, characteristics 
indicating that current existing facts and figures make the collection in full highly improbable.  The probability of loss 
is high but certain reasonable and specific pending factors which if addressed could strengthen the probability of 
collection, result in the deferral of the exposure as an estimated loss until a more exact status is determined.  These loans 
are provided for and interest income recognition is deferred.
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• Loss:  Loans classified as loss are considered as uncollectible and of such minimal value that their classification 
as assets is not warranted.  This does not mean that the loan is absolutely unrecoverable or has no salvage value.  
However, the amount of loss is difficult to measure and the Group does not wish to defer the writing of the loan even 
partial recovery might occur in the future.  Loans are charged off in the period in which they are deemed uncollectible 
and therefore classified as loss.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in its loan portfolio. 
The main component of its allowance are specific loss component that relate to individually significant exposures, and 
a minor part of a collective loan loss allowance established for retail and Small and Medium Enterprises (SME’s) where 
there is objective evidence that unidentified losses exist at the reporting date. This provision is estimated based on 
various factors including credit ratings allocated to a borrower or group of borrowers, the current economic conditions, 
the experience the Group has had in dealing with a borrower or group of borrowers and available historical default 
information.

The Group writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for impairment losses) when it determines that 
the loans/securities are uncollectible.  This determination is reached after considering information such as the occurrence 
of significant changes in the borrower / issuer’s financial position such as the borrower / issuer can no longer pay the 
obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.

3. Risk mitigation policies

Collateral:

The Group mainly employs collateral to mitigate credit risk. The principal collateral types for loans and advances are:

- Pledged deposits 
- Mortgages over real estate properties (land, commercial and residential properties)
- Bank guarantees
- Financial instruments (equities and debt securities)
- Business other assets (such as inventories and accounts receivable)
 
Collateral generally is not held over loans and advances to banks, except when securities are held as part of reverse 
repurchase and securities borrowing activity. Collateral usually is not held against investment securities. 

Other specific risk mitigation policies include:

Netting arrangements:

The Group sometimes further restricts its exposure to credit losses by entering into netting arrangements with counterparties. 
Netting arrangements reduce credit risk associated with favorable contracts to the extent that if a default occurs, all 
amounts with the counterparty are terminated and settled on a net basis.

4- Financial assets with credit risk exposure and related concentrations

a) Exposure to credit risk:

2016 2015

December 31,

Gross Maximum
Exposure

Gross Maximum
Exposure

LBP’000 LBP’000

Deposits with central banks 2,959,121,637 4,168,212,444

Deposits with banks and financial institutions 1,190,466,581 1,114,739,704

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 350,220,933 637,314,405

Reverse repurchase agreements and loans to banks 690,110,678 316,789,257

Loans and advances to customers 7,160,939,423 7,408,844,872

Loans and advances to related parties 469,233,986 339,940,947

Investment securities 9,660,281,608 7,922,151,327

Customers’ acceptance liability 246,275,294 165,504,540

Other assets 96,266,012 89,741,245

Total 22,822,916,152 22,163,238,741

Financial instruments with off-balance sheet risks 3,123,993,991 3,780,907,911

Fiduciary deposits and assets under management 1,587,304,863 1,493,808,308

Total 4,711,298,854 5,274,716,219

Total credit risk exposure 27,534,215,006 27,437,954,960
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Below are the details of the Group’s exposure to credit risk with respect to loans and advances to customers (excluding 
deferred penalties):

December 31, 2016

December 31, 2015

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

Gross Exposure Net 
of Unrealized

Interest

Gross Exposure Net 
of Unrealized

Interest

Allowance for 
Impairment

Allowance for 
Impairment

Net
Exposure

Net
Exposure

December 31, 2016

December 31, 2015

Fair Value of Collateral Received

Fair Value of Collateral Received

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

LBP’000

Property

Property

Equity
Securities

Equity
Securities

Debt
Securities

Debt
Securities

Pledged
Funds

Pledged
Funds

Other

Other

Total

Total

Regular loans and advances 7,169,159,955 (293,419,403) 6,875,740,552 592,159,253 2,299,497,359 325,451,446 53,145,191 539,697,335    3,809,950,584

Substandard loans 94,966,579 (3,195,093) 91,771,486 829,125 82,164,499 - - -         82,993,624

Bad and doubtful loans 446,329,722 (237,634,044) 208,695,678 3,421 141,406,192 - - 6,138,632       147,548,245

 7,710,456,256 (534,248,540) 7,176,207,716 592,991,799 2,523,068,050 325,451,446 53,145,191 545,835,967   4,040,492,453

Regular loans and advances 7,569,692,700 (291,113,398) 7,278,579,302 607,754,229 2,440,068,995 237,128,035 119,114,450 321,100,719  3,725,166,428

Substandard loans 51,119,700 (5,281,513) 45,838,187 603,000 36,290,255 - - -  36,893,255

Bad and doubtful loans 234,586,627 (135,122,082) 99,464,545 208,405 129,350,571 - - 7,297,798  136,856,774

 7,855,399,027 (431,516,993) 7,423,882,034 608,565,634 2,605,709,821 237,128,035 119,114,450 328,398,517  3,898,916,457
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b) Concentration of financial assets by industry:

2016

LBP’000

Sovereign

LBP’000

Banks and
Financial 
Institutions

LBP’000

Retail
Trade

Manufacturing
Industries

LBP’000

Wholesale
Trade

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

2016

Private
Individuals

Real Estate
Developers

and Contractors

Hotels and 
Furnished 

Apartments and 
Restaurants

Educational, 
Media, Advrt, 
Legal, Acctg, 

Consulting and 
Admin Srvcs Total

Transport and
Storage and

Communication

Public Health 
and Social 
Services Other

Balance sheet Exposure:

Deposits with central banks  2,718,306,719 - - - - - - - - - -  240,814,918  2,959,121,637 

Deposits with banks and financial institutions  - 950,148,305 - - - - 634,349 54,055 - - -  239,629,872  1,190,466,581 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  272,883,879 54,214,032 - - - 19,738,986 - - 3,384,036 - -   -  350,220,933 

Reverse repurchase agreements and loans to banks  - 690,110,678 - - - - - - - - -  -  690,110,678 

Loans and advances to customers  - 547,007,127 332,763,513 692,187,542 637,236,375 144,264,627 1,290,486,853 2,668,090,471 253,927,915 149,934,120 131,453,149  313,587,731  7,160,939,423 

Loans and advances to related parties  - 457,847 2,318,777 - - 82,409,980 216,569,524 167,236,043 - 241,462 -  353  469,233,986 

Financial assets at Amortized Cost  8,783,642,961 20,641,454 - - - - - 1,528,315 - - -  379,796,887 9,185,609,617 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

income  - 153,097,620 - 12,913,245 - - - 298,079,325 2,541,378 - -  8,040,423   474,671,991 

Customers’ acceptance liability  - - 19,175,332 19,824,508 148,240,237 4,855,041 93,606 19,831,120 42,825 682,898 -  33,529,727   246,275,294 

Other assets  1,507,500 9,127,068 - - - 22,353,291 298,485 - - - - 62,979,668   96,266,012  

 11,776,341,059 2,424,804,131 354,257,622 724,925,295 785,476,612 273,621,925 1,508,082,817 3,154,819,329 259,896,154 150,858,480 131,453,149   1,278,379,579  22,822,916,152

Off-Balance sheet Risks: 

Guarantees and standby letters of credit  - 282,220,364 145,137,324 393,002,545 107,326,909 26,438,423 23,603,238 678,686,320 4,587,625 870,805 24,335,260  235,013,354  1,921,222,167 

Documentary and commercial letters of credit  - 24,691,924 20,209,572 97,123,155 128,418,587 515,917 196,987 18,552,714 - 584,910 -  11,638,356   301,932,122 

Forward exchange contracts  - 742,986,041 7,849,359 4,908,598 37,790,246 - 70,589,254 8,017,102 - - -  30,864,261   903,004,861
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2015

LBP’000

Sovereign

LBP’000

Banks and
Financial 
Institutions

LBP’000

Retail
Trade

Manufacturing
Industries

LBP’000

Wholesale
Trade

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

2015

Private
Individuals

Real Estate
Developers

and Contractors

Hotels and 
Furnished 

Apartments and 
Restaurants

Educational, 
Media, Advrt, 
Legal, Acctg, 

Consulting and 
Admin Srvcs Total

Transport and
Storage and

Communication

Public Health 
and Social 
Services Other

Balance sheet Exposure:

Deposits with central banks 4,168,212,444 - - - - - - - - - - - 4,168,212,444

Deposits with banks and financial institutions  - 1,114,739,704 - - - - - - - - - - 1,114,739,704

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  490,968,878 121,114,739 - - - 22,548,567 - - 2,669,260 - - 12,961 637,314,405

Reverse repurchase agreements and loans to banks - 316,789,257 - - - - - - - - - - 316,789,257

Loans and advances to customers  - 664,129,855 241,558,214 859,757,254 644,844,250 179,553,826 1,157,148,827 2,782,470,989 390,166,673 127,214,023 174,608,498 187,392,463 7,408,844,872

Loans and advances to related parties  - - 1,744,702 - - 135,675,000 23,188,450 179,332,795 - - - - 339,940,947

Financial assets at amortized cost  6,943,954,974 145,869,931 - - - - - 1,522,450 - - - 417,591,548 7,508,938,903

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

income  - 113,748,287 - 11,648,453 - - - 278,204,818 2,541,378 - - 7,069,488 413,212,424

Customers’ acceptance liability - 2,167,230 11,145,677 13,050,952 105,938,474 - - 23,218,524 21,270 - - 9,962,413 165,504,540

Other assets 1,507,500 10,086,614 - - - 28,580,531 66,109 - - - - 49,500,491 89,741,245

 11,604,643,796 2,488,645,617 254,448,593 884,456,659 750,782,724 366,357,924 1,180,403,386 3,264,749,576 395,398,581 127,214,023 174,608,498 671,529,364 22,163,238,741

Off-Balance sheet Risks: 

Guarantees and standby letters of credit - 319,240,469 102,146,572 337,235,042 154,901,428 36,704,420 18,057,214 888,025,474 24,681,411 30,962 111,061,304 86,976,275 2,079,060,571

Documentary and commercial letters of credit - 153,813,647 9,025,980 64,608,692 119,251,175 - 436,717 65,565,181 19,292,482 - - 22,059,257 454,053,131

Forward exchange contracts - 1,103,936,323 4,595,825 5,081,714 55,476,337 371,807 63,221,039 11,009,944 - - - 4,101,220 1,247,794,209
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c) Concentration of assets and liabilities by geographical area:

December 31, 2016

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Lebanon EuropeNorth 
America Other

Middle East, 
Gulf & Africa Total

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000
ASSETS 

Cash and deposits with central banks  2,767,589,827 100,368,313 - 276,958,698 - 3,144,916,838 

Deposits with banks and financial

institutions  249,927,638 137,661,389 324,294,711 460,513,385 18,069,458 1,190,466,581 

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss  280,295,167 50,915,724 - 15,514,828 3,495,214  350,220,933 

Reverse repurchase agreements

and loans to banks  543,735,929 2,779,819 - 143,594,930 -  690,110,678 

Loans and advances to customers  4,122,031,671 1,113,043,771 6,943,285 1,879,376,677 39,544,019 7,160,939,423 

Loans and advances to related parties  277,121,339 60,322,559 - 131,790,088 -  469,233,986 

Investment securities  9,216,232,105 74,942,855 15,671,209 353,435,439 - 9,660,281,608 

Customers' acceptance liability  134,860,077 53,764,016 - 57,651,201 -  246,275,294 

Investments in associates and other

investments  65,004,872 - - - -  65,004,872 

Assets acquired in satisfaction

of loans  404,483,406 - - 49,836,503 -  454,319,909 

Goodwill  177,936,009 - - - -  177,936,009 

Property and equipment  329,547,855 2,727,227 - 6,640,713 606,080  339,521,875 

Other assets  160,823,926 2,481,390 - 36,850,840 3,257,282  203,413,438 

Total Assets  18,729,589,821 1,599,007,063 346,909,205 3,412,163,302 64,972,053 24,152,641,444

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks and financial

institutions  316,716,753 179,796,200 1,581,062 264,272,013 9,835,162  772,201,190 

Customers' deposits at fair value

through profit or loss  14,286,796 8,939,224 - 1,915,548 -  25,141,568 

Customers' deposits at

amortized cost  12,596,054,132 1,854,741,017 282,222,376 2,195,324,962 703,434,127 17,631,776,614 

Related parties' deposits

at amortized cost  294,640,198 80,943,669 100,187,827 42,060,970 33,366,691  551,199,355 

Acceptances payable  134,860,077 53,764,016 - 57,651,201 -  246,275,294 

Borrowings from banks and financial

institutions and central banks  1,065,577,708 7,979,125 - 229,666,439 - 1,303,223,272 

Certificates of deposit  - - - 754,428,162 -  754,428,162 

Provisions  96,368,192 3,834,513 - 17,583,919 45,421 117,832,045

Perpetual subordinated

convertible loan  157,156,875 - - - -  157,156,875

Other liabilities  183,799,747 6,863,222 515,486 59,392,271 13,847,876  264,418,602

Total liabilities  14,859,460,478 2,196,860,986 384,506,751 3,622,295,485  760,529,277 21,823,652,977

December 31, 2015

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Lebanon EuropeNorth 
America Other

Middle East, 
Gulf & Africa Total

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000
ASSETS

Cash and deposits with central banks 3,806,177,767 156,350,255 - 388,694,303 - 4,351,222,325

Deposits with banks and financial

institutions 378,216,361 69,633,201 210,770,409 449,259,130 6,860,603 1,114,739,704

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss  495,321,200 84,811,609 - 44,782,952 12,398,644 637,314,405

Reverse repurchase agreements

and loans to banks 286,521,129 5,948,707 - 24,319,421 - 316,789,257

Loans and advances to customers 3,958,734,424 1,024,258,209 5,972,032 2,403,123,261 16,756,946 7,408,844,872

Loans and advances to related parties 49,807,044 152,652,098 - 137,481,805 - 339,940,947

Investment securities 7,311,103,276 134,512,522 15,597,755 454,901,402 6,036,372 7,922,151,327

Customers' acceptance liability 109,525,331 54,578,957 - 1,400,252 - 165,504,540

Investments in associates and other

investments 68,844,001 - - - - 68,844,001

Assets acquired in satisfaction

of loans  416,974,022 - - 15,543,268 - 432,517,290

Goodwill  178,846,645 - - - - 178,846,645

Property and equipment  302,245,300 4,372,108 - 9,326,996 322,067 316,266,471

Other assets  133,813,293 2,267,564 - 46,412,149 7,051,449 189,544,455

Total Assets  17,496,129,793 1,689,385,230 232,340,196 3,975,244,939 49,426,081 23,442,526,239

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks and financial

institutions 108,760,093 146,507,741 1,456,245 324,325,829 54,270 581,104,178

Customers’ deposits at fair value 

through profit or loss 21,640,501 79,298 - 8,145,238 - 29,865,037

Customers' deposits at amortized

cost 12,605,697,964 1,504,963,586 307,034,211 2,712,290,234 411,721,976 17,541,707,971

Related parties' deposits at amortized

cost 152,455,200 357,576,956 57,663,337 42,813,559 21,545,209 632,054,261

Acceptances payable 110,711,882 53,392,406 - 1,400,252 - 165,504,540

Borrowings from banks and financial

institutions and central banks 575,541,244 7,750,375 - 279,455,880 - 862,747,499

Certificates of deposit  - - - 753,244,239 - 753,244,239

Provisions  86,394,356 2,384,582 - 20,434,281 26,911 109,240,130

Perpetual subordinated convertible

loan 152,189,353 - - - - 152,189,353

Other liabilities  223,371,520 8,408,648 1,030,972 78,423,079 12,602,798 323,837,017

Total liabilities 14,036,762,113 2,081,063,592 367,184,765 4,220,532,591  445,951,164  21,151,494,225
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d) Credit quality by class of financial assets

In managing its portfolio, the Group utilizes ratings and other measures and techniques which seek to take account of all 
aspects of perceived risk.  Credit exposures classified as “High” quality are those where the ultimate risk of financial loss 
from the obligor’s failure to discharge its obligation is assessed to be low.  These include facilities to corporate entities 
with financial condition, risk indicators and capacity to repay which are considered to be good to excellent. 

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

High and
Standard Grades Sovereign Past due but

not Impaired

December 31, 2016

Neither past due nor impaired

Credit exposures classified as “Standard” quality comprise all other facilities whose payment performance is fully 
compliant with contractual conditions and which are not “impaired”. The ultimate risk of possible financial loss on 
“Standard” quality is assessed to be higher than that for the exposures classified within the “High” quality ratings. The 
credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Bank using internal credit ratings.  The table below shows the credit 
quality by class of asset for all financial assets exposed to credit risk, based on the Group’s internal credit rating system:

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Allowance for
Impairement

Collective 
Provision

Accrued
Interest

Individually 
Impaired Total

December 31, 2016 

Financial assets at amortized costs

Deposits with central banks - 2,948,490,117 - - - - 10,631,520 2,959,121,637

Deposits with banks and financial institutions 1,189,652,674 - - - - - 813,907 1,190,466,581

Reverse repurchase agreements and loans to banks 687,800,050 - - - - - 2,310,628 690,110,678

Other assets 94,758,512 1,507,500 - - - - - 96,266,012  

 1,972,211,236 2,949,997,617 - - - - 13,756,055 4,935,964,908 

Financial assets designated at fair value

through profit or loss

Lebanese government bonds - 88,540,413 - - - -  1,392,756 89,933,169

Certificates of deposit issued by the

Central Bank of Lebanon - 172,617,717 - - - -   4,403,779 177,021,496

Debt securities issued by companies 44,436,860 - - - - -   895,944 45,332,804 

Other foreign government bonds  - 5,913,500 - - - -  15,714 5,929,214

Quoted equity securities  822,083 - - - - -  - 822,083

Unquoted equity securities  31,182,167 - - - - - - 31,182,167

 76,441,110 267,071,630 - - - -  6,708,193 350,220,933

Loans and advances

Loans and advances to customers 7,068,821,216 - 29,326,638 644,643,112 (359,444,241) (293,419,403) 71,012,101 7,160,939,423

Loans and advances to related parties 524,975,872 - - - (59,984,933) - 4,243,047 469,233,986

 7,593,797,088 - 29,326,638 644,643,112 (419,429,174) (293,419,403) 75,255,148 7,630,173,409

Financial investments-Financial assets at fair

value through other comprehensive income

Quoted equity securities 302,093,797 - - - - - - 302,093,797

Unquoted equity securities  117,206,652 - - - - - - 117,206,652

Cumulative preferred shares issued by a Lebanese bank  7,537,500 - - - - - - 7,537,500

Non-cumulative preferred shares issued

by a Lebanese bank 47,834,042 - - - -  - - 47,834,042

 474,671,991 - - - - - - 474,671,991

Financial investments-Financial assets

at amortized cost 

Lebanese Government bonds - 1,764,425,741 - - - -  22,481,756 1,786,907,497

Certificates of deposit issued by the

Central Bank of Lebanon - 6,841,176,491 - - - - 130,378,443 6,971,554,934

Debt securities issued by banks 18,146,198 - - - - -  123,322 18,269,520

Debt securities issued by companies 43,600,989 - - - - -  117,527 43,718,516

Other foreign government bonds 364,879,818 - - - - - 279,332 365,159,150

 426,627,005 8,605,602,232 - - - -  153,380,380 9,185,609,617
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LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

High and
Standard Grades Sovereign Past due but

not Impaired

December 31, 2015

Neither past due nor impaired

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Allowance for
Impairement

Collective 
Provision

Accrued
Interest

Individually 
Impaired Total

December 31, 2015 

Financial assets at amortized cost

Deposits with central banks - 4,132,608,835 - 22,930,126 (22,727,979) - 35,401,462 4,168,212,444

Deposits with banks and financial institutions 1,112,756,042 - - - - - 1,983,662 1,114,739,704

Reverse repurchase agreements and loans to banks 316,512,877 - - - - - 276,380 316,789,257

Other assets 88,233,745 1,507,500 - - - - - 89,741,245

 1,517,502,664 4,134,116,335 - 22,930,126 (22,727,979) - 37,661,504 5,689,482,650

Financial assets designated at fair value through

profit or loss

Lebanese government bonds - 313,705,738 - - - - 3,822,740 317,528,478

Certificates of deposit issued by the

Central Bank of Lebanon - 169,078,944 - - - - 4,361,456 173,440,400

Debt securities issued by banks 30,909,268 - - - - - 209,589 31,118,857

Debt securities issued by companies 59,795,504 - - - - - 2,179,003 61,974,507

Credit linked notes issued by banks  29,116,687 - - - - - 368,459 29,485,146

Other foreign government bonds  - 12,961 - - - - - 12,961

Quoted equity securities  783,124 - - - - - - 783,124

Unquoted equity securities  22,970,932 - - - - - - 22,970,932

 143,575,515 482,797,643 - - - - 10,941,247 637,314,405

Loans and advances

Loans and advances to customers 7,483,769,501 - 21,799,001 371,433,078 (241,167,508) (291,113,398) 64,124,198 7,408,844,872

Loans and advances to related parties 336,433,509 - - - - - 3,507,438 339,940,947

 7,820,203,010 - 21,799,001 371,433,078 (241,167,508) (291,113,398) 67,631,636 7,748,785,819

Financial investments-Financial assets at fair 

value through other comprehensive income

Quoted equity securities 280,954,634 - - - - - - 280,954,634

Unquoted equity securities  81,982,251 - - - - - - 81,982,251

Convertible preferred shares issued by a

Lebanese bank 7,537,500 - - - - - - 7,537,500

Non-cumulative preferred shares issued by a

Lebanese bank 42,738,039 - - - - - - 42,738,039

 413,212,424 - - - - - - 413,212,424

Financial investments-Financial assets at

amortized cost

Lebanese Government bonds - 1,675,298,382 - - - - 25,153,989 1,700,452,371

Certificates of deposit issued by the Central

Bank of Lebanon - 5,107,043,270 - - - - 98,560,580 5,205,603,850

Certificates of deposit issued by banks 22,580,505 - - - - - 73,002 22,653,507

Debt securities issued by banks 119,019,506 - - - - - 462,348 119,481,854

Debt securities issued by companies 45,380,31 - - - - - 705,890 46,086,208

Other foreign government bonds - 414,368,559 - - - - 292,554 414,661,113

 186,980,329 7,196,710,211 - - - - 125,248,363 7,508,938,903
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B – Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its net funding requirements. Liquidity risk can be caused 
by market disruptions or credit downgrades, which may cause certain sources of funding to dry up immediately.

1- Management of liquidity risk

To mitigate this risk, management has diversified funding sources, manages assets with liquidity in mind, maintaining 
an adequate balance of cash, cash equivalents and readily marketable securities and monitors future cash flows and 
liquidity on a daily basis. The Group also has committed lines of credit that it can access to meet liquidity needs.

Liquidity risk is the Group’s ability to ensure the availability of funding to meet commitments, both on-balance and off-
balance sheet commitments, at a reasonable cost on time.  The management of liquidity should not lead to threats to 
the Group’s solvency.
Liquidity risk arises when in case of crisis, refinancing may only be raised at higher market rates (funding risk), or assets 
may only be liquidated at a discount to market rates (market liquidity risk).  Liquidity risk is also caused by mismatches 
in the maturities of assets and liabilities (uses and sources of funds).

In accordance with banking regulations issued by Central Bank of Lebanon, the Group maintains compulsory reserves 

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Accounts with
No Maturity

Up to 3 months 3 months to 
1 year

December 31, 2016

LBP Base Accounts

with Central Bank of Lebanon of 25% and 15% of the weekly average demand and term customers’ deposits in Lebanese 
Pounds.  The Group has the ability to raise additional funds through repurchase facilities available with Central Bank of 
Lebanon against Government debt securities.
The Group sets policies and procedures to ensure that its individual entities are in compliance with liquidity ratios 
imposed by the regulators in the countries in which each of these entities operates in addition to other internal limits and 
thresholds.

2- Exposure to liquidity risk

The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Group’s assets, liabilities and equity. The contractual maturities 
of assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the 
contractual maturity date, and do not take account of the effective maturities as indicated by the Group’s deposit 
retention history and the availability of liquid funds. Management monitors the maturity profile to ensure that adequate 
liquidity is maintained.

Residual contractual maturities of assets and liabilities:

The tables below show the Group’s assets and liabilities in Lebanese Pounds and foreign currencies base accounts 
segregated by maturity:

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

3 to 5 years 5 to 10 years Over 10 years1 to 3 years Total

LBP Base Accounts

December 31, 2016

ASSETS

Cash and deposits with central banks  428,342,405 60,068,974 - - 61,134,065 - - 549,545,444 

Deposits with banks and financial institutions  13,381,839 5,070,673 - - - - - 18,452,512 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  - 511,906 - 17,700,968 88,012,961 34,987,946 125,531,027 266,744,808 

Reverse repurchase agreements and loans to banks  - 189,910,625 455,492 2,518,929 - - - 192,885,046 

Loans and advances to customers  (11,331,164) 90,196,571 37,923,462 66,522,938 38,920,717 244,535,379 499,919,983 966,687,886 

Loans and advances to related parties  - 43,104 - - - 241,462 5,327,744 5,612,310 

Investment securities  38,343,508 - 19,523,921 21,568,673 435,991,775 1,634,966,928 2,188,906,552  4,339,301,357 

Investments in associates and other investments  9,662,133 - - - - - - 9,662,133 

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans  85,331,168 - - - - - - 85,331,168 

Goodwill  23,068,898 - - - - - - 23,068,898 

Property and equipment  315,166,973 - - - - - - 315,166,973 

Other assets  72,846,221 - - - - - - 72,846,221 

Total Assets  974,811,981 345,801,853 57,902,875 108,311,508 624,059,518 1,914,731,715 2,819,685,306  6,845,304,756 

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks and financial institutions  1,454 59,124,248 - - - - - 59,125,702

Customers’ deposits at amortized cost  23,294,289 4,356,292,050 356,878,601 47,329,335 70,680,988 16,334,907 15,022,255  4,885,832,425

Related parties’ deposits at amortized cost  412,988 46,159,326 - - - 16,001,216 3,608,477 66,182,007

Borrowings from banks and financial 

institutions and central banks  - 143,800,475 - - - 23,563,399 - 167,363,874

Provisions  74,790,447 - - - - - - 74,790,447

Other liabilities  36,476,436 - - - - - - 36,476,436

Total Liabilities  134,975,614 4,605,376,099 356,878,601 47,329,335 70,680,988 55,899,522 18,630,732  5,289,770,891

Maturity Gap  839,836,367 (4,259,574,246) (298,975,726) 60,982,173 553,378,530 1,858,832,193 2,801,054,574 1,555,533,865
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LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Accounts with
No Maturity Up to 3 months 3 months to 

1 year

December 31, 2015

LBP Base Accounts

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

3 to 5 years 5 to 10 years Over 10 years1 to 3 years Total

LBP Base Accounts

December 31, 2015

ASSETS

Cash and deposits with central banks 417,138,596 - - - - 1,225,489,904 - 1,642,628,500

Deposits with banks and financial institutions  16,475,733 15,465,738 - - - - - 31,941,471

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  - - - 7,385,074 102,843,994 2,398,106 152,301,674 264,928,848

Reverse repurchase agreements and loans to banks - - 302,791 910,984 3,358,974 - - 4,572,749

Loans and advances to customers  (115,236,030) 32,174,737 31,927,402 62,301,129 49,593,633 218,879,504 444,089,515 723,729,890

Loans and advances to related parties  - 13,518 - - - - 5,531,096 5,544,614

Investment securities 34,693,049 - 77,043,280 174,914,832 311,575,821 1,618,674,423 1,286,386,172 3,503,287,577

Investments in associates and other investments 10,013,244 - - - - - - 10,013,244

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans  82,047,432 - - - - - - 82,047,432

Goodwill  23,068,898 - - - - - - 23,068,898

Property and equipment  296,678,348 - - - - - - 296,678,348

Other assets 32,431,149 - 10,499,278 - - - - 42,930,427

Total Assets  797,310,419 47,653,993 119,772,751 245,512,019 467,372,422 3,065,441,937 1,888,308,457 6,631,371,998

LIABILITIES 

Deposits from banks and financial institutions - 14,177,653 - - - - - 14,177,653

Customers’ deposits at amortized cost 27,560,855 4,238,711,476 342,745,690 32,876,381 20,258,532 7,956,925 17,288,218 4,687,398,077

Related parties’ deposits at amortized cost 2,966,311 196,314,849 - - - - 1,728,963 201,010,123

Borrowings from banks and financial institutions 

and central banks - 100,804,423 90,080,985 - - 14,451,103 - 205,336,511

Provisions  68,733,615 - - - - - - 68,733,615

Other liabilities  75,063,309 - - 1,030,972 - - - 76,094,281

Total Liabilities  174,324,090 4,550,008,401 432,826,675 33,907,353 20,258,532 22,408,028 19,017,181 5,252,750,260

Maturity Gap  622,986,329 (4,502,354,408) (313,053,924) 211,604,666 447,113,890 3,043,033,909 1,869,291,276 1,378,621,738
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LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Accounts with
No Maturity

Up to 3 months 3 months to 
1 year

December 31, 2016

F/Cy Base Accounts

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

ASSETS

Cash and deposits with central banks  446,290,068 452,385,042 400,486,336 377,426,857 610,555,872 - 308,227,219    2,595,371,394 

Deposits with banks and financial institutions  564,483,348 588,682,764 18,847,957 - - -  -   1,172,014,069 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  32,456,500 - - 44,880,553 5,929,214 2,948  206,910  83,476,125 

Reverse repurchase agreements and loans to banks  2,546,955 350,166,965 97,920,554 46,591,158 - -  -  497,225,632 

Loans and advances to customers  (222,085,114) 3,096,285,868 1,279,286,923 991,313,174 691,003,529 250,947,102 107,500,055   6,194,251,537

Loans and advances to related parties  161,492 29,000,038 82,148,136 131,485 350,989,557 - 1,190,968  463,621,676 

Investment securities  436,116,366 592,515 45,743,634 145,284,213 241,554,99 2,041,538,444  2,410,150,086   5,320,980,251 

Customers’ acceptance liability 24,037,211 100,976,583 121,261,500 - - -  -  246,275,294 

Investments in associates and other investments  55,342,739 - - - - -  -  55,342,739

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans  368,988,741 - - - - -  -  368,988,741 

Goodwill  154,867,111 - - - - -  -  154,867,111 

Property and equipment  24,354,902 - - - - -  -  24,354,902 

Other assets  122,121,063 8,446,154 - - - -  - 130,567,217 

Total Assets  2,009,681,382 4,626,535,929 2,045,695,040 1,605,627,440 1,900,033,165 2,292,488,494  2,827,275,238  17,307,336,688

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks and financial institutions  254,620,569 236,910,454 178,238,200 43,306,265 - -  -  713,075,488 

Customers’ deposits at fair value through profit or loss  - 25,141,568 - - - -  -  25,141,568 

Customers’ deposits at amortized cost  859,395,775 6,925,097,584 2,898,576,889 1,533,466,800 479,537,665 45,665,561 4,203,915   12,745,944,189 

Related parties’ deposits at amortized cost  7,584,030 434,361,098 28,353,413 - 14,718,807 -  -  485,017,348 

Acceptances payable  24,037,211 100,976,583 121,261,500 - - -  -  246,275,294 

Borrowings from banks and financial institutions

and central banks  - 430,545,938 534,721,708 18,247,922 25,809,458 106,866,814 19,667,558  1,135,859,398 

Certificates of deposit  - - 754,428,162 - - -  -  754,428,162 

Perpetual subordinated convertible loan  157,156,875 - - - - -  -  157,156,875 

Provisions  43,041,598 - - - - -  -  43,041,598 

Other liabilities  227,942,166 - - - - -  - 227,942,166

Total Liabilities  1,573,778,224 8,153,033,225 4,515,579,872 1,595,020,987 520,065,930 152,532,375 23,871,473   16,533,882,086 

Maturity Gap  435,903,158 (3,526,497,296) (2,469,884,832) 10,606,453 1,379,967,235 2,139,956,119  2,803,403,765  773,454,602 

3 to 5 years 5 to 10 years Over 10 years1 to 3 years Total

F/Cy Base Accounts

December 31, 2016
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LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Accounts with
No Maturity

Up to 3 months 3 months to 
1 year

December 31, 2015

F/Cy Base Accounts

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

3 to 5 years 5 to 10 years Over 10 years1 to 3 years Total

F/Cy Base Accounts

December 31, 2015

ASSETS

Cash and deposits with central banks 624,324,191 33,832,273 150,863,553 679,181,410 912,069,077 - 308,323,321 2,708,593,825

Deposits with banks and financial institutions  335,296,057 646,714,733 100,787,443 - - - - 1,082,798,233

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  24,670,991 - - 81,656,394 40,018,142 74,992 225,965,038 372,385,557

Reverse repurchase agreements and loans to banks 6,514,819 239,966,659 35,679,218 30,055,812 - - - 312,216,508

Loans and advances to customers  (71,515,364) 2,953,375,794 1,198,981,183 1,501,755,422 658,447,080 348,229,665 95,841,202 6,685,114,982

Loans and advances to related parties  - 105,653,099 8,407,029 82,552,030 136,271,938 210,901 1,301,336 334,396,333

Investment securities 378,209,797 126,582,317 126,007,504 99,869,664 318,535,658 906,909,466 2,462,749,344 4,418,863,750

Customers’ acceptance liability 3,824,001 87,691,362 73,989,177 - - - - 165,504,540

Investments in associates and other investments 58,830,757 - - - - - - 58,830,757

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans  350,469,858 - - - - - - 350,469,858

Goodwill  155,777,747 - - - - - - 155,777,747

Property and equipment  19,588,123 - - - - - - 19,588,123

Other assets 146,614,028 - - - - - - 146,614,028

Total Assets  2,032,605,005 4,193,816,237 1,694,715,107 2,475,070,732 2,065,341,895 1,255,425,024 3,094,180,241 16,811,154,241

LIABILITIES 

Deposits from banks and financial institutions 291,233,558 265,039,488 10,653,479 - - - - 566,926,525

Customers’ deposits at fair value through profit or loss - 29,865,037 - - - - - 29,865,037

Customers’ deposits at amortized cost 663,837,580 7,774,148,487 3,503,055,198 551,889,838 107,417,552 251,146,061 2,815,178 12,854,309,894

Related parties’ deposits at amortized cost 17,260,804 371,712,923 13,246,192 4,308,050 24,516,169 - - 431,044,138

Acceptances payable 3,824,001 87,691,362 73,989,177 - - - - 165,504,540

Borrowings from banks and financial institutions

and central banks - 425,725,269 52,100,242 18,245,099 25,801,841 106,812,414 28,726,123 657,410,988

Certificates of deposit  - - - 753,244,239 - - - 753,244,239

Provisions  40,506,515 - - - - - - 40,506,515

Perpetual subordinated convertible loan 152,189,353 - - - - - - 152,189,353

Other liabilities  247,727,917 8,232 6,587 - - - - 247,742,736

Total Liabilities  1,416,579,728 8,954,190,798 3,653,050,875 1,327,687,226 157,735,562 357,958,475 31,541,301 15,898,743,965

Maturity Gap  616,025,277 (4,760,374,561) (1,958,335,768) 1,147,383,506 1,907,606,333 897,466,549 3,062,638,940 912,410,276
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C – Market Risks

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in 
market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices. 

1- Management of market risks

The Group classifies exposures to market risk into either trading or banking (non-trading) book. The market risk for the 
trading book is managed and monitored using a combination of limits monitoring and Value at Risk (VAR) methodology.  
Market risk for non-trading book includes Price and Liquidity risks that are managed and monitored through internal limits, 
gap analysis, stress testing and sensitivity analysis.

a) Market Risk-Trading Book

Trading Book contains the Group’s positions in financial instruments which are held intentionally for short-term resale and/
or with the intent of benefiting from actual or expected short-term price movements or to lock in arbitrage profits.
The Board has set limits for the acceptable level of risks in managing the trading book. The Group applies a VAR 
methodology to assess the market risk positions held and to estimate the potential economic loss based upon a number of 
parameters and assumptions for change in market conditions.
A VAR methodology estimates the potential negative change in market value of a portfolio at a given confidence level and 
over a specified time horizon. The Group uses simulation models to assess the possible changes in the market value of the 
trading book based on historical data. VAR models are usually designed to measure the market risk in a normal market 
environment and therefore the use of VAR has limitations as it is based on historical correlations and market price volatilities 
and assumes that the future movements will follow a statistical distribution.

The VAR that the Group measures is an estimate, using a confidence level of 95% of the potential loss that is not expected 
to be exceeded if the current market positions were to be held unchanged for one day. The use of 95% confidence level 
depicts that within a one-day horizon, losses exceeding VAR figure should occur, on average, not more than once every 
hundred days.

The VAR represents the risk of portfolios at the close of a business day, and it does not account for any losses that may occur 
beyond the defined confidence interval. The actual trading results however, may differ from the VAR calculations and, in 
particular, the calculation does not provide a meaningful indication of profits and losses in stressed market conditions.

b) Market Risk – Non-Trading or Banking Book

Market risk on non-trading or banking positions mainly arises from the interest rate, foreign currency exposures, equity 
price changes and liquidity risk.

2- Exposure to Foreign Exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that changes in foreign currency rates will affect the Group’s income or the value of its 
holdings of financial instruments.  The objective of foreign currency risk management is to manage and control foreign 
currency risk exposure within acceptable parameters while optimizing the return on risk.

Foreign exchange exposure arises from normal banking activities, primarily from the receipt of deposits and the placement 
of funds.  Future open positions in any currency are managed by means of forward foreign exchange contracts.  It is the 
policy of the Group that it will, at all times, adhere to the limits laid down by the Central Bank.  It is not the Group’s intention 
to take open positions on its own account (proprietary trading) but rather to maintain square or near square positions in 
all currencies.

The Management sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in the aggregate for both overnight and intra-day 
positions and hedging strategies, which are monitored daily and are in compliance with Central Bank of Lebanon rules 
and regulations.

Below is the carrying value of assets and liabilities segregated by major currencies to reflect the Group’s exposure to 
foreign currency exchange risk at year end:

December 31, 2016

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000ASSETS

Cash and deposits with central banks  549,545,444 2,365,884,371 13,951,323 1,649,274 213,886,426  3,144,916,838 

Deposits with banks and 

financial institutions  18,452,512 928,944,670 86,405,274 26,115,596 130,548,529  1,190,466,581 

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss  266,744,808 38,595,571 44,880,554 - - 350,220,933 

Reverse repurchase agreements

and loans to banks  192,885,046 397,592,427 1,735,189 3,006,618 94,891,398 690,110,678 

Loans and advances to customers  966,687,886 4,586,437,572 474,655,485 38,177,671 1,094,980,809  7,160,939,423 

Loans and advances to related parties  5,612,310 443,073,054 3,778,285 16,770,337 - 469,233,986 

Investment securities  4,339,301,357 4,934,983,454 10,615,649 - 375,381,148  9,660,281,608 

Customers’ acceptance liability  - 118,995,712 100,670,733 20,684 26,588,165 246,275,294 

Investments in associates and

other investments  9,662,133 55,342,739 - - - 65,004,872 

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans  85,331,168 319,152,238 - - 49,836,503 454,319,909 

Goodwill  23,068,898 112,120,246 - - 42,746,865 177,936,009 

Property and equipment  315,166,973 15,311,046 219,864 - 8,823,992 339,521,875 

Other assets  72,846,221 77,020,961 2,779,296 6,987,189 41,725,729 201,359,396 

Total Assets  6,845,304,756 14,393,454,061 739,691,652 92,727,369 2,079,409,564 24,150,587,402

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks and 

financial institutions  59,125,702 229,677,730 57,569,762 19,422,453 406,405,543 772,201,190 

Customers’ deposits at fair

value through profit or loss  - - 25,141,568 - - 25,141,568 

Customers’ deposits at amortized cost  4,885,832,425 10,714,475,917 679,704,789 138,159,896 1,213,603,587 17,631,776,614 

Related parties’ deposits at

amortized cost  66,182,007 454,052,440 8,268,789 218,070 22,478,049 551,199,355 

Acceptances payable  - 118,995,711 100,670,734 20,684 26,588,165 246,275,294 

Borrowings from banks and financial 

institutions and central banks  167,363,874 1,135,859,398 - - -  1,303,223,272 

Certificates of deposit  - 754,428,162 - - - 754,428,162 

Provisions  74,790,447 22,015,257 177,901 750 20,847,690 117,832,045

Perpetual subordinated 

convertible loan  - 157,156,875 - - - 157,156,875 

Other liabilities  36,476,436 143,033,896 4,758,494 7,050,770 66,503,556 257,823,152

Total Liabilities  5,289,770,891 13,729,695,386 876,292,037 164,872,623 1,756,426,590 21,817,057,527

Currencies to be delivered  - (542,101,152) (94,302,997) (6,081,035) (264,705,588) (907,190,772)

Currencies to be received  - 362,461,326 281,156,223 78,141,400 181,245,912 903,004,861 

Discount  - (351,493) - - (4,004) (355,497)

 - (179,991,319) 186,853,226 72,060,365 (83,463,680) (4,541,408)

Net on-balance sheet 

financial position  1,555,533,865 483,767,356 50,252,841 (84,889) 239,519,294 2,328,988,467

LBP GBPEURO OtherUSD Total

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000
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December 31, 2015

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000ASSETS

Cash and deposits with 

central banks 1,642,628,500 2,508,296,308 14,062,044 2,207,939 184,027,534 4,351,222,325

Deposits with banks and

financial institutions 31,941,471 806,605,376 87,628,181 35,852,844 152,711,832 1,114,739,704

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss 264,928,848 320,201,349 52,171,247 - 12,961 637,314,405

Reverse repurchase agreements

and loans to banks 4,572,749 288,696,338 19,824,395 3,645,488 50,287 316,789,257

Loans and advances to  customers 723,729,890 4,444,067,818 314,803,163 62,518,237 1,863,725,764 7,408,844,872

Loans and advances to related parties 5,544,614 256,891,683 6,900,474 - 70,604,176 339,940,947

Investment securities 3,503,287,577 4,006,809,028 12,956,577 - 399,098,145 7,922,151,327

Customers’ acceptance liability - 96,528,716 66,063,476 172,414 2,739,934 165,504,540

Investments in associates and

other investments 10,013,244 58,830,757 - - - 68,844,001

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans 82,047,432 334,926,590 - - 15,543,268 432,517,290

Goodwill 23,068,898 113,030,882 - - 42,746,865 178,846,645

Property and equipment 296,678,348 5,362,181 301,790 - 13,924,152 316,266,471

Other assets 42,930,427 76,879,324 7,279,043 3,745,799 58,404,165 189,238,758

Total Assets 6,631,371,998 13,317,126,350 581,990,390 108,142,721 2,803,589,083 23,442,220,542

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks and

financial institutions 14,177,653 177,029,542 78,222,478 13,432,384 298,242,121 581,104,178

Customers’ deposits at fair

value through profit or loss - - 28,723,413 837,448 304,176 29,865,037

Customers’ deposits at

amortized cost 4,687,398,077 10,267,896,415 859,578,871 138,800,295 1,588,034,313 17,541,707,971

Related parties’ deposits at

amortized cost 201,010,123 402,698,476 4,954,421 180,564 23,210,677 632,054,261

Acceptances payable - 96,528,716 66,063,476 172,414 2,739,934 165,504,540

Borrowings from banks and financial 

institutions and central banks 205,336,511 657,410,988 - - - 862,747,499

Certificates of deposit - 753,244,239 - - - 753,244,239

Provisions 68,733,615 18,083,516 176,378 901 22,245,720 109,240,130

Perpetual subordinated

convertible loan - 152,189,353 - - - 152,189,353

Other liabilities 76,094,281 146,634,005 7,670,068 3,805,267 85,775,904 319,979,525

Total liabilities 5,252,750,260 12,671,715,250 1,045,389,105 157,229,273 2,020,552,845 21,147,636,733

Currencies to be delivered  - (791,730,538) (85,097,718) (19,310,505) (355,020,341) (1,251,159,102)

Currencies to be received  - 441,952,940 509,806,251 101,934,433 194,100,585 1,247,794,209

Discount - (163,007) - - (23,895) (186,902)

 - (349,940,605) 424,708,533 82,623,928 (160,943,651) (3,551,795)

Net on-balance sheet 

financial position 1,378,621,738 295,470,495 (38,690,182) 33,537,376 622,092,587 2,291,032,014

LBP GBPEURO OtherUSD Total

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

3- Exposure to Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises when there is a mismatch between positions, which are subject to interest rate adjustment within 
a specified period.  The Group’s lending, funding and investment activities give rise to interest rate risk.  The immediate 
impact of variation in interest rate is on the Group’s net interest income, while a long term impact is on the Group’s net worth 
since the economic value of the Group’s assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet exposures are affected.

The Group manages this risk by matching or hedging the repricing profile of assets and liabilities through risk management 
strategies.

The Board has established interest rate gap limits for stipulated periods. 

The effective interest rate (effective yield) of a monetary financial instrument is the rate that, when used in a present value 
calculation, results in the carrying amount of the instrument. The rate is a historical rate for a fixed rate instrument carried 
at amortized cost and a current market rate for a floating rate instrument or an instrument carried at fair value.

Below is a summary of the Group’s interest rate gap position on assets and liabilities reflected at carrying amounts at year 
end segregated between floating and fixed interest rate earning or bearing and between Lebanese Pound and foreign 
currencies base accounts:
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Interest rate gap position in LBP:

December 31, 2016

LBP’000LBP’000

Up to 3 
months

Non-interest 
Bearing

LBP’000

3 months to 
1 year

LBP’000 LBP’000

1 to 3
years

3 to 5
years

5 to 10
years

LBP’000

Over 10
years

LBP’000

Floating Interest Rate

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31, 2016

Over 3 
months less 
than 1 year

1 to 3
years

3 to 5
years

5 to 10
years

Over 10 
years

Grand 
TotalTotal Total

Fixed Interest Rate

ASSETS

Cash and deposits with 

central banks  428,342,405  60,068,974  - -  - - -  60,068,974  - -   61,134,065  - - 61,134,065   549,545,444 

Deposits with banks and financial 

institutions  15,948,026  2,504,486  - -  - - - 2,504,486  - -  - - - -  18,452,512

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss  -  511,906  - -  - - - 511,906  - 17,700,968  88,012,961   34,987,946  125,531,027  266,232,902   266,744,808 

Reverse repurchase agreements and

loans to banks  -  189,910,625  455,492  2,518,929  - - -  192,885,046  - -  - - - -   192,885,046 

Loans and advances to customers  (11,331,164) 90,196,571   29,556,914  41,310,922   22,438,171   233,106,453  497,031,042   913,640,073   8,366,548  25,212,016   16,482,546   11,428,926  2,888,941  64,378,977   966,687,886 

Loans and advances to related parties  -   43,104  - -  - 241,462  5,327,744   5,612,310  - -  - - - -   5,612,310 

Investment securities  38,343,508  -  - -  - - - -   19,523,921  21,568,673   435,991,775  1,634,966,928   2,188,906,552   4,300,957,849 4,339,301,357 

Investments in associates and other

investments  9,662,133  -  - -  - - - -  - -  - - - -  9,662,133 

Assets acquired in satisfaction 

of loans  85,331,168  -  - -  - - - -  - -  - - - -  85,331,168 

Goodwill  23,068,898  -  - -  - - - -  - -  - - - -  23,068,898 

Property and equipment  315,166,973  -  - -  - - - - - -  - - - -  315,166,973 

Other assets 72,846,221  - - -  - - - - - - - - - - 72,846,221 

Total Assets   977,378,168  343,235,666   30,012,406  43,829,851   22,438,171   233,347,915  502,358,786  1,175,222,795   27,890,469  64,481,657   601,621,347  1,681,383,800   2,317,326,520   4,692,703,793  6,845,304,756 

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks and 

financial institutions  1,454  59,124,248  - -  - - -  59,124,248  - -  - - - -  59,125,702

Customers’ deposits at 

amortized cost  23,294,289   4,356,292,050   339,173,625  25,042,227   28,616,866   5,474,549  10,066,440  4,764,665,757   17,704,976  22,287,108   42,064,122   10,860,358  4,955,815  97,872,379  4,885,832,425

Related parties’ deposits at 

amortized cost   412,988  46,159,326  - -  -  16,001,216  3,527,326   65,687,868  - -  - -  81,151   81,151   66,182,007

Borrowings from banks and financial

institutions and central banks  -  143,800,475  - -  - - -  143,800,475  - -  -  23,563,399  - 23,563,399   167,363,874

Provisions  74,790,447  -  - -  - - - -  - -  - - - - 74,790,447

Other liabilities  36,476,436  - - - - - - - - - - - - - 36,476,436

Total Liabilities  134,975,614  4,605,376,099   339,173,625  25,042,227   28,616,866   21,475,765  13,593,766  5,033,278,348   17,704,976  22,287,108   42,064,122   34,423,757  5,036,966  121,516,929  5,289,770,891

Interest rate gap position  842,402,554 (4,262,140,433) (309,161,219) 18,787,624  (6,178,695)  211,872,150  488,765,020  (3,858,055,553)  10,185,493  42,194,549   559,557,225  1,646,960,043   2,312,289,554   4,571,186,864  1,555,533,865
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December 31, 2015

LBP’000LBP’000

Up to 3 
months

Non-interest 
Bearing

LBP’000

3 months to 
1 year

LBP’000 LBP’000

1 to 3
years

3 to 5
years

5 to 10
years

LBP’000

Over 10
years

LBP’000

Floating Interest Rate

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31, 2015

Over 3 
months less 
than 1 year

1 to 3
years

3 to 5
years

5 to 10
years

Over 10 
years

Grand 
TotalTotal Total

Fixed Interest Rate

ASSETS

Cash and deposits with 

central banks 417,138,596 - - - - - - - - - - 1,225,489,904 - 1,225,489,904 1,642,628,500

Deposits with banks and financial

institutions  19,531,541 12,409,930 - - - - - 12,409,930 - - - - - - 31,941,471

Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss  - - - - - - - - - 7,385,074 102,843,994 2,398,106 152,301,674 264,928,848 264,928,848

Reverse repurchase agreements and

loans to banks - - 302,791 910,984 3,358,974 - - 4,572,749 - - - - - - 4,572,749

Loans and advances to customers  (115,236,030) 32,174,737 25,393,866 34,849,433 33,515,571 209,302,871 442,364,148 777,600,626 6,533,536 27,451,696 16,078,062 9,576,633 1,725,367 61,365,294 723,729,890

Loans and advances to related parties  - 13,518 - - - - 3,398,826 3,412,344 - - - - 2,132,270 2,132,270 5,544,614

Investment securities 34,693,049 - 233,715 - - - - 233,715 76,809,565 174,914,832 311,575,821 1,618,674,423 1,286,386,172 3,468,360,813 3,503,287,577

Investments in associates and 

other investments 10,013,244 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 10,013,244

Assets acquired in satisfaction 

of loans 82,047,432 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 82,047,432

Goodwill  23,068,898 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 23,068,898

Property and equipment  296,678,348 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 296,678,348

Other assets  32,431,150 - - - - - - - 10,499,277 - - - - 10,499,277 42,930,427

Total Assets  800,366,228 44,598,185 25,930,372 35,760,417 36,874,545 209,302,871 445,762,974 798,229,364 93,842,378 209,751,602 430,497,877 2,856,139,066 1,442,545,483 5,032,776,406 6,631,371,998

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks and 

financial institutions - 14,177,653 - - - - - 14,177,653 - - - - - - 14,177,653

Customers’ deposits at 

amortized cost 27,237,658 4,239,020,985 296,356,421 21,726,451 3,202,247 4,272,626 11,981,644 4,576,560,374 46,389,269 11,149,930 17,056,285 3,684,299 5,306,574 83,586,357 4,687,384,389

Related parties’ deposits at 

amortized cost 647,086 198,634,075 - - - - 1,675,848 200,309,923 - - - - 53,115 53,115 201,010,124

Borrowings from banks and financial

institutions and central banks 250,375 99,148,239 - - - - - 99,148,239 91,486,794 - - 14,451,103 - 105,937,897 205,336,511

Provisions  68,733,615 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 68,733,615

Other liabilities  76,094,281 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 76,094,281

Total Liabilities  172,963,015 4,550,980,952 296,356,421 21,726,451 3,202,247 4,272,626 13,657,492 4,890,196,189 137,876,063 11,149,930 17,056,285 18,135,402 5,359,689 189,577,369 5,252,736,573

Interest rate gap position  627,403,213 (4,506,382,767) (270,426,049) 14,033,966 33,672,298 205,030,245 432,105,482 (4,091,966,825) (44,033,685) 198,601,672 413,441,592 2,838,003,664 1,437,185,794 4,843,199,037 1,378,635,425
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Interest rate gap position in F/CY:

December 31, 2016

LBP’000LBP’000

Up to 3 
months

Non-interest 
Bearing

LBP’000

3 months to 
1 year

LBP’000 LBP’000

1 to 3
years

3 to 5
years

5 to 10
years

LBP’000

Over 10
years

LBP’000

Floating Interest Rate

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31, 2016

Over 3 
months less 
than 1 year

1 to 3
years

3 to 5
years

5 to 10
years

Over 10 
years

Grand 
TotalTotal Total

Fixed Interest Rate

ASSETS

Cash and deposits with 

central banks  446,290,068 452,385,042 400,486,336 377,426,857 610,555,872 - - 1,840,854,107 - - - -   308,227,219   308,227,219   2,595,371,394 

Deposits with banks and 

financial institutions  568,842,099 569,358,907 1,163,931 - - - - 570,522,838 32,649,132 - - -   -  32,649,132   1,172,014,069 

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss  32,456,500 - - - - - - - - 44,880,553 5,929,214  2,948   206,910  51,019,625   83,476,125 

Reverse repurchase agreements

and loans to banks  2,546,955 350,166,965 31,646,691 - - - - 381,813,656 66,273,863 46,591,158 - -   -   112,865,021  497,225,632 

Loans and advances to customers  (222,085,114) 3,096,285,868 791,542,668 516,606,557 436,783,527 179,278,543 96,415,075 5,116,912,238 487,744,255 474,706,617 254,220,002  71,668,559  11,084,980  1,299,424,413   6,194,251,537 

Loans and advances to related parties  161,492 29,000,038 53,316,495 83,143 350,715,548 - 1,190,968 434,306,192 28,831,641 48,342 274,009 -   -  29,153,992  463,621,676 

Investment securities  436,116,366 592,515 - 43,578,124 124,104,794 171,260,296 - 339,535,729 45,743,634 101,706,088 117,450,200  1,870,278,148  2,410,150,086  4,545,328,156   5,320,980,251 

Customers’ acceptance liability 243,510,472 - - - - - - - 2,764,822 - - -   -  2,764,822  246,275,294 

Investments in associates and

other investments  55,342,739 - - - - - - - - - - -   -   -   55,342,739 

Assets acquired in satisfaction 

of loans  368,988,741 - - - - - - - - - - -   -  -  368,988,741 

Goodwill  154,867,111 - - - - - - - - - - -   -   -  154,867,111 

Property and equipment  23,944,348 - - - - - - - 410,554 - - -   -   410,554   24,354,902 

Other assets  121,394,468 8,446,154 - - - - - 8,446,154 726,595 - - -  -  726,595  130,567,217 

Total Assets  2,232,376,245 4,506,235,489 1,278,156,121 937,694,681 1,522,159,741 350,538,839 97,606,043 8,692,390,914 665,144,496 667,932,758 377,873,425  1,941,949,655  2,729,669,195  6,382,569,529   17,307,336,688 

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks and

financial institutions  254,620,569 236,910,454 15,669,177 - - - - 252,579,631 162,569,023 43,306,265 - -   -   205,875,288  713,075,488 

Customers’ deposits at fair value

through profit or loss  - 25,141,568 - - - - - 25,141,568 - - - -   -   -   25,141,568 

Customers’ deposits at 

amortized cost  859,395,776 6,925,097,584 838,657,442 670,617,015 462,637,155 40,756,345 397,649 8,938,163,190 2,059,919,446 862,849,785 16,900,510  4,909,216  3,806,266  2,948,385,223   12,745,944,189 

Related parties’ deposits at 

amortized cost  7,584,030 434,361,098 6,644,964 - 14,718,807 - - 455,724,869 21,708,449 - - -   -  21,708,449  485,017,348 

Acceptances payable  243,510,472 - - - - - - - 2,764,822 - - -   -  2,764,822  246,275,294 

Borrowings from banks and

financial institutions and central banks  - 430,545,938 6,700,990 18,247,922 25,809,458 106,866,814 19,667,558 607,838,680 528,020,718 - - -   -   528,020,718   1,135,859,398 

Certificates of deposit  - - - - - - - - 754,428,162 - - -   -   754,428,162  754,428,162 

Perpetual subordinated convertible loan  - - 157,156,875 - - - - 157,156,875 - - - -   -   -  157,156,875 

Provisions  37,267,760 - - - - - - - 5,773,838 - - -   -  5,773,838   43,041,598 

Other liabilities  227,942,166 - - - - - - - - - - -  -  - 227,942,166 

Total Liabilities  1,630,320,773 8,052,056,642 1,024,829,448 688,864,937 503,165,420 147,623,159 20,065,207 10,436,604,813 3,535,184,458 906,156,050 16,900,510  4,909,216  3,806,266  4,466,956,500   16,533,882,086 

Interest rate gap position  602,055,472 (3,545,821,153) 253,326,673 248,829,744 1,018,994,321 202,915,680 77,540,836 (1,744,213,899) (2,870,039,962) (238,223,292) 360,972,915  1,937,040,439 2,725,862,929 1,915,613,029 773,454,602 
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December 31, 2015

LBP’000LBP’000

Up to 3 
months

Non-interest 
Bearing

LBP’000

3 months to 
1 year

LBP’000 LBP’000

1 to 3
years

3 to 5
years

5 to 10
years

LBP’000

Over 10
years

LBP’000

Floating Interest Rate

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31, 2015

Over 3 
months less 
than 1 year

1 to 3
years

3 to 5
years

5 to 10
years

Over 10 
years

Grand 
TotalTotal Total

Fixed Interest Rate

Cash and deposits with 

central banks 624,324,191 33,832,273 150,863,553 679,181,410 912,069,077 - - 1,775,946,313 - - - - 308,323,321 308,323,321 2,708,593,825

Deposits with banks and financial

institutions  335,379,782 646,631,008 18,357,256 - - - - 664,988,264 82,430,187 - - - - 82,430,187 1,082,798,233

Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss  24,670,991 - - - - - - - - 81,656,394 40,018,142 74,992 225,965,038 347,714,566 372,385,557

Reverse repurchase agreements and

loans to banks 6,514,819 239,966,659 35,624,704 30,055,812 - - - 305,647,175 54,514 - - - - 54,514 312,216,508

Loans and advances to customers  (71,515,362) 2,953,375,794 399,589,959 818,515,442 413,473,997 306,629,128 91,946,494 4,983,530,814 799,391,223 683,239,980 244,973,084 41,600,536 3,894,707 1,773,099,530 6,685,114,982

Loans and advances to related parties  - 105,653,099 136,772 82,520,670 489,812 210,901 1,301,336 190,312,590 8,270,257 31,360 135,782,126 - - 144,083,743 334,396,333

Investment securities 378,209,797 126,582,317 53,008,619 90,812 22,218,963 315,148,555 - 517,049,266 74,224,170 99,721,567 296,165,991 591,610,161 2,461,882,798 3,523,604,687 4,418,863,750

Customers’ acceptance liability 165,504,540 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 165,504,540

Investments in associates 

and other investments 58,830,757 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 58,830,757

Assets acquired in satisfaction 

of loans  350,469,858 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 350,469,858

Goodwill  155,777,747 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 155,777,747

Property and equipment  19,588,123 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 19,588,123

Other assets  146,614,028 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 146,614,028

Total Assets  2,194,369,271 4,106,041,150 657,580,863 1,610,364,146 1,348,251,849 621,988,584 93,247,830 8,437,474,422 964,370,351 864,649,301 716,939,343 633,285,689 3,000,065,864 6,179,310,548 16,811,154,241

LIABILITIES

Deposits from banks and financial

institutions 291,233,558 265,039,488 - - - - - 265,039,488 10,653,479 - - - - 10,653,479 566,926,525

Customers’ deposits at fair value

through profit or loss - 29,865,037 - - - - - 29,865,037 - - - - - - 29,865,037

Customers’ deposits at 

amortized cost 673,454,550 7,764,545,206 965,186,960 188,212,746 81,432,050 248,384,271 965,128 9,248,726,361 2,537,868,237 363,677,092 25,985,502 2,761,790 1,850,050 2,932,142,671 12,854,323,582

Related parties’ deposits at 

amortized cost 8,613,558 380,360,168 13,246,192 4,308,050 24,516,169 - - 422,430,579 - - - - - - 431,044,137

Acceptances payable 165,504,540 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 165,504,540

Borrowings from banks and financial

institutions and central banks - 425,725,269 52,100,242 18,245,099 25,801,841 97,741,007 19,654,716 639,268,174 - - - 9,071,407 9,071,407 18,142,814 657,410,988

 Certificates of deposit  - - - - - - - - - 753,244,239 - - - 753,244,239 753,244,239

Provisions  40,506,515 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 40,506,515

Perpetual subordinated 

convertible loan - - 152,189,353 - - - - 152,189,353 - - - - - - 152,189,353

 Other liabilities  247,742,736 - - - - - - - - - - - - - 247,742,736

Total Liabilities  1,427,055,457 8,865,535,168 1,182,722,747 210,765,895 131,750,060 346,125,278 20,619,844 10,757,518,992 2,548,521,716 1,116,921,331 25,985,502 11,833,197 10,921,457 3,714,183,203 15,898,757,652

Interest rate gap position  767,313,814 (4,759,494,018) (525,141,884) 1,399,598,251 1,216,501,789 275,863,306 72,627,986 (2,320,044,570) (1,584,151,365) (252,272,030) 690,953,841 621,452,492 2,989,144,407 2,465,127,345 912,396,589
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The effect of a 50 basis point change in interest rates upwards on the earnings of the Group for the subsequent fiscal year 
for the statement of financial position structure and exposure would be a decrease of LBP53.62billion for the year 2016 
(LBP57.68billion for the year 2015), a downwards movement will have an inverse effect.

The effect of a change in interest rate by 50 basis points on fair values of financial assets and liabilities stated at fair value 
as at December 31, 2016 would be in the amount of approximately LBP7.45billion and LBP nil, respectively (LBP19.98billion 
and LBP Nil, respectively in 2015) summarized as follows

LBP’000

Change in 
Fair Value

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss              7,451,636         

Customers’ deposits at fair value through profit or loss                           -

The fair values in this note are stated at a specific date and may be different from the amounts which will actually be 
paid on the maturity or settlement dates of the instrument. In many cases, it would not be possible to realize immediately 
the estimated fair values given the size of the portfolios measured. Accordingly, these fair values do not represent the 
value of these instruments to the Group as a going concern. Financial assets and liabilities are classified according to a 
hierarchy that reflects the significance of observable market inputs.

The fair values included in the table below for assets and liabilities for which fair value is disclosed were calculated for 
disclosure purposes only. Other institutions may use different methods and assumptions for their fair value estimations, 
and therefore such fair value disclosures cannot necessarily be compared from one institution to another.

The summary of the Group’s classification of each class of assets and liabilities and their fair values are as follows:

50. FAIR  VALUE  OF  FINANCIAL  ASSETS  AND  LIABILITIES

Assets measured at:

Fair value through profit or loss

Lebanese government bonds 8 89,933,169 - 89,933,169 - 89,933,169

Certificates of deposit issued by

the Central Bank of Lebanon 8 177,021,496 - 177,021,496 - 177,021,496 

Debt securities issued by companies 8 45,332,804 19,738,986 25,593,818 - 45,332,804

Other foreign government bonds  8 5,929,214 5,929,214 - - 5,929,214

Quoted equity securities  8 822,083 822,083 - - 822,083

Unquoted equity securities  8 31,182,167 - 27,798,131 3,384,036 31,182,167

  350,220,933 26,490,283 320,346,614 3,384,036 350,220,933

December 31, 2016

LBP’000 LBP’000

Notes Level 2Level 1 Level 3
Carrying
Amount Total

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31, 2016

LBP’000 LBP’000

Notes Level 2Level 1 Level 3
Carrying
Amount Total

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Fair value through other  comprehensive income

Quoted equity securities 12 302,093,797 302,093,797 - - 302,093,797

Unquoted equity securities  12 104,892,740 - 22,031,314 82,861,426 104,892,740

Cumulative preferred shares issued

by a Lebanese bank  12 7,537,500 - - 7,537,500 7,537,500

Non-cumulative preferred shares

issued by Lebanese banks 12 47,834,042 - 212,117 47,621,925 47,834,042

  462,358,079 302,093,797 22,243,431 138,020,851 462,358,079

Amortized cost

Deposits with central banks 6 2,959,121,637 - 2,980,698,119 - 2,980,698,119 

Deposits with banks and financial institutions 7 1,190,466,581 - 1,185,591,049 - 1,185,591,049

Reverse repurchase agreements

and loans to banks 9 690,110,678 - 691,087,881 - 691,087,881

Loans and advances to customers 10 7,160,939,423 - - 7,186,453,857 7,186,453,857

Loans and advances to related parties 11 469,233,986 - - 469,233,986 469,233,986

Lebanese government bonds 12 1,786,907,497 - 1,779,221,512 - 1,779,221,512 

Certificates of deposit issued by

the Central Bank of Lebanon 12 6,971,554,934 - 7,177,812,623 - 7,177,812,623

Debt securities issued by banks 12 18,269,520 - 18,303,693 - 18,303,693 

Debt securities issued by companies 12 43,718,516 - 43,624,910 - 43,624,910

Other foreign government bonds 12 365,159,150 324,047,818 26,367,184 - 350,415,002

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans 15 454,319,909 - 837,380,074 -  837,380,074 

  22,109,801,831 324,047,818 14,740,087,045 7,655,687,843 22,719,822,706

Liabilities measured at:

Fair value through profit or loss

Customers’ deposits at fair value

through profit or loss 20 25,141,568 25,141,568 - - 25,141,568

  25,141,568 25,141,568 - - 25,141,568

Amortized cost

Deposits from banks and financial institutions 19 772,201,190 - 768,398,576 - 768,398,576 

Customers’ deposits at amortized cost 21 17,631,776,614 - 17,543,095,245 - 17,543,095,245

Related parties’ deposits at amortized cost 22 551,199,355 - 551,949,471 - 551,949,471

Borrowings from banks and financial

institutions and central banks 23 1,303,223,272 - 1,303,223,272 - 1,303,223,272

Certificates of deposit 24 754,428,162 - 754,428,162 - 754,428,162

Perpetual subordinated convertible loan  26 157,156,875 - 157,156,875 - 157,156,875 

  21,169,985,468 - 21,078,251,601 - 21,078,251,601

Fair Value

Fair Value
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The summary of the Group’s classification of each class of assets and liabilities and their fair values are as follows:

Assets measured at:

Fair value through profit or loss

Lebanese government bonds 8 317,528,478 - 317,528,478 - 317,528,478 

Certificates of deposit issued by 

the Central Bank of Lebanon 8 173,440,400 - 173,440,400 - 173,440,400  

Debt securities issued by banks 8 31,118,857 31,117,862 - 995 31,118,857 

Debt securities issued by companies 8 61,974,507 31,447,326 30,527,181 - 61,974,507  

Credit linked notes issued by banks  8 29,485,146 - 29,485,146 - 29,485,146 

Other foreign government bonds  8 12,961 12,961 - - 12,961 

Quoted equity securities  8 783,124 783,124 - - 783,124 

Unquoted equity securities  8 22,970,932 - 20,302,667 2,668,265 22,970,932 

  637,314,405 63,361,273 571,283,872 2,669,260  637,314,405 

Fair value through other  comprehensive income

Quoted equity securities 12 280,954,634 280,954,634 - - 280,954,634  

Unquoted equity securities  12 63,241,139 - 12,611,951 50,629,188 63,241,139 

Cumulative preferred shares

issued by a Lebanese bank  12 7,537,500 - - 7,537,500 7,537,500 

Non-cumulative preferred shares

issued by Lebanese banks 12 42,738,039 - 324,527 42,413,512 42,738,039 

  394,471,312 280,954,634 12,936,478 100,580,200  394,471,312 

Amortized cost

Deposits with central banks 6 4,168,212,444 - 4,301,532,100 - 4,301,532,100

Deposits with banks and

financial institutions 7 1,114,739,704 - 1,115,098,428 - 1,115,098,428 

Loans and advances to customers 10 7,408,844,872 - - 7,604,974,243 7,604,974,243

Loans and advances to related parties 11 339,940,947 - - 339,940,947 339,940,947

Lebanese government bonds 12 1,700,452,371 - 1,746,161,139 - 1,746,161,139

Certificates of deposit issued by the

Central Bank of Lebanon 12 5,205,603,850 - 5,431,933,852 - 5,431,933,852 

Certificates of deposit issued by banks 12 22,653,507 - 22,653,507 - 22,653,507

Debt securities issued by banks 12 119,481,854 - 119,153,344 - 119,153,344 

Debt securities issued by companies 12 46,086,208 - 45,890,014 - 45,890,014

Other foreign government bonds 12 414,661,113 358,384,783 39,263,539 - 397,648,322

Assets acquired in satisfaction of loans 15 432,517,290 - 826,921,211 - 826,921,211

  20,973,194,160 358,384,783 13,648,607,134 7,944,915,190 21,951,907,107

December 31, 2015

LBP’000 LBP’000

Notes Level 2Level 1 Level 3
Carrying
Amount Total

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

December 31, 2015

LBP’000 LBP’000

Notes Level 2Level 1 Level 3
Carrying
Amount Total

LBP’000 LBP’000 LBP’000

Liabilities measured at:

Fair value through profit or loss

Customers’ deposits at fair value

through profit or loss 20 29,865,037 29,865,037 - -  29,865,037 

  29,865,037 29,865,037 - -  29,865,037 

Amortized cost

Deposits from banks and

financial institutions 19 581,104,178 - 582,754,803 - 582,754,803

Customers’ deposits at amortized cost 21 17,541,707,971 - 17,467,479,821 - 17,467,479,821

Related parties’ deposits at

amortized cost 22 632,054,261 - 631,996,717 - 631,996,717

Borrowings from banks

and financial institutions

and central banks 23 862,747,499 - 862,747,499 - 862,747,499

Certificates of deposit 24 753,244,239 - 767,716,239 - 767,716,239

Perpetual subordinated convertible loan  26 152,189,353 - 152,189,353 - 152,189,353 

  20,523,047,501 - 20,462,448,801 -  20,462,448,801 

Assets and liabilities carried at fair value using a valuation technique with significant observable 
inputs (Level 2)

Government bonds, certificates of deposits and other debt instruments
The Group values these unquoted debt securities using discounted cash flow valuation models where the lowest level 
input that is significant to the entire measurement is observable in an active market. These inputs include assumptions 
regarding current rates of interest, commodity prices, implied volatilities, and credit spreads. 

Assets and liabilities carried at fair value using a valuation technique with significant unobservable 
inputs (Level 3)

Equity shares of non-listed entities / preferred shares of local banks
The Group’s strategic investments are generally classified at fair value through other comprehensive income and are not 
traded in active markets. These are investments in private entities, for which there is no or only limited sufficient recent 
information to determine fair value.  The Group determined that cost adjusted to reflect the investee’s financial position 
and results since initial recognition represents the best estimate of fair value. 

Fair Value Fair Value
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Assets and liabilities for which fair value is disclosed using a valuation technique with significant 
observable inputs (Level 2) and / or significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or have a short term maturity (less than three months), the 
Group assumed that the carrying values approximate the fair values. This assumption is also applied to demand deposits 
which have no specific maturity and financial instruments with variable rates.

Deposits with banks and loans to banks
For the purpose of this disclosure there is minimal difference between fair value and carrying amount of these financial 
assets as they are short-term in nature or have interest rates that re-price frequently. The fair value of deposits with longer 
maturities are estimated using discounted cash flows applying market rates for counterparties with similar credit quality.

Government bonds, certificates of deposits and other debt securities
The Group values these unquoted debt securities using discounted cash flow valuation models where the lowest level 
input that is significant to the entire measurement is observable in an active market. These inputs include assumptions 
regarding current rates of interest and credit spreads. 

Loans and advances to customers
For the purpose of this disclosure, fair value of loans and advances to customers is estimated using discounted cash flows 
by applying current rates for new loans with similar remaining maturities and to counterparties with similar credit quality.

Deposits from banks and customers
In many cases, the fair value disclosed approximates carrying value because these financial liabilities are short-term in 
nature or have interest rates that re-price frequently. The fair value for deposits with long-term maturities, such as time 
deposits, are estimated using discounted cash flows, applying either market rates or current rates for deposits of similar 
remaining maturities.

Debt issued and other borrowed funds
Fair values are determined using discounted cash flows valuation models where the inputs used are estimated by 
comparison with quoted prices in an active market for similar instruments.

There have been no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the period.

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016 were approved by the Board of Directors in its meeting 
held on May 24, 2017.
 

51.  APPROVAL  OF  THE  FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS
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8 -  C O R P O R A T E  D I R E C T O R Y 
  &  C O R R E S P O N D E N T  B A N K S

Main Branch

Local Branches

Region I  

CLEMENCEAU   
Bankmed Center, 482 Clemenceau Street   
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 373937
Call Center: 1270

ALEY 
Anwar David Labib Shehayeb Bldg., Aley Main Road 
Tel. & Fax: (961-5) 558111, 558012/3/4; (961-71) 160100

BAKAATA 
Fatayri Bldg., Jdeidet El-Shouf, Bakaata District 
Tel. & Fax: (961-5) 501888, 501861/2/3; (961-3) 760808

BEIRUT SOUKS 
Jewelry Souk, Weygand Street, Ibn Iraq Square, Beirut Souks
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 992062/3/4

FOSH 
Fosh Street, Beirut Central District
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 976444, 999113; (961-3)  922296, 010788

KHALDE 
Salem Center, Khalde Main Road
Tel. & Fax: (961-5) 800703/4/5/6; (961-3) 760004 

Region II 

MAZRAA 
Etoile 2000 Center, Corniche El-Mazraa
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 818166/7/8, 819197/8; (961-3) 760017

PHOENICIA 
Phoenix Tower, Ain El-Mreisseh
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 369069, 366181; (961-3) 762728

RAOUCHE-AUSTRALIA STREET 
Standalone annex of Amaret Al-Raouche Bldg., Australia Street
Tel & Fax: (961-1) 788088, 792351/2/3 ;  (961-81) 787797

Saifi 
Saifi Village II, Intersection of Gouraud-Damascus Street, Saifi
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 974975, 983533, 983688; (961- 76) 095950

AIRPORT
MEA Premises
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 629360/1/2; (961-3) 760026

BARBIR 
Chehab Bldg., Intersection of Jamal AbdulNasser Mosque, Corniche El-Mazraa 
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 703320, 307223, 307348; (961-3) 094805

BLISS 
Bliss Street, Ras Beirut 
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 364716, 364719, 364721, 377334; (961-70) 665300

CHIAH 
Al-Tayyar Bldg., Ministry of Labor Street, Msharrafieh Blvd. Chiah
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 551999, 552999, 554999; (961-3) 794945

HAMRA 
Al Nahar Bldg., Banque Du Liban Street
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 344677, 353146/7/8/9; (961-3) 760007

HAZMIEH 
Tufenkjian Center, Brazilia Street
Tel. & Fax: (961-5) 450186/7, 452649, 452634; (961-3) 652402

JNAH 
Karly Bldg., Nkoula Sursok Street, Jnah
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 853444/5/6/7; (961-3) 760020
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KORAYTEM 
Reda Mroue Bldg., Mme. Curie Street
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 780780, 803160/1/2; (961-3) 760064

MAKDESSI 
Diab Bldg., Makdessi Street, Ras Beirut
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 346934, 344395, 345146, 346323; (961-3) 288357

MSAITBE 
Al-Hana Bldg., Mar Elias Street
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 819202, 314655, 314658, 314678; (961-3) 760011

NOUEIRY 
Ghandour Bldg., Ouzai Street, Noueiry  
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 649777, 660937/48/72; (961-81) 768276, 747372 

BEIRUT-RAFIK HARIRI INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 
Rafik Hariri International Airport-Beirut
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 628828, 628622/3/4; (961-71) 171151

RAOUCHE 
Salah Shamma Bldg., Shouran Street
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 862696, 808563, 808610/1; (961-3) 760002

SASSINE
Ground Floor - El-Hayek Bldg.,  Istiklal Street, Elias Sarkis Avenue, Ashrafieh - Sassine
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 335599, 219830, 219831, 219832

SODECO 
Sodeco Square, Sodeco 
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 611444, 397762, 397801, 397855, 397879; (961-3) 760027

SPEARS
Ground Floor - Nsouli Bldg., Spears Street
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 345577, (961-1) 743081/2/3

TARIK JDIDEH 
Al-Jundi Bldg., Al-Boustani Street, Malaab Baladi Square
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 303444, 304861/3, 304871; (961-3) 035251

VERDUN 
Al-Shuaa Bldg., Rashid Karame Avenue
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 866925/6/7/8/9; (961-3) 760063

ZARIF 
Kaaki Center, Al-Jazaer Street, Zarif Area, Beirut   
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 361802/7/9/12; (961-3) 094724

Region III  

Region IV 

ASHRAFIEH 
Hadife Bldg., Charles Malek Avenue
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 200135/6/7/8/9/40; (961-3) 760001

BURJ HAMMOUD 
Gold & Jewelry Trade Center, 52 Abboud Street 
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 244000, 242608/9/10; (961-3) 760065

DORA 
Banking Center Bldg., Dora Highway
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 257958/60/61, 240990; (961-3) 095098

JAL EL-DIB 
Abi Khalil Bldg., Jal El-Dib Highway
Tel. & Fax: (961-4) 711222, 718645/6/7; (961-3) 760010

BROUMANA 
Rizk Plaza, Broumana Main Road
Tel. & Fax: (961-4) 860995/6/7/9; (961-3) 760023

DEKWANEH 
Ground Floor - K-Tower Bldg., Al-Arid Street
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 494129/32/37/38

ELISSAR 
Gerges Aoun Bldg., Bekfaya Main Road, Elissar, Mazraat Yashouh
Tel. & Fax: (961-4) 922199, 911327, 911534, 911573; (961-70) 445455

FURN EL-CHEBBAK
Atallah Freij Bldg., Damascus Road
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 291618/9/21, 292076; (961-3) 760009

GHAZIR 
Center Ghazir 3522, Main Road, Ghazir Highway 
Tel. & Fax: (961-9) 856688, 853332/4/6; (961-3) 384383
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JDEIDEH 
Zainoun & Saab Bldg., Nahr El-Maout
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 892055/9, 891566, 879209; (961-3) 760006

JOUNIEH 
Assaf Building, Facing Fouad Chehab Stadium, Haret Sakr, Jounieh
Tel. & Fax: (961-9) 645745, 835480, (961-76) 983963

MANSOURIEH 
Latifa Center, New Highway, Mansourieh Main Road
Tel. & Fax: (961-4) 534174/5, 531956; (961-3) 099133

SIN EL-FIL 
Mashakah Bldg., Saint Rita Street, Sin El-Fil
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 482666, 492733/6; (961-3) 099144

ZALKA 
Breezvale Center, Zalka Main Road
Tel. & Fax: (961-1) 884570/1/2, 884569; (961-3) 760021

ZOUK MIKAYEL 
Abi Chaker Bldg., Zouk Main Road
Tel. & Fax: (961-9) 211116, 211073/5/6; (961-3) 760003

ZOUK MOSBEH 
El Centro Bldg., Al-Masayef Main Road, Zouk Mosbeh 
Tel. & Fax: (961-9) 219632, 218631/2/4; (961-70) 480853

Region V 

AL MINA 
Jabado Bldg., Al-Bawaba Street, Al-Shiraa Square, Tripoli
Tel. & Fax: (961-6) 226700/1/2/3/4; (961-70) 867726

DAHER EL-AIN 
Al-Ghanem Bldg., Tripoli-Koura Main Road, Daher El-Ain
Tel. & Fax: (961-6) 418061, 418096, 418062; (961-76) 886556

HALBA 
Abdallah Bldg., Main Road, Halba
Tel & Fax: (961-6) 694871/2/3; (961-70) 445005

JBEIL 
Cordahi & Matta Center, Jbeil 
Tel. & Fax: (961-9) 540195, 546542/3; (961-3) 760014

Region VI 

SAIDA 
Riad Chehab Bldg., Riad Solh Street
Tel. & Fax: (961-7) 721788, 735119/21; (961-3) 760012

SAIDA EASTERN BOULEVARD 
Al Misbah Bldg., Jezzine Street, Saida
Tel. & Fax: (961-7) 725212, 728744; (961-3) 094868 

SHEHIM 
Toufic Owaidat Bldg., Shreifeh District, Shehim 
Tel. & Fax: (961-7) 241005/6/7; (961-3) 094873  

WASTANI 
Bankmed Bldg., Dr. Nazih Bizri Blvd., Al-Wastani Roundabout
Tel. & Fax: (961-7) 750362/3/4; (961-70) 867789

MAJDELYOUN 
Bankmed Bldg., Jezzine Main Road, before Zaydanieh Junction, Majdelyoun
Tel. & Fax: (961-7) 727102/3 

KFARSAROUN 
Shammas Bldg., Cedars Street
Tel. & Fax: (961-6) 950988, 950957, 952098; (961-3) 099122

MERYATA 
Ghourani-Abdelrahman Bldg., Ardeh Main Road, Meryata
Tel. & Fax:  (961-6) 255254, 255442, (961-3) 996922

MINIEH 
Zreika Bldg., International Highway, Minieh
Tel. & Fax: (961-6) 464901/2/3/4; (961-70) 480823

TRIPOLI 
Al-Hana Bldg., Jemmayzat Street
Tel. & Fax: (961-6) 440443/7, 442093; (961-3) 760013



223222 BANKMED'S 2016 ANNUAL REPORT CORPORATE DIRECTORY & CORRESPONDENT BANKS

Region VIII  

TYRE 
Saab & Fardoun Bldg., Banque Du Liban Street
Tel. & Fax: (961-7) 351251, 351151/2; (961-3) 332243

NABATIEH 
Daher Center, Al Bayad Quarter, Nabatieh Main Road
Tel. & Fax: (961-7) 767936/7/8/9; (961-71) 177187

SINEEK 
Bankmed Bldg., Blvd. Maarouf Saad
Tel. & Fax: (961-7) 728451/2/7,728521; (961-70) 867716

DAWHET SOUR 
Ghandour Bldg., Bus Main Road, Kana Junction, Borj El-Chemaly
Tel. & Fax: (961-7) 348248 , 351481/2/3

Region VII 

Med E-Branch

CHTAURA 
Al-Jinan Bldg., Chtaura Main Road
Tel. & Fax: (961-8) 542491, 542670, 543145/6/7; (961-3) 760019

ZAHLE 
Rashid Salim Khoury Bldg., Hoshe Zaraina Blvd.
Tel. & Fax: (961-8) 802487, 805777, 812389, 810194, 818500; (961-3) 760015

JIB JINNINE 
Al-Hana Bldg., Jib Jinnine, West Bekaa
Tel. & Fax: (961-8) 661503/4/5/6; (961-3) 760025

KAB ELIAS – CASCADA MALL
Ground Floor – Cascada Mall, Kab Elias, Bekaa
Tel. & Fax: (961-8) 512712, 514269, 514279 / (961-3) 021022

TABARIS
Bankmed Bldg., Ground Floor, Tabaris
Tel: (961 -1) 213800 Ext: 22102

Cyprus

Iraq

United Arab Emirates

International Branches

LIMASSOL
9 Constantinou Paparigopoulou Street, Frema House, CY-3106 Limassol, Cyprus
P.O.Box 54232, CY-3722 Limassol, Cyprus
Tel: (357) 25817152/3, 25817157, 25817178
Mobile: (357) 99 642352
Fax: (357) 25372711

BAGHDAD
Sabeh Kousour Street Bankmed Bldg., Al Karrada, Sharkiah, Baghdad, Iraq
Tel: (964) 7704849773/4-78091748862/3
Mobile: (964) 7821001402

BASRA
July 14th Crossing, Saadi Street Basra, Iraq
Tel: (964) 7809289761/2/3/4 - (964) 7809260009
Mobile: (964) 7714969669

ERBIL
Bakhtiari Street Bankmed Bldg., Bakhtiari Area, Erbil, Iraq
Tel. (964) 662101930/40/50/60 - 7508114443/6/7/8/9
Mobile: (964) 7505964141

BANKMED - DUBAI INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL CENTER
Currency House, Tower 2
Level 28, Unit 2801
P.O. Box: 506933-DIFC
Dubai, UAE
Tel: (971-4) 3889808 
Fax: (971-4) 3889809

MEDSECURITIES INVESTMENT - DUBAI INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL CENTER
Al-Fattan Currency House, Tower 2 
Level 28, Unit 2804
P.O. Box: 506943-DIFC
Dubai, UAE 
Tel: (971-4) 388 9099  
Fax: (971-4) 388 7533
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Subsidiaries

Saudi Lebanese Bank s.a.l.

1st Floor 131 Marfaa
Foch Street, Beirut Central District
Beirut, Lebanon
Tel: (961-1) 976333

MedInvestment Bank s.a.l.

Bankmed Center 
482 Clemenceau Street
P.O. Box: 11-348, Riad El-Solh
Beirut, Lebanon
Tel: (961-1) 373937

MedProperties Management s.a.l.

Al-Shua’a Bldg.
Bashir Al-Kassar Street, Verdun
Beirut, Lebanon
Tel: (961-1) 868864

SaudiMed Investment Company (SaudiMed)

Suite 1104, Futuro Tower
King Saud Road (previously known as Al-Ma’ather Road)
P.O. Box 63851, Riyadh 11526
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Tel: (966) 920 000 371
Fax: (966) 920 000 372
www.saudimed.com.sa

GroupMed Insurance Brokers - Lebanon s.a.l.

4th Floor, 131 Marfaa
Foch Street, Beirut Central District
P.O. Box: 11-1082 Riad El Solh
Beirut, Lebanon
Tel: (961-1) 999433
Fax: (961-1) 998129

BankMed Suisse s.a.

Rue du Mont-Blanc 3
P.O. Box 1523
1201 Geneva, Switzerland
Tel: (41-22) 90 60 606
www.bankmed.ch

MedSecurities Investment s.a.l.

Bankmed Center
482 Clemenceau Street
P.O. Box: 11-348, Riad El-Solh
Beirut, Lebanon
Tel: (961-1) 371333
www.medsecurities.com

Continental Trust Insurance and Reinsurance s.a.l.

3rd  Floor, 131 Marfaa
Foch Street, Beirut Central District
P.O. Box: 11-7695 Riad El Solh
Beirut, Lebanon
Tel: (961-1) 999250
Fax: (961-1) 999251

EMKAN Finance s.a.l.

5th Floor, Sadat Tower
Sadat Street, Hamra
P.O. Box 11-1350, Riad El-Solh
Beirut, Lebanon
Tel: (961-1) 814900
www.emkanfinance.com

Turkland Sigorta Anonim Şirketi (T-Sigorta)

Büyükdere Caddesi
Özsezen Is Merkezi No.124/B, Kat: 11
34394 Esentepe
Istanbul, Turkey
Tel: (90-212) 2886844
Fax: (90-212) 2172300
http://www.turklandsigorta.com.tr/

GroupMed Insurance and Reinsurance Brokers 
(Europe) Limited (GMIRB Europe)

65 Crutched Friars, Friary Court 
London, EC3N 2AE 
United Kingdom

Turkland Bank Anonim Şirketi (T-Bank)

19 Mayis Cad. Sisli Plaza
Block A No:7 Sisli 34360
Istanbul, Turkey
Tel: (90-212) 3683434
Fax: (90-212) 3683535
www.turklandbank.com

GMIRB 
GroupMed Insurance and Reinsurance Brokers ( Europe ) Ltd. 

Europe

T - S I G O R T A
T U R K L A N D  S I G O R T A
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Correspondent Banks

AUSTRIA UniCredit Bank Austria AG 

BAHRAIN Bank ABC 

BELGIUM ING Belgium SA/NV * 
 KBC Bank NV 

CANADA Bank Of Montreal * 

CHINA Bank of China Limited 
  Standard Chartered Bank (China) Limited * 

DENMARK Danske Bank A/S * 

FRANCE Natixis SA *  
  Union de Banques Arabes et Françaises - U.B.A.F. 

GERMANY Commerzbank AG * 
  Deutsche Bank AG * 
  UniCredit Bank AG * 

ITALY Banca UBAE SpA 
  Intesa SanPaolo SpA * 
  UniCredit SpA 

JAPAN The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ Ltd. * 
  Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation 

JORDAN Arab Bank plc * 
  The Housing Bank for Trade & Finance * 

KUWAIT Gulf Bank KSCP * 
  National Bank of Kuwait SAKP 

NORWAY DNB Bank ASA * 

OMAN BankMuscat SAOG 

COUNTRY CORRESPONDENT BANK COUNTRY CORRESPONDENT BANK

QATAR Qatar National Bank SAQ * 
  Doha Bank 

SAUDI ARABIA Alawwal Bank * 
  Banque Saudi Fransi * 
  Riyad Bank * 
  The National Commercial Bank * 
  The Saudi Investment Bank * 

SOUTH AFRICA The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited * 

SPAIN Banco de Sabadell SA * 
  CaixaBank SA 

SWEDEN Svenska Handelsbanken AB (Publ) * 

SWITZERLAND BankMed (Suisse) SA * 
  Credit Suisse (Switzerland) Ltd. * 
  Zürcher Kantonalbank * 

TURKEY Turkland Bank AS * 

UAE Emirates NBD PJSC 
  MashreqBank PSC * 

UNITED KINGDOM JPMorgan Chase Bank National Association * 

UNITED STATES The Bank of New York Mellon * 
  Citibank NA * 
  JPMorgan Chase Bank National Association * 
  Standard Chartered Bank * 

* Bankmed maintains NOSTRO account(s) with those Banks.  




